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PREFACE

This dissertation primerily concerns the influence of the two
great monopoly companies of the Pacific North West upon their governments
in the conventions of 1824 and 1825, However, the course of study led the
author to undertake a general description of the fur trade of the Pacific
North West, and a broad treatment of the negotiations arising from the
Imperial ukase of 1821, Important elements in the discussions had not
previously been examined‘together, and there wes a need to recast super-
ficial explanations of Russia's position in her negotiations with Great

Britain.

It mst be added that the Alasks boundary dispufé of 1903, which
collected so much primary material, did not in itself induce the author
to study its progenitor. The dispute sprang from a confusion over the
usage of tverms, and from an ignorance of geography; it was settied by
the influence of power; and a restoration of the historicsl framework

does not clarify the issue.

In this study I have received generous assistance from the John W,
Dafoe Foundation Fellowship and the Bwart Memorisl Fund. The Hudson's Bay
Company kindly permitted me access to their micro-filmed archives. My
thanks are extended to Miss lMargaret MacKenzie of the Elizabeth Dafoe
- Library, and to Rosalind C. Anderson, &nd to Professor . L. Morton for

his inspiration and counsel.
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INTRODUCTION

The Anglo~Russian Treaty of 1825, which is the subject of this
Anquiry, has been regarded as but one phase in the Anglo-American struggle
for the North American Continént.l However, the two commercial institutions
involved, the Hudson's Bay Company and the Russian American Company, exerted
a major influence on the diplomatic negotiations. Nor can one overlook
Russian dreams of an American empire, or the Pacific commerce from which
those ambitions arose.

It was the perseverance of Vitus Behring in the 1720's and 30's
that introduced Russian vessels to the Pacific Ocean. In 1741 Capt.
Chirikov made landfall on the American coast at 55°. In the following
decades Siberian merchants began to reach out from the ports of Petro-
pavlovsk and COkhotsk, to seek furs on the neighbouring groups of islands.
From 1742 to 1765 no fewer than thirty-five voyeges were made by private
Russian traders.2 By the 1790's, a few companies of considerable size had
emerged to doﬁinate this trade, and in the process had extended their
operations along the Aleutian Islands and the Alaska coast. The largest
of these rivals, the Shelikhov-Golikov Company and the Mylnikov Company

united in 1797 to form the basis of the Russian American Company, created

by decree of 1799, with a monopoly of the trade in the North Pacific.3

1 . .
S. R. Tompkins, "Drawing the Alaska Boundary", Canadian Historical

Review, Vol, XXVI, No. 1, (March, 1945), p. 23.

28. R. Tompkins and Maxl. Moorhead, "Russia's Approach to Americal,
British Columbia Historical Quarterly, Vol. XIII, 1949, p. 66.

3s. . Okun, The Russian American Comoanv, (Combridge, Mass.:
Harvard University Press, 1951), p. 38,




- The first European power on the Pacific was, of course, Spain.
Her empire did not produce bustling competitive enterprise, but it over-
shadowed all others in its government-supported expeditions of discovery.
Reports of the Hussian voyages in the North Pacific inspired a series of
expeditions north from California between 1774 and 1‘790.l Spain charted
most of the west coast of North America up to the Russian settlements in
the Gulf of Alaska. However, when her authority chanced to clash with
Great Britain over the Nootka affair, Spain's influence in Europe was
approaching total eclipse. With the Nootka treaty and the later one
negotiated between John Quincy Adams and Don Luis de Onis y Gonzales in
1819, Spain's pretensions on the Pacific were amputated at 42°.

Bngland's renowned seamanship was never better proved than by the

exploits of her navigators in the Pacific in the 18th century. Only two

large-scale expeditions were dispatched to the North Pacific coast, those
of Cook and Vancouver, but their accurate description of the long and tor-

tuous coastline, added much to the weight of British claims in the area.
Captain.Cook's voyage contributed further to British interests in the area
when his sailors happened to discover the high economic value of the sea
otter.2 This induced the South Sea Company and several other English
concerns to begin extensive trading along the coasts in the late 1780's
and early 90'8.3 The great wars in Europe soon mobilized all available

vessels and left this field clear for the adventurous skippers from New

Loompking and Moorhead, loc. cit., p. 255.

2T. A. Rickard, "The Sea Otter in History", British Columbia
Historical Quarterly, Vol. XI, (1947), p. 15.

3Ibid., pp. 26-27. Rickard gave a list of the English traders who
appeared on the coast following the publication of Cook's journals in 1784,
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England. These men found that a few hundred dollers of scrap iron, roughly
manufactured into weapons and utensils for the natives on the north-west
coast, brought in furs worth thousands of dollars in Chinese goods at
Canton.l

In Russian America, the newly formed monopoly, under the governor-
ship of a shrewd and determined Siberian merchant Alexander Baranov, began
to push its hunting operations southeast along the Alexander Archipelago.
These culminated with the establishment of Novo Arkhangelsk of Sitka
(henceforth referred to as Sitka) in 1805.2

However, the fierce native tribes in the area were already accus-
tomed to trading for Americen arms and goods. The Russians sold their
fur to the Chinese through the only port of entry permitted by the Emperor,
a small border tovm in Northern Mongolia by the name of Kiakhta. The
Anerican traders made use of the Russian exclusion from the great Chinese
port of Canton to monopolize Pacific commerce during the Napoleonic wars.

Because they suffered acutely from periodic shortages of supplies,
the remote Russian Pacific settlements grew to depend upon buying goods
from Yankee skippers. In an unsuccessful attempt to escape from this
unprofitable necessity, Governor Baranov dispatched an expedition to
found an agricultural colony in California and later attempted to win

control of the northern Hawaiian Islands. With the combined Russian and

17, A. Rickard, "The Use of Iron and Copper by the Indians of
British Columbia", British Columbia Historical Quarterly, Vol. ITT, (1939),
pp' 30"'35.

2S. R. Tompkins, "After Behring: Mapping the Pacific", British
Columbia Historical Quarterly, Vol. XIX, (1955), p. 6. Tompkins observed
that, faced with the foreign competition, Baranov extended his operations
down the coast, and in 1799 established a post named St. Michael six miles
north of the present site of Sitka. This was captured by the Koloshi in
1800, regained by Baranov in 1804, and rebuilt on its present site in 1805.
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American assault on the fur resources of the north-west coast, the quantity
of the skins began to fall off rapidly from 1815 on. This led to Tsar
Alexander's famous ukase of 1821 prohibiting foreign commerce on the coast

north of 51° N. Latitude.

Mbanwhilé in the interior of British North America, the Hudson's
Bay‘Company and the North West Company entered on thé bitter final decade
of their competitive struggle. The North West Company was in complete
control of the fur trade west of the Rocky Mountains, with the exception

of Astor's attempt to exploit the Columbia. The East India Company had a

monopoly on imperial trade to Canton and had no interest in the market
there for fur from the north-west coast.l The Nor'Westers could not help
being attracted by the profitsble trade at Canton, and so were forced to :-
operate through private American intermediaries who took roughly half the
proceeds. The expanded Hudson's Bay Company inherited this arrangement,
saw 1ts impracticality, and atﬁempted unsuceessfully fo arrange a pro-
fitsble agreement with the staid East India Company. As a result, despite
the visions of a developed genersl trade in the Pacific held by Governor
George Simpson, the Hudson's Bey Company could rot begin to match the

profits of the American freebooters, following their path of gold from

South America and the north-west coast to Hawsii and China.2

lEvidence of Charles Grant in the Third Report from the Select
Committee Appointed to consider of the means of improving and maintaining
the Foreign Trade of the Country, (1821), p. 321. Grant said of the fur
trade to China, "I believe the importance of the fur trade has been very
much mistaken; it is not important, never has been, nor is now a trade of
any importance." Neither the Hudson's Bay Company, the American traders
nor the Russian American Company, would have agreed with Grant.

K. W. Porter, John Jacob Astor: Business Man, Vol. 2, (Cambridge:
Harvard University Press, 1931), pp. 662-665. Porter described the trading
pattern of the American vessels in the Pacific.
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This did not mean that the directors of the Hudson's Bay Company
were blind to territorial advantage on the north-west coast of the Pacific,
During the negotiations résulting from the Russian ukase of 1821 they made
the case for their advantage quite clear to the Foreign Office, as did the
directors of the Russian American Company on the other side, though with
different results.

In the end the negotiations concerning rearrangement of influence
in the north Pacific were overshadowed by the effect of the rash of
European revolutions on Tsar Alexander's Holy Alliance. For St. Peters—
burg, the Balkans and the Black Sea were always of more importance than
the Pacific Ocean. Yet the final treaty was not, as it has been portrayed,
a defeat for Russia. The victory belonged to John Quincy Adams of the
United States, and the defeat to George Canning of England. Canning had
& myriad of diplomatic entanglements to unravel as he withdrew his country
from Europe, nor could he éfford to alienate the United States. This state
of affairs, added to several misconceptions and minor blunders by the
Foreign Office, heightened by a general ignorance of the geography in~
volved, produced the final Anglo-Russian treaty, whose delayed explosion

at the beginning of the twentieth century caused such distress to Canada.

e e S
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CHAPTER ONE

THE HUDSON'S BAY CQOMPANY: POST UNION REORGANIZATION
AND PACIFIC COAST POLICY

By February, 1822, word of the Russian ukaze had been received in
Fenchurch Street and the matter duly considered. The Governor and Committee
wrote to Governor Simpson, ordering him to extend the company's establish-
ment as far to the north and west in New Caledonia as might be both prac-
ticable and profitable. They planned thereby to secure as much territory
as they could to protect themselves against Russian encroachment, and
hoped that their claims would receive the full support of the British
government.l

This was easier said than done. The Hudson's Bay Company had ex~
perienced a decade of the most bitter competition, from which it was for-
tunate to emerge a going enterprise. Alexander Colvile doubted at times
in 1820 that the company could keep solvent until the North West partners!
agreement expired, two years la.ter.2 Within the new company ill feeling
was aroused by Simon McGillivray, a representative of the old Montreal
interests, who attempted to wield his influence at the irregular council
at Fort William in 1821 to settle scores with his old enemies.3 This was
partly corrected at the subsequent meeting at Norway House, at which the

Chief Factors and the new Governor of the northern department combined in

lHudson?s Bay Archives [hereafter cited as H.B.A;], Reel 40,

A6/20, Governor and Committee to George Simpson, February 27, 1822,

°E. E. Rich, The History of the Hudson's Bay Company, 1670-1870,
(London: The Hudson's Bay Record Society, 1959), II, p. 395.

3Tpid., p. 412.




support of Nicholas Garry to reduce the influence of McGillivray.l But
if the old three-cornered factional strife among the Hudson's Bay Company,
the North West Company agents and their wintering partners died quickly

after the union, the personal animosities remained alive for many years.

Owing to this ill feeling, the leadership of the reorganized

company had to be changed. Williem Williams, governor of the northern
department, who had made himself unacceptable to most of the new partner52

by his partisan role in the conflict with the North West Company, agreed

to transfer his jurisdiction to the southern department. The immense and

vital northern department was put under the control of the inexperienced
but aggressive George Simpson.

On the other hand, the united company was now free of competition
over most of the vast extent of its domains. The government, relieved by
the merger, had rewarded it.with the right of exclusive trade west of the
Rocky Mountains. The London stockholders of the company, whose faith had
not been shaken by the years of trial, were now justifiably confident of
the future, despiﬁe the distant rumblings of Russian expansion in the

north-western corner of the continent.

i. The company possessed three truly 'frontier' departments in the
north-west: the Mackenzie, the Columbia and New Caledonia, all of which
were ultimately concerned with the Russian claims. The instructions men-

tioned above, issued on February 27th, 1822 to extend trade "to the west

1Ibid.; see also Minutes of the Council Northern Department of
Rupert's Land, 1821-31, ed. R. H. Fleming. Introduction by H. A. Innis
(Toronto: The Champlain Society, 1940), p. xvi. [Hereafter cited as
H.B.S., IIT].

Rich, op. cit., p. 4lk.
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and north from Fraser's River in Caledonia', were concerned only with New
Caledonia, and there the company's plans were handicapped by a number of
limitations peculiar to the region and its inhabitants.

The coastal range formed an insurmountable barrier to the ocean,
while the canyons of the lower Fraser blocked the natural water route to
the coast. The Selkirk and Rocky Mountains isolated the department from
the prairies to the eastward and necessitated that supplies be brought up
through the Peace Pass or by horse from the Columbia. The interior plateau

was carved by narrow valleys with rapid streams and long lakesl

of great
depth generally aligned on a north-south axis. Westward penetration was
made more difficult by the fact that in more than 1,000 miles of coast
line from the mouth of the Columbis to the latitude of Sitka, only four
navigable rivers fall into the Pacific: +the Fraser, Skeena, Nass and
Stikine., The headwaters of the Skeena aﬁd Nass were removed from:the
centre of operations in New Caledonia at Fort St. James on Stuart Lake,
and the country in between was extremely rugged. When Fort Kilmeurs was
established on Lake Babine in 1822, one final obstacle remained to prevent
descent to the ocean: this was the Indian.

Daniel Harmon, from his long experience in New Caledonia, judged
the Beaver and Sekani to be a quiet and inoffensive people, and the

2
Carriers a docile tribe, albeit prone to take murder lightly. The Jour~

nals of John Stuart, William Brown, and William Connolly substantiate

lw. G. Kendrew and D. Kerr, The Climate of British Columbia and

the Yukon Territory, (Obttawa: Queen's Printer, 1955), p. 3.

“Sixteen Years in the Indian Country: The Journal of Daniel
Harmon 1800-1816, ed, W. Kaye Lamb (Toronto: Macmillan, 19577, pp. 123
and 130.




Harmon's observations. vThey DYOVE thaf the Indians of New Caledonia were
usually afraid to attack the white men. But they also indicate that mur-
der snd skirmishes among the natives themselves, which often presented the
same barrier to trade, were too common to be noteworthy.

The Indisns closer to the coast were still less amenable. These
tribes, such as the Atenas described by Hamnon,l and the trading Nahannies
by Samuel Black,2 appear to have been stronger, more aggressive and better
armed than the tribes of the interior of the district. They were deter-
mined to maintain their own monopoly of the fur trade by preventing coastal
traders from reaching inland, or the Hudson's Bay men from reaching towards
the coast.

Then there were the coastal tribes themselves, Ruled by an aristo-
cratic slave-owning nobility, well érmed and possessing magnificent war
canoes, they were formidable.enemies. The evidence of treachery and
" violence with which they had met the white man's attempts to profit from
them, was a grave reality to those trading along the coast from Fort George
to Sitka. The officers of New Caledonia had full reason to believe, as
John Stuart maintained,3 that they would be nudging a hornets' nest‘if

they attempted to establish themselves closer to the coa,st.[+

11pid., p. 240,

2Black's Rocky Mountain Journal, 182k, ed. E. E. Rich. Introduc-
tion by R. M. Patterson, (London: The Hudson's Bay Record Society, 1955),
p. lxxiv. [Hereafter cited as H.B.R.S., XVIII].

34.B.A., Reel 14223, B/188/6/1, John Stuart to William Brown,
November 29, 1822,

Rich, op. cit., IT, p. 609. Also Archibald McDonald, Peace
River, A Canoe Voyage from Hudson's Bay to the Pacific by the Labe Sir
George Simpson, ed. Malcolm McLeod, (Ottawa: J. Durle, 1872), p. 112,
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Possibly even more compelling opposition lay in the economic advan-—
tages of the native traders. William Brown, who bore brunt of their compe-
tition, stated they could obtain their goods at low prices from coastal
vessels for fur, and could successfully dispose of old and tattered European
goods to the upland Indians. They could work their own craft up river,
understand the language, needed no expensive provisions and could make use
of native customs of flattery and present—giving.l Another great advantage
which the native traders possessed was that when the salmon did not migrate
as far upstream as usual, hungry Indians were forced to bring their furs
down to them in exchange for their winter's food.2 Brown used these facts
to illustrate their danger to the whole Babine trade, and to argue for a
post at the forks of the Skeena. His superior, John Stuart, realized the
prohibitive expense involved in competing with such adversaries,

The New Caledonia or Columbia department in the early years of the
united company was little prepared for an aggressive campaign of expansion.
The fur trade in the Columbia from 1818-1822 was so unprofitable, and the
difficulties of operation so great, that there was a strong pressure on
the committee to sbandon the country altogether.3 The demoralization of

the personnel west of the mountains was a further serious weakness.h The

lH.B.A., Reel 11776, Bll/e/2, p. 20, William Brown, Babine Report
on District, 1826, April 15, 1826,

2 o orenq s .
H.B.A., Reel 1#15, B/11/a/1, William Brown, Babine Post Journals,

January lst, 1823,

3Fredrick Merk, Fur Trade and Empire. George Simpson's Journal,
(Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1931), p. 343; J. H. Pelly to the
Lords on the Committee of the Privy Council for Trade, February, 1838.

hFredrick Merk, Albert Gallatin and the Oregon Problem, (Combridge:
Harvard University Press, 1950), p. 3.
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company's prime concern was to reorganize the fur trade east of the moun-
tains. Though it also sought to increase its scant knowledge of the trans-
mountain country, the company was forced to leave the management of the
trade there to former Nor-Westers. Generally suspicious of the new regime
and uncertain of their own position, these men were poor vehicles for a
policy of expansion.

However, great reforms in the northern department were badly needed
if the company was to regain the financial resources which could support
expanded trade. For a decade business had been forgotten in the struggle
for victory. Both companies had taken on many more men than simple trade
required. Both had encouraged the Indians to adapt to conditions of com—
petitive trade, to demand easy credit, and high fur prices.2 This in
turn had led to reckless exhaustion of fur resources by the hunters.

The reform of these evils had to be undertaken at the same time
as the unsettling administrative process of remaking the two old insti-
tutions into one. The quantity of spirits imported was quickly reduced;
after 1826 no liguor was allowed north of Fort Cu.mberlancl,LP a hardship
on both officers and natives.5 This measure was undertaken apparently
less because of moral scruple, than because of the rise of the price of

6
spirits.  According to Father Morice it failed to keep New Caledonia dry.7

Irpid., p. 3. See also Rich, op. cit., IT, p. 469

| 24.B.A., Reel 3M42, DL/86, Governor Simpson to Governor and
Committee [hereafter cited as Gov. & Comm.], August 1, 1823,

3Rich, op. cit., II, p. 469. hrpid., p. 478.
54.8.S., ITT, p. lxi. ®Rich, op. cit., II, p. 476.

"Rev. A. G. Morice, The History of the Northern Interior of
British Columbia, (Toronto: Will Briggs, 190k), p. Llk.
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The decimation of beaver, especially in the Athabaska district,
led to the imposition of controls on summer hunting and the killing of
cubs, as well as the initiation of a quota system and complete withdrawal
from certain areas.l Of course this too caused unrest among the Indians.
Rich attributed the murder of Guy Hughes and his men in 1823 in the Peace
River district, to these restrictions.2

One of the spheres most obviously requiring the accountant's shears

was that of personnel. The number of men in the service was greatly reduced,

3

as was the number of dependents flourishing on the company's largess.
Though it was realized that men's wages and the price of neceésary goods
could not be put out of balance, the committee was determined to reduce
the wages of its non-commissioned employees. Eventually the Governor
reassured the Canadians that a drop in prices would neutralize the effect
of a cut in wages, and managed to reduce the salaries of the northern de-
partment by £4 to £5,000 in ZL825--26.L’r Here again the economies entailed
dislocation and unrest.

(ne of Simpson's dominant characteristics was a hard-headed
accountant's eye for details and figures. It was therefore natural for
him to discover that the ordering of excessive stocks of goods by field

officers was adding substantially to the company's capital expenditure.

ly.3.5., 11T, p. v,

2Rich, op. cit., II, pe 47he
3Ibid., p. 482.

ATbid., p. 483.
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Post managers were required to reduce their safety margins of supplies:L and
to forego the “extraordinary predilection for European provisions' which the
Governor found particularly in the Columbia department.2 He ordered that
the total number of employees there be reduced from 151 to 83, and the out-
fit sent inland be cut from 645 to 200 pieces.3

Governor Simpson realized as clearly as Harold Innis in this century,
that the key to his operaiions was transportation. He was certain that York
boats would prove to be much more economical vehicles than canoes. The
Canadians were thus required to adapt to this cumbersome craft.h Simpson
also studied the main routes in use to ascertain if new water or overland
detours could be found to save time and costs.5 The transportation of
goods to New Caledonia underwent considerable change in these years. The
summer of 1822 saw the last brigade to New Caledonia from Fort George by
the Columbisa route, overland from the Okanagan River to Fort Alexandria
and ento the Fraser. The next season the supplies came by cance from
Hudson's Bay via the Peace River, But Simpson proposed an alternative
supply‘route from Fort York to New Caledonia: one not using the Methye

Portage and the Peace River, but rather the Saskatchewan to Edmonton,

L1pid., p. 490.

2H.B.S., ITT, p. xxexiii;  also Merk, Fur Trade and Empire, p. 47.

3Ibid., p. xxxiv; also Merk, Fur Trade and Empire, p. 72. Simp-
son stated that "Everything appears to me on the Columbia in too extended
a scale except the trade."

bRich, op. cit., II, p. 487. By 1825 it was realized that York boats
were too slow to be able to make a return trip between York and Athsbaska in
one season, so part of the outfit continued to be carried in canoes.

5Ibid., p. 488; also Merk, Fur Trade and Empire [hereafter cited
FI&E[, pp. 349-50.
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overland to the Athabasca, and thence via the Yellowhead Pass to the waters
of the Fraser system. In the course of his visit to the Pacific coast in
1824-25, the Governor cast this plan aside in his enthusiasm for a supply
route up the Fraser River. However, at the council meeting in the summer
of 1825 it was decided that the 1826 outfit would go up the Columbia and
overland to Fort Alexandria and the Upper Fraser as in the days before the
union.

These alterations in the established pattern of trade were substan-
tial enough to dominate the concern of employees of all ranks. West of the
mountains, these economies and reforms were in large measure responsible for
preventing the desired expansion.

& further hindrance to efforts to extend the trade toward the coast
was the perennial shortage of moose hide or Yleather", (used by the natives
for clothing). Brown complained that the native traders had better quality
than he, and he repeatedly requested a supply of fine dressed moose skins.
Having just returned from a short visit to the Indian villages 'below!

Lake Babine in Jenuary, 1823, Brown noted that while the European goods
that reached them from the coast were of the coarsest quality, "Their
leather is what the people here speak of as being good and cheap".2
Obviously to compete the company needed this greatl& desired commodity.
Later that winter, when he received some skins from Fort St. James, Brown

commented that it would enable him to satisfy the Indians, who had been

1PRE, p. 76, footnotel33.

2H.B.A., Reel IMi5, B/11/a/1, William Brown, Babine Post Journals,
January 5, 1823,
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most annoying with tales of the fine leather they received from the coast.l
But in his spring report to Governor Simpson, Brown explained that the dis-
appointing returns of the Babine district were due largely to the shortage

of leather, it being one of the few things the Indians needed and could be

encouraged to go trapping for.2 In his district report for 1824-25 William
Connolly stressed the need for more supplies of leather if the good will of

3

the Indians was to be maintained. Brown declared ot the end of the
following summer, that the Indisns had been more turbulent then ever before,

chiefly because of the company's inability to supply them with the necessary

skins.‘)+ To this Connolly replied rather testily that Brown had received

over half the leather for the whole department and that Indian unrest had
not been reported in the remaining areas.5 However, the next month, in & |
letter to McLoughlin, he admitted that for the last two years he had been § 
unable to get any feasonable supply of leather, and added he feared a |
Shortage of that "indispensable article® would greatly dislocate the trade
of the department during the year.é

In his report on the Babine district in the spring of 1826, Brown

stated that the Babines west of Fort Kilmaurs would trade for leather or

lH.B.A., Reel IM15, B/11/a/2, William Brown to John Stuart,
Babine Post Journals, March 27, 1823.

24,B.A., Reel 3M52, Di4/118, William Brown to Governor Simpson,
April 25, 1823,

34.B.A., Reel IN782, B/88/e/3, William Connolly, St. James Fort
Report District, n.d. spring, 1825.

b,B.A., Reel 22k, B/188/b/k4, Brown to Connolly, October 8, 1825,

5H.B.A., Reel IM129, B/188/a/5, William Connolly to William Brown,
- Fort St. James Post Journsl, October 30, 1825,

64.8.5., IIT, p. 106, footnote 2.
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not at all, and that because he had been given only small quaﬁfities of
poor skins since 1823, at least two-thirds of the furs of his hunters went
to the sea coast. The weary Chief Trader stated that the shortage of
leather made it useless to atbempt to extend the trade down the 'Simpson's'
river (Skeena).l

Another factor that consistently prevented expansion was the
shortage of men., In December, 1822, William Brown complained that plans
for an expedition to the Chilcotin country, preparatory to opening estab-
lishments there, had to be sbandoned, because so few men had been sent in
that fall. An expedition to the Atnahs west of Lake Babine to determine
if a post should be set up amongst them, also became impossible. Brown
stated that these important enterprises had to be foregone in order to get
the furs and winter provisions of 6,000 salmon, to Fort McLeod. Brown was
anxious to lead a party the following summer to gain information of the
country toward the sea but John Stuart disapproved: first, because he
felt the party must be too small to bring any advantage, second, that
the expenses would outweigh the returns and, third, that the committee
and council would object to it "as contrary to the plan of economy they
wish to establish! .2

A month later Stuart wrote to Simpson acknowledging his promotion
to Chief Factor and a position on the council. But it was in a melancholy
mood that he stated the number of men required to operate Brown's new post
in the Babine country might well force him to leave the fur catéh inland,

"a circumstance of all others I would wish to avoid". He requested that

lH;B.A., Reel IM776, B/1l/e/2, William Brown, Babine - Report on
District, April 15, 1826.

ZH;B;A;, Reel IML5, B/11/9/1, Brown to Simpson, Babine Post
Journal, December 3, 1822,
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he be relieved, as he felt no longer equel to the rigours of the department
and, one gathers, to the stringencies of Simpson's economizing.:L Stuart's
strong feelings about the existing responsibilities of the department leave

no doubt of his opinion about Brown's plans for exploratory expeditions and

new establishments.
But the Governor did not agree that the establishments in New Cale-
donia were undermanned. In December, 1823, he sent the following devastating

reply:

The general out door opinion is that a larger com-
pliment of men was given to the department last
year than necessary; but if you make up the 150
packs, and extend the trade agreeable to your
expectations and intentions (of which Stuart had
neither), and from your well known enterprise and
perseverance 1 have no doubt these desireable ob-
jects will be accomplished, there will Be no room
for further remarks on that head [sic].

It must be added that while Simpson strictly limited the number of employees,
he made a point of encouraging the officers to remain at their assigned posts
for a goodly time to prevent the continual reshuffling of posts that disor-
ganized the old Nor'Westers.3 He was also responsible for introducing some
extremely able men west of the Rockies such as McLoughlin, Ogden and Black.

Apart from the dislocation of supply routes, shortage of men and

of leather, the outstanding disability of New Caledonia lay in the conflict

of personalities.h The dominant figure in the country since its original

lH.B.A., Reel IM223, B/188/b/1, Stuart to Simpson, January k4, 1823,
2H.B.A., Reel 3M3, D/4/3, Simpson to Stusrt, December 17, 1823.

3John Hussey, The History of Fort Vancouver and its Physical
Structure, (Washington State Historical Society, 1957), pp. 19-20.

hJohn 3. Galbraith, The Hudson's Bay Compaﬁy‘gg an Imperial Factor,
1821-1869, (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1957), p. 126.
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establishment had been John Stuart, who could with honesty describe the
department as "a child of my own rearing".l As a veteran Nor'Wester,
Stuart was not happy with the rigid discipline of the new concern. In a
letter to Brown in the fall of 1822 he stated that he now realized the
difference between being a partner in the late North West Company and a
Chief Factor in the new Hudson's Bay Company: "The one was something,
but the other is a name without substance . . . nothing more than the
servant of the company, whose orders he must implicitly follow." He also
resented being left on his own, to accomplish what he felt to be impossible
tasks with the men at hand without counsel by the Governor.2 In this
letter shadows of bitterness and jealousy appear, for Stuart noted that
unlike himself Brown seemed to have received a large bundle of mail and
perhaps possessed more information than he did.

It was unfortunate that this deputy, though like all the officers
in New Caledonia an old Nor"ifv'es‘oer,3 was a particularly willing servant of
the new company. William Brown appears to have been an aggressive and
ambitious man anxious to win a position for himself by carrying out the
Governor's directions. He was determined to take a party of men to ex-
plore to‘the west toward the ocean, and herein he ran counter to the
wishes of Stuart. Bad feeling rapidly developed between the two men
during the winter of 1822-23; Stuart demsnded that all correspondence

within the department receive his approval while Brown coﬁplained bitterly

14,B.A., Reel IM223, b/188/b/1, John Stuart to Nicholas Garry,
April 22, 1822,

2H.B.A., Reel IM223, B/188/b/1, Stuart to Brown, November 7, 1822.

34, A. Innis, "Rupert's Land in 1825", Canadian Historical
Review, Vol. 7, No. 4 (December, 1926), p. 306.

R




AN ot bk A e R A P

19

that he had been deliberately supplied with a defective whipsawll Another

source of ill will may have sprung from the refusal of Brown's request to
2

be allowed to visit York Factory in 1824, He may have resented the fact

that Stuart made the trip east each summer, and was able to put his account

of thelr disputes before the Governor and Council in person. In the fall
of 1824 Stuart was finally allowed to take a less demanding position, and
was posted to the Saskatchewan district.

There are no surviving records of the department in the winter of

1823-24, and this may be due to the "serious differences and insubordina-

tion", said to have existed in the department, which the'council severely
condemned in July, 1824.3 In the following winter William Comnnolly, late
of the Lesser Slave Lake District, served jointly with William Brown, as
senior officer in New Caledonia. However, Brown remained attached to the
Babine Post while Connolly supervised the remainder of the department.
Brown's refusal to delegate the leadership of his exploration dowm the
Skeena the following summerh and his continual criticism of the shortage
of leather seems to have produced decidedly cool relations with Connolly.
Undoubtedly the promotion of Connolly to the rank of Chief Factor in

July, 1825, did nothing to soothe Brown's temper. When the rotation of

furlough fell to Brown in 1826, he accepted this opportunity to withdraw,

and thereafter disappears from the council records.

'H.B.A., Reel TMI5, B/11/a/1, Brown to Stuart, February 10, 1823.
2H.B.A., Reel 3M52, D/4/118, Brown to Simpson, April 25, 1823.
3H.B.5., III, p. 76.

QBrown‘suffered a severe attack of rheumatism'that confined him
to bed for most of the summer.
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The conflict of personalities, bad temper andblow spirits was un-
doubtedly aided by the climate of the country which was condemned by most
of the officers. The prevailing diet of dried salmon and cold water was
extremely unpopuler both for the lack of variety and its powerful "medi-
cinal® effect.1 The Governor himself confided to the committee that "the
service there is the most painful and harrassing in North America“.2

It must be concluded therefore that the policies of the company

west of the Rocky Mountains laboured under a number of heavy disabilities.

ii. Company policy concerning the three frontier regions was slow to
emerge, for in London financisl crisis had been replaced by 'reorganiza-
tional disorganization'. The Pacific coast was the most difficult area
for the directors to come to grips with, for its geography and trading
methods were equally strange to them. By studying their correspondence,
the evolution of company intentions and motives can be traced, and its
response to Russia's claim revealed.

At the first council meeting of the northern department at Norway
house in mid-August, 1821, John Haldane, John Dugald Cameron, James McMillan
and one former company man, John Lee Lewes, were appointed as officers to
the Columbia department. Theyrwere asked to make detailed reports on the

3

possibilities of the coastal trade.” At the same time in London, an

lJohn McLean, Notes of a 25 year's service in the Hudson's Bay

Territories, ed. W. S. Wéllazg,—(fgrbnto: Champlain Society, 1932), p. 186.
McLean noted bitterly that dried salmon had the effect on most people as

1T they were fed upon Glsuber salts,

“H.B.A., Reel 195, Al2/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Com.,

- August 31, 1825,

3Rich, op. cit., II, p. 569.
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influential group of opinion strongly recommended that the company should
simply abandon the Columbia department.l John Henry Pelly stated that this
advice was rejected for fear that the company's honour would be compromised.
On February 27th, 1822, however, the Governor and Committee advised Simpson
that though the district might not be profitable, it might well be a wise
policy not to sbandon it, but to hold it "with the view of protecting the
more valuable districts to the north of it".2 A little more than g month
later John Lewes sent a report to Simpson which forecast increasing returns
for the Columbia, since the administration had been reformed and new areas
harvested.3 Possibly with this in mind, in mid-July Simpson wrote to

J. D. Cameron stating that the Honoursble Committee desired trade to be
extended as far north "as there is a probability of doing so with advantage',
to offset Russian claims. He apparently envisaged the establishment of
permanent posts, for he stated that it was probable they would gain govern-
ment support for claims to territory "occupied by trading posts".4 In
Avgust the council of the northern department recommended that the Columbia
trade should be kept up "by way of barrier and check to intruders, even

admitting it should afford no profit".5

lFT&E, P. 343, J. H. Pelly to the Lords of the Committee of the
Privy Council for Trade, February, 1838,

2H.B.A., Reel 4O, Af/20, Gov. & Comm. to George Simpson, February
27, 1822,

3FT&E, p. 176. John L. Lewes to Simpson, April 2, 1822,

by,B.A., Reel 3M3, di/l, Simpson to J. D, Cemeron, July 18, 1822.

°4.B.S., III, p. 4l5. Governor Simpson to Gov. & Council of S.
Dept., August 30, 1822,
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In September the Governor and Committee dispatched the brig Lively
to the Columbia and with it a letter to Haldane and Cameron informing them
of the Tsar's ukase and asking for all possible information of the Russian
activities and establishments on the coast. The letter indicated that the
company had acquired a new broader perspective on their operations in the
Pacific, as it inquired about the feasibility of marketing other local
produces besides fur, such as salmon. It also considered the possibility
of employing a vessel to collect furs and obtain supplies along the Pécific
coast;l Abandonment was no longer a question.2 But the letter to the
officers of the Columbia department did not make it clear whether this
was due to the necessity of withstanding the Russian threat, or simply a
new optimistic appraisal of the possibilities of Pacific commerce,

In Jenuary, 1823, William Brown made a brief visit to the lands
to the west of Babine Lake and noted in his Journal the necessity of sup-~
planting the coastal Indian's inland trade in skins and European goods
before it became too large to stop.3 Brown concluded that this demanded
action from the interior. An easier solution was projected to the world

in 1822 by two widely circulated periodicals, the North American Review

and Quarterly Review. This was the location of a coastal post supplied

by sea from Fort George at the mouth of the Nass R:'Lver.A In fact voth

Liohn Hussey, op. cit., p. 18.

“H,B.A., Reel 40, A6/20, Gov. & Comm. to John Haldane and J. D.
Cameron, September 4, 1822,

H.B.A., Reel IML5, B/11/s/1, William Brown, Babine Post Journals,
January 5, 1823,

hThe Quarterly Review, Vol., XXVI, October and January, No. LII,
(London: John Murray, 1822), p. 346; also "Examination of the Russian
Claims", The North Awerican Review, Vol. XV, New Series, Vol. VI, (Boston,
1822), p. 396.
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articles assumed that by the time of publication, the company would have
established such a station.

However, Governor Simpson's report to the Governor and Committee
in June, 1823, though confident of the department as a whole, reported
that no progress had been made along the coast. He said that repeated
attempts had been made by Mr. Cameron to extend the trade into the rich
country along the coast to the northward, but that these had been wholly
without success on account of the "implacable revenge" of the natives for
a supposed outrage committed on them by the whites some years before.l
The letter from which Simpson received this information was considerably
stronger in its statement of the facts. Cameron had declared that
"Establishing pdsts to the northward iskout of the question, unless
supported by a strong force, which would incur an expense that the best
trade made that way would not defray“.2 John Hussey, who describes the
drive up the north-west coast as half-hearted, concludes from this letter

3

that it was so, because the officers were intimidated” by the Indian
opposition.

Undoubtedly the opposition of the Indians, expressed in sudden
outbreaks of violence, did prevent expansion up the coast by foot or

canoe. It must also be added that the route from Fort Vancouver to the

Fraser River was over particularly harrowing terrain.h The question that

1H.B.A., Reel 195, Al2/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
June 23, 1823. : '

2H.B.A., Reel 3M52, D4/117, J. D. Cameron to Gov. & Council,
March 30, 1823.

3Hussey, op. cit., p. 21,

4B, A. McKelvie, Fort Langley: Outpost of Empire, (Toronto:
Thomas Nelson, 1957), pp. 21-23.
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must be asked is why the company did not station a vessel on the coast, for
the Americans had proved that it was possible to trade profitably even with
Indians of known malevolance under the vrotection of boarding nets and grape

"shot.

In September, 1822, the committee was still requesting information
on the feasibility of such an enterprise. Such a request could not have
reached the Columbia before the spring of 1823 and a reply could not have
been in the committee's hands before the fall of 1823, Indeed if an

answer was sent on the Lively it did not reach London until sometime

after March, 1824.1 By the end of February, 1825, the issues arising

from the Russian ukase had been setiled. On the second of June, 182%4,

the Governor and Committee sent instructions to Simpson which indicated
strongly that though an Anglo-Russian treaty had not yet been signed, they
expected shortly that Britain would obtain access to the coast, at least as
far as Sitka. Indeed the terms of the Russian-American Treaty signed on
April 5 (17), 1824, which restricted the Russians' territorial claims to
5L°40', were a clear forecast in themselves. In the June letter the
cormittee recomnended the extension of the sea otter trade, as the East
India Company had found a ready market for the skins in China. They in-

formed Simpson that they had bought the William and Anne and would des-

patch her earlier than usual so that she would have time in the summer of

1825 to open trade with the Indians of the coast to the northward.2

| Y.B.A., Reel 40, A6/20, Gov. & Comn. to Governor Simpson,
March 12, 1824,

%H.B.A., Reel 40, A6/20, Gov. & Comm. to Governor Simpson
(official), dune 2, 182,
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There are several possible reasons for the delay in consigning a
vessel to the north-west coast until the summer of 1824. It might have
been that the company did not wish to send off a vessel until their re-
lations with Perkins and Company of Boston and the East India Company had
been clarified concerning their trade at Canton. Another reason might
have been simply that the committee did not wish to charter another vessel
for such lengthy service at the prevailing high rates and were not imme-
diately prepared to purchase a ship.

However, the most relevant question is whether the company deli-
berately delayed sending a vessel to expand the coastal trade until the
national sovereignty of the region had been clarified. W. Kaye Lamb in
his introduction to McLoughlin's Fort Vancouver letters implied that the
company did hesitate while the-negotiations continued, during which all
that they were able to do was gather information and plan.2 John Hussey
adopted this view, but concluded that the company was sure of the results
of the negotiation by March 12, 1824, and so felt at last that they could
expand along the coast freely.3

It states that negotiations were then under way between Britain
and Russia with respect to the coast and that though the committee hoped

that "the valuable part will be secured to this country", they felt that

lIbid., paragraph 55. Here one must note that the post-war slump
in shipping charges due to the inundating wave of wartime transport
vessels, was coming to an end.

QMcLoughlin!s Fort Vancouver Letters First Series 1825-38, ed.
E. B. Rich. Introduction by W. Kaye Lamb, (Toronto: The Champlain
Society, 1941), p. xix. [Hereafter cited as H.B.S., IV].

3Hussey, op. cit., p. 22.
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"the actual occupation by traders will go far to establish the rights of
the respective nations".l This reveals clearly that in March the company
did not hold to a policy of 'wait and see', but sought rather to actively
influence the treaty by expansion along the coast.

There remains the possibility that in the fall of 1823 the company
was temporarily delayed from coastal activity by the threat of the Russian
ukase itself snd the news that a Russian naval vessel was patrolling the
coast to enforce it, and had actually intercepted an American trader.

Rich notes that the company was not displeased to have other foreign
traders excluded from the coast but does not mention how seriously the
company itself took the presence of the Russian sloop in 1823. However,
the Russian foreign minister in July, 1822, confronted with the threat of
war, had offered quiet assurances to the Americans that the regulations

of the ukase would not be enforced.® In June of the following year the
Foreign Office delivered a note to the chairman of the Shipowners Society
reassuring him that the Russians had pledged not to molest vessels sailing
off the north-west coast.3 As the company would certainly hear of this,
it appears unlikely the delaj was due to fear of Russian intervention.

Their slow start seems rather to have been due to practical diffi-

culties. Harold Innis in his introduction to the Minutes of the Council

of the Northern Department, stated that the possibility of competition on

H.B.4., Reel 4O, A6/20, Gov. & Comm. to Governor Simpson,

March 12, 1824.

2John Hildt, Early Diplomatic Negotiations of the United States
with Russia, (Baltlmore John Hopkins Press, 1906), p. 166.

3Great Britain, Correspondence Respecting the Russian Ukgse of
September, 1821, No. 6225 (Printed for the use of the Foreign Offlce,
June 1892), p. 37, Foreign Office to Shipowners Society, June 27, 1823,
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the coast at this time was limited by the drain of the competition in the
interior regions, and by Simpson's demands for the most economical use of
men.l The protests against the shortage of men in HNew Caledonia have al-

ready been mentioned. As it was in that department, so in the Columbia

the transportation of supplies and returns was the greatest consumer of
time and man power.

This does not explain the fact that the heavy exploitation of the

. ) 2
Snake country was carried on by free trappers,” not regular company men,

nor the fact that all that was reguired for the coastal trade was a vessel,

sailors and one experienced company trader. However, in the light of the

later debate over the merits of the coastal trade versus land based ports
between Simpson and McLoughlin,3 it is possible that much thought was
given to a purely vessel-based trade. Nor indeed would it have been

nearly as useful as permsnent establishments in the matter of asserting

sovereignty.

It appears likely then that the general stress on other areas of
the trade and the heavy emphasis on economy of operation were responsible
for stifling the expansion on the coast at that time. The committee's
original notification of the Russian threat, advising northward extension,

was twice qualified: "as may be practicable, if there appears any reassur-

able prospect of doing so profitably".h In Cameron's letter to the Governor

14.8.5., III, p. lxix.

®Rich, op. ¢it., II, p. 573.

3Donald C. Davidson, "Relations of the Hudson's Bay Company with
the Russian American Company in the North West Coast 1829-67", British
Columbia Historical Quarterly, Vol. V, No. 1 (Januery, 1941), pp. 33-38.

AH.B.A., Reel 4O, A6/20, Gov. & Comm. to Governor Simpson,
Februsry 27, 1822,
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and Council in March, 1823, the point he emphasized was not that Indians
prevented the establishment of trade to the northward, but that the ex-
pense of supporting an underteking with such opposition would make it
uneconomic,

Even the letbter of the committee to Simpson in March, 1824, which
openly encouraged expansion to prevent Russian claims to the mainland in-
cluded the phrase "as may be practicable".2 In the committee's official
letbter to the officers of the Columbia department in July of that year

when the William and Anne was about to sail to survey the coast, the

company added the stricture:

However it may be desireable to extend the trade

of the Department . . . it cannot answer to ex-

tend the trade to parts of the country where a

loss is likely to be incurred.
The committee!s desire for economy in this sphere was fully shared by
the council, for Simpson reported that at their July meeting it was ad-
judged that beneficial as it would be to enforce British claims by actual
occupation, this would remain both dangerous and unprofitable for some
time to c::ome.iL

Galbraith implied that a further reason for the cautious pace of

coastal development was the failure of the company's attempt to enter the

lH.B.A., Reel 3M52, D4/117, J. D. Cameron to Gov. & Council,
March 30, 1823.

2
H.B.A., Reel 40, A6/20, Gov. & Comm, to Governor Simpson,
March 12, 1824, '

34.B.A., Reel 40, 46/21, Gov. & Comm. to Officers of Columbia
Department (Official), July 22, 1824.

by.B.A., Reel 195, Al12/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
August 10, 1824, '




China market.l The committee was confronted with the need to escape the
depressed London fur market, a 259 service charge on the Columbia returns
to Perkins and Company of Boston, and the closure of the Russian fur mar-
ket.2 Tt was to avoid these circumstances that it had attempted to per-
suade the East India Company to give it free access to Canton. The East
India Company did agree to carry furs from London to Canton and dispose
of them there, but it retained its monopoly of the export of Chinese goods
to England. These restrictions plus a drop in fur priceé in China finally
caused the abandonment of the scheme.

Though Galbraith seems to antedate by a few years the connection
between the company's coastal expansion and the China trade; the ill
success of the China venture could not help but dampen the company's
Pacific operations. As, no doubt, did the collapse of the barrelled
salmon project due to spoilage in transit, and the failure of a steady
coastal supply line between California and the Columbia.

So it was that the determination to protect the interior from
Russian claims, by expansion on the coast, came to naught. But while
Simpson's report to London in August, 1824, is hesitant about the prac-
ticality of coastal extension, at Hudson's Bay House premature forecasts
of Russia's diplomatic retreat had brought new vigour to plans for the

north-west coast. For this reason the William and Anne was bought and

lGalbraith, op. cit., p. 123. He interpreted this attempt as "an
effort to expand the market for furs from the Pacific coast and thereby
provide a profitable basis for the extension of posts into new areas", As
this statement is in close proximity to a reference to the committee's in-
structions of February 27, 1822, it appears that Galbraith's statement con-
cerned the years 1822-23. It is, however, truer of Governor Simpson's
visions of 1825-26, than the Governor and Committee's plans for 1822-23,

24,B.5., III, p. lxxiii.
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sent out Just when at York Factory gloomy prognostications were being made
for the region. Simpson waited for london's news for as long as he could
reasonably, and then bolted off on his record journey to the Columbia,

where he conceived an enthusiasm for the land west of the Rocky Mountains

greater than that of his directors. In fact after the Governor had taken
the reins of the department in his own hands, in his March dispatch he
comnented that commerce on that side of the mountains had been "much

neglected", that the "enterprising spirit" of the British merchant was

conspicuously absent there, and expressed his morbtification st seeing

American and Russian merchants benefitting from a trade which by rights
should be British, on grounds "equally presumptuous and untenable".l
Simpson's eagerness to move the main depot to the lower Fraser River
reveals his growing interest in the coastal trade.2 Thereafter the
department emerged into the brightest light of the Governor's reforming
zeal; which was soon to reveal the full weakness of the Russian American

Company's position on the coast.

lH.B.A., Reel 195, 412/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
March 10, 1825,

Z.F.T&E, pPe 75.




CHAPTER TWO

THE HUDSON'!'S BAY COMPANY: EXPANSION IN THE NEW CALEDONIA
AND THE MACKENZIE DISTRICIS

The instructions sent to Simpson in February, 1822, made no dis-
tinction between the coast and the interior. Yet there are clear grounds
for treating the two separately, for the expansion in New Caledonia was
closer to the traditional trading patbern and methods of frontier areas

than was the north Pacific coast. We must now consider the efforts of

the company to extend towards the coast and the Russian possessions from

the north-west corner of New Caledonia.

i. At the end of July, 1822, Governor Simpson replying to the committee's
instructions of February 27th reported that a post in the Babine country
would be established that season.l In October, having returned with the
supplies from the Columbia, William Brown set off to the north end of Babine
Lake, where he built the company's most westerly establishment. Thus far.
Brown was fully in accord with John Stuart's views of exploitation of the
department's fur resources. Stuart held that New Caledonia was not well

stocked "with beaver or other fur bearing creatures" though some were to

be found scattered all over the district. Yearly increases could be ob-
tained by good management, but too much should not be attempted, and in

particular, expansion into new areas must be gradual. He believed that

lH.B.S., IIT, p. 344. Covernor Simpson to Gov. & Comm., July 31,

1822; see also H.B.S., III, p. 17, Minutes of Council, July, 1822: ten
more men were sent to man two canoes in addition to the thirty-four men,
two interpreters and officers already attached to New Caledonia.
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one post should be well established before another was begun, so that too
many people were never dependent on the resources of an area unable to
maintain the newcomers adeguately without causing hardship to the Indians.

Though Stuart seems to have agreed with the establishment of the
Babine Lake post he may well have been disturbed by a note he received
from the Governor before he started on his return journey from the council
meetings at York Factory. Simpson stated that the supply of men was con-
sidered sufficient for the purpose of extending the trade and maintaining
the business. The committee, he added, was desirous that expansion should
occur if there was any reasonable prospect of doing it profitably, as the
Russians were extending their claims, and the British governument would
probably support the company's claims where posts were erected. Imperial
considerations were impinging on Stuart's established notions of the trade.
The letter concluded with what must have been the most dismal note of all
for Stuart; that a very considerasble reduction of men and clerks was in-
tended throughout the country.2 This determination to expand, allied with
the determination to reduce the establishment to a minimum was a prime
cause of the conflict over the extension of trade west of Lake Babine,
and of its eventual failure.

Brovn had only been in the Babine country for six weeks when on a
visit to Fort St. James, he suggested to Stuart that if he could be sup-
plied with six men next summer he would abttempt to discover the land be-

tween the Babine and the ocean. This was the beginning of a lengthy

14.B.4., Reel IM223, B/188/b/1, John Stusrt to Nicholas Garry,
April 22, 1822,

2H.B.A., Reel IM23, B/188/b/2, Governor Simpson to John Stuart,
July 12, 1822,
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correspondence during the week these two gentlemen visited each other.
Stuart answered that he would consider the proposal, but was of the opinion
that the Governor and Committee would object to the expense of such an
undertaking.l On the same day Brown set forth his plan in a formal letter
to Stuart, stating that the trip would serve to keep the Indians at Fort
Kilmaurs quiet iﬁ their absence, that it might obtain some furs, but most
Important it would supply knowledge of a country sbout which they were
then ignorant. Stuart replied that he felt no advantages would be derived
from such explorations that would be equal to the expense. He described
the impossible demends that would be made on the department, suffering as
it did from a shortage of man power, and judged that though exploration
might be valuable, economy was obviously the order of the day.2 He con-
cluded earnestly that he hoped that Brown would take over the department
next spring as he was confident that he was equal to that charge, and as
"it will release me from a long imprisonment in New Caledonia". The
following day, Brown wrote Stuart, and ignoring his conciliatéry tone,
declared that he was sorry to see they differed so greatly on his proposals,
for he felt the discoveries were a primary object of the committee, CGovernor
and Council.3

On December 2nd, Stuért wearily replied that he wished Brown had
stayed his hand because of the merits of Stuart's arguments rather than

on his authority. He stated, as though it were commonly known, the fact

1H.B.A., Reel IM15, B/11/a/l, Brown, Babine Post Journal,
November 27, 1822,

“H,B.A., Reel TM223, B/188/b/1, Stuart to Brown, November 29, 1822.

3H.B.A., Reel IMl5, B/11/a/l, Brown, Babine Post Journal,
November 30, 1822,
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that the Russians had establishments on the coast, and that the Americans
were most successful in the trade there also. He reasoned that it would
be most dangerous at that time for the company to lure the coastal Indians
to trade with the interior, or to open any communication with the sea, as
it would open a path for the opposition into the company's territories, as
surely as Charles XII once drew the Russians upon Sweden and as the North
West Company drew to the Hudson's Bay Company upon themselves.l In
assessing the company policy in this sphere Malcolm McLeod asserted that
though the coast range presented a formidable barrier to the company they
could have penetrated it if they had wished either from east or west, but
they desired instead to protect the interior trade from foreign exploita-
tion and maintain a "real Chinese wall of Separation".2

But one senses that Stuart was using this argument as an elaborate
excuse to counter Brown's gppeals on their own ground. The meat of his
argument lay near the end of his letter when he said that, like Brown,
Judging from the caliber and guantity of men sent to the region last
season, he might conclude that discovery and a sudden extension of trade
were the company's primary aims, but the means supplied this year and the
removal of so mahy qualified for the task, rendered such an object alto-
3

gether impossible,

The following day in a letter to the Governor, Brown described his

ideas and Stuart's objections to them, stating that he had reluctantly given

lH.B.A., Reel IM223, B/188/b/1, Stuart to Brown, December 2, 1822,

2Archibald McDonald, Peace Hiver, A Canoe Voyage from Hudson's to
the Pacific by the late Sir George Simpson in 1828, ed. Malcolm McLeod,
(Ottawa: J. Durie, 1872), p. 31.

3H.B.A., Reel 223, B/188/b/1, Stuart to Brown, December 2, 1822.
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up his plans for next summer;l he intimated, however, that he was awaiting
the Governor's vindication. Brown's short trip a month later to his
closest Indian neighbours to the west, convinced him of the urgency of
intercepting the trade of the Indian middlemen with the inland tribes
before it got too str-ong.2 The correspondence between Brown and Stuart
in February and March, 1823, mekes it obvious that personal antagonism
had arisen between them.

Besides this personal conflict Brown's plans were disturbed by
the fact that in the summer of 1823 the retufns of New Caledonia were to
be taken out, as in the early years of the department, via the Peace Pass
to Rupert's Land. Stuart expected this operation to be an unduly arduous
one, and in the event he believed that he had been proven correct. For
he had the temerity to record in his report to Simpson that, "In my
opinion the alteration that could prove most beneficial to New Caledonis
in the way of collecting returns and extending the trade would be to resort
to the old channel of having the country supplied from the Columbia"!3

By the end of the summer of 1823, Brown had not yet reached the
Pacific, though from Indian reports he was fairly certain of the general
course of the Skeena. Unfortunately at this point the trail of informa-
tion ends, until the spring of 1825 when again William Brown was planning
a éummer expedition to the coast. One is again forced to explain the

apparent absence of activity, particularly in the summer of 1824,

14,B.4., Reel TM15, B/11/a/l, Brown to Simpson, Babine Post
Journal, December 3, 1822.

2Ibid., Brown, Babine Post Journal, January 5, 1823.

3H.B.A., Reel IM782, B/188/e/1, John Stuart, St. James Fort
Report in District, July 7, 1823.
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Stuart, despite his desire to be free of New Caledonia, was re-
appointed as Chief Factor there at the council meeting in July, 1823, so
he and Brown were required to pass another year together. "Serious

differences and insubordination"l were understood to have developed among

the gentlemen in the department, and this in itself may account for the
sbsence of a Journal or report from the Babine country for 1823-2) or
for the winter of 1824-25. 1In any case at the council meeting in July,
1824, John Stuart was appointed to the Saskatchewan district. Chief

Trader William Connolly was moved from the Lesser Slave Lake district to

New Caledonia to share the management of the department with William Brown.
(It is worth noting - that Brown was not promoted to a Chief Factorship or
the sole command of the district,) The seventeenth paragraph of the
minutes of council condemned the unrest among the officers in the depart-
ment and started en investigation into its causes.2

No further light can be shed on the affairs of the Babine district
before the spring of 1825 save that the returns for 182/ were the best be—
tween 1822 and 1825, which might well indicate that the task of transporta-
tion in the summer of 1824 was greater than ever.

A letter from the Governor reveals clearly the company's past lack

of overall policy and direction west of the mountains. On April L, 1825,
Simpson wrote to Brown from Okanagan, stating that with the help of some
of the gentlemen during the winter, he had prepared a scheme for remodelling

and extending the business on the west side of the mountains. He added that

1H.8.8., III, Minutes of Council, p. 75, July, 182k,

2Tpid., pp. 75-6.
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he rejoiced to find that Brown was preparing to teke a voyage of discovery
towards the coast, and said that it was most important that a friendly
understanding be reached with the natives as:

tis probable the Committee will direct that Posts be

settled both in the interior and on the coast as far

north as the British territorial rights extend which

we suppose to be to or zbout Latitude 60, and that a

coasting trade will be entered into by shipping in

connection with our inlend business.

He thereupon expressed his great concern for Brown's success in this most
important mission.

The date of this letter tends to contradict Harold Innis'! simple
statement that while the trade east of the Rockies was being nurtured back
to health, a vigorous policy of expansion was followed in the west because
of the need to counter Russian and American expansion.2 It shows that
previous orders to extend trade in that direction had been largely pilous
hopes, and that previously Simpson himself had taken no real interest in
them. The Governor's reference to 60° N. Latitude as the probable limit
of the coast as well as the interior, is puzzling, for it suggests that
~ Simpson was unaware of the Anglo-Russian negotiations that had occurred

3

in March and again in August of the year before.” Perhaps it was but a
general statement, meaning a 1limit of 60° N. Latitude inland and possible
coastal trading rights to 60°. But by that date he should have been in

little doubt as to the firm Russian demands for a southern boundary at 55°

lH.B.A., Reel 3M3 and 3M4, DA/B, Governor Simpson to William
Brown, April 4, 1825,

“H.B.S., ITI, p. Lxiv.
3Sim.pson did leave York Factory before the autumn supply vessel

and it is possible though unlikely that he had received no dispatches
from London before April, 1825.
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N. Latitude. The enthusiasm of his letter might have been a reflection
of the foreign office!'s false optimism of June and July, 1824.
Simpson's report to the Governor and Committee of August 31, 1825,

contained another surprising statement. In referring to Brown's proposed

expedition, he stated that it could not be far to the coast, where from
Indian reports he would find an establishment of white men, whom Simpson
was sure were Russian.l This is a belief Brown did not share, nor is it
to be believed that the foreign office did so. Yet it seems to have been

a consistent misapprehension on the Governor's part, for a year earlier

on August 10, 1824, he wrote that Fort Kilmaurs could not be far removed
from "some of the Russian settlements on the coast“.2
The dispatch of Aﬁgust, 1825, also contained Simpson's own explana-—

tion of the failure to.extend the trade in New Caledonia, which he considered
a great field for expansion., He stated that expansioﬁ was impossible while
it continued to be supplied from York department, as nearly the whole year
was occupied with the problems of transportation. The fruit of Simpson's
winter west of the Rockies, is aﬁparent in his concluding words on the
subject:

The unceasing laborious duties of the people

added to the privstions to which they were ex-

posed from the poverty of the country in the

means of living rendered the service the most

painful and harassing in North America and
operated as a check to enterprise and exertion.

3

lH.B.A., Reel 195, Al2/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
August 31, 1825,

%4,B,A., Reel 195, A12/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
August 10, 1824. It is probable that the Governor and Committee were wise
enough not to forward Simpson's view on this matter to the foreign office.

3H.B.A., Reel 3M43, DL/88, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
September 1, 1825, N.,B.: This is the same letter as the one found in
A12/1, Reel 195, dated August 31, 1825,
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Brown's long awaited expedition ;f the summer of 1825 was abandoned
after repeated postponements throughout the summer, because Browm suffered
an acute attack of rheumatism. He refused to allow the party to go off
under the cormand of his subordinates lessrs. Yale, Pambrun and Ross which
greatly irritated William Connolly3l and brought the censure of the council
upon both Connolly and Brown.2 In the spring of 1826, probably goaded by
McLoughlin's urgent appeal to the officers of New Caledonia for information
on the easiest and the safest communication between their country and the
sea coast,3 Brovn descended the Skeena River to its forks and there obtained
definite reports of the navigability of the stream.h During that season a
post was established north of 56° 1, Latitude on Bear Lake from which the
Skeena flows,

Tn 1826 also the supply route for the department was once again
directed toward the Columbia, and this practicsl allisnce made formal by
the combination of the New Caledonia and the Columbia departments into
one Columbia department comprising all the land west of the Rockies south
of the Arctic Ocean. Despite increasing interest in the region the fact
remains that the Anglo-Russian treaty of February, 1825, was agreed upon

before the company could penetrate to the west of Fort Kilmaurs.

15,8,4., Reel TM22k, B/188/b/k, William Connolly to John
McLoughlin, Novermber 30, 1825,

%4.B.S., III, Minutes of Council, pp. 1l45-146, June, 1826,

3H.B.A., Reel IM22L, B/188/v/L, John McLoughlin to the Officers
of Wew Caledonia, October 12, 1825.

by B.A., Reel TN776, B/1l/e/2, William Brown, Babine - Report on
District 1826, April 15, 1826,
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ii. The efforts to counter Russian claims north of the Peace River
pass are best described in the context of the Mackenzie Basin. This sphere
was the third main area of company activity arising from the Russian terri-
torial claims. It was also, with the Columbia and Caledonia departments,

the third great frontier district containing large untouched resources of

fur.l John Galbraith in his treatment of the company's participation in
the Anglo-Russian dispute omitted specific reference to this sphere,

2
though he referred to some of the relevant correspondence, Professor

Galbraith might well have been correct to do so, for it is impossible

to prove definitely whether the explorations undertaken were because of
the Russian claims df exclusively due to concerns of the fur trade. This
uncertainty is not due to lack of documents. As shall be seen, it arises
from the hidden motives behind them.

In September, 1822, John Henry Pelly wrote to George Canning
freely setting forth the claims of the company in north-west America.
In describing the establishments in New Caledonia, he stated that an
extensive trade was carried on with the Indians from 60° N. Latitude
to the mouth of the Fraser River and between the Rocky Mountains and
the coast.3 .This grandiose claim was followed by the remark that, as

the company had posts down the Mackenzie to 66° 30 N. Latitude, and was

trading with the Indians to the west of the river, he trusted the govern-—

ment would support the British fur industry there. Such strenuous and

1. S. Morton, 4 History of the Canadian West to 1870-T1,
{London: Thomas Nelson, 1939), p. T705.

2Galbraith, op. cit., p. 447, footnotes 32 and 36.

3H.B.A., Reel 40, A8/1, Pelly to Canning, September 25, 1822.




imaginative lobbying‘seems to substantiate the belief of Malcolm~Smith,
that one of the company's prime purposes in the treaty was to protect her
Mackenzie River trade.l

During the winter of 1822-23 Governor Simpson journeyed to the
Athabaseca district and while there directed his interest particularly to
the affairs of the Hackenzie River district, which he recognized as
offering the greatgst field for profitable expansion.2 He arranged to
have a clerk in the district, Mr. John M.JMcLeod, take a small party into
the country to the west in the summer of 1823.3

This was also the season in which he composed his instructions to
Peter Warren Dease to investigate the country north of New Caledonia in
vhich the Finlay River took its rise. In September, 1823, he revealed to
Colvile that in fact he had considered this venture for the past two years,
but had not succeeded in procuring any one to undertake it.h Simpson be-
lieved that there was & river running parallel to the Mackenzie on the
west side of the mountains, and he wished Dease to ascend the Finmlay to.
its source, portage to Bear Lake and follow this river. His motives for
planning such an exploration are not clear. In his introduction to Black's
Journal, Raymond Patterson mentioned that a desire to impress the government
with the company's zeal in exploring and securing the continent for Great

Britain played some part, as did the need to forestall Russian penetration.

1B, F. Melcolu-Smith, The Life of Stratford Camning, (London:
Ernest Benn, 1933), p. 91.

“FI&E, p. 204, Simpson to A. Colvile, September &, 1823.
3Ibid., p. 20k.

4Tbid., p. 203.
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But both he and Rich attributed ﬁhe genesis of the expedition to Simpson's
conviction that the exhausted state of the Athabasca district demanded the
extensioh of trade intoc unexplored areas.l
However, the instructions did not reach Dease until he felt it
was too late for him to complete the whole journey thaf season, so he
did not embark.2 At the council meeting in July, 1823, Simpson prevailed
upon the reluctant veterans of the old Hudson's Bay Company to admit as
officers Peter Skene Ogden and Samuel Black, notorious hell;raisers of
the days of strife. Simpson was certain that he could keep them out of
harm's way. Ogden, he dispatched to the Columbia, a nest of Nor'Westers,
té assist in preparing the Snake River expeditions. Samuel Black had no
sooner been admitted than he was given charge of the expedition up the
Finlay planned for the next y’ea:t‘.":E
In London Nicholas Garry was labouring over the draft of lengthy
epistle which might well have startled the Governor. Garry was atbtempting
to convince John Lock-of the Bast India Company of the wisdom of removing
the restrictions that their monopoly in the Canton market imposed on the
profitable disposal of British furs there. He based his argument on the
premise that the real reason Russia imposed prohibitive duties on the im-
portation of beaver and otter from England in 1822, was to give the Russian

American Company a chance to establish itself as a major supplier of land

14.8.5., IVIII, p. xlviii; see also, Rich, op. cit., IT, p. 572.
?H,B.S., XVIII, p. L.

3Ivid., p. L.
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fur. The market in question was not of course the domestic Russian market
but the one in northern China, to which the Russians had transported most
of the fur they used to import from England. Garry stated that the Russian
restrictions were a further proof that there was a real demand for land fur
in China, and he entreated the East India Company to come to an agreement
with the Hudson's Bay Company which would be of profit to them both, and
preserve the Pacific fur trade from the Americans and Russians.

To impress Mr. Lock with the interest and determination with which
the Russians were pursuing land fur and thereby to heighten the scent of
profit, Garry cleverly portrayed the Russian government's exploratory
activity in the area as an expansionist scheme at the behest of the Russian
American Company.l He felt free therefore to tell Lock of an expedition
sent through Behring Strait to the mouth of the McKenzie River in order
to take possession of all the country between the Rocky Mountains and the
coast.2 Tn an undated letter of the same month, Garry expanded further
on the scope of Russian ambitions, and the speed and system with which
they were being pursued! He again cited Kotzebue's voyage into the Arctic
Ocean, referred to Russian plans to purchase California to serve as a

supply depot and naval dockyard, and conjured the image of a vast Pacific

lSee below Chapter IV, part ii. The Russian company did partici-
pate in this activity, but the purpose was solely one of discovery and
navigation.

2H.B.A., Reel 48, A7/1, Nicholas Garry to John Lock, July 15, 1823,

Calbraith claimed in a reference to this letter that it was not sent, and
assumes that a similar letter, of the same month, but no exact date, was
dispatched. However, as the undated letter ends suddenly in mid course,
it may be that it was a draft copy and the letter of July 15 was the one,
if any, actually sent. It is noticably more moderate in the manner of its

exposition.
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empire endangering all British interests and none so mﬁch as the East India
Company.l

Garry's tale is given substance by the fact that in 1823 the Russian
historian, Vassili Berg, in a work on the north Pacific, stated that because
of the exhaustion of the sea otter the Russian American Compahy must turn to
an exploitation of land fur in the interior of America.2 It is possible
that Garry had seen a copy of this sent by one of their Russian agents.
Correspondence from Messrs. J. Thompson and T. Bonar was received at that
time, Galbraith found Berg's work in the Hudson's Bay Company records.

However, there are a number of reasons for discounting Garry's
description of this Russian threat. He was clearly trying to build an
argument that would convince the East India Company to give the Hudson's
Bay Company a privileged position in the China trade; an argument that
would gain greatly from the implication of Russian interest in the area.
It is also true that in the spring of 1823 the voysge entrusted to Kotzebue
was changed from one of scientific discovery into the Arctic Ocean to one
of patrol duty on the north-west coast. If the company had received a copy
of Berg's history it is also possible that they knew of Kotzebue's change
of plans and the end of the Russian threat to the MacKenzie. |

The actual nature of the Russian threat in the north-west will be
considered below in the fourth chapter, but it was the popular conception

of it that influenced the policy of the Hudson's Bay Company, here under

lH.B.A., Reel 48, A7/1, London locked private letter book 1823-2L.
A few sentences in this document bear striking resemblance to those of
Garry's letter of July 15, 1823. See also Reel 48, A7/1,"Considerations
of the Rights of the Russisns to their Various Settlements on the Coast of
the Pacific!, no author or date. :

2Galbreith, op. cit., p. 123.
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consideration. L. P. Kirwan gave credence to the threat in his history of
polar exploration, and produced contemporary evidence to show that it was
also feared in England in the 1820‘8.1 He stated that a desire to offset
Russian plans was a factor that influenced the Admiralty Board to make
funds and ships available for Arctic explor'a.tion.2

It is hard to be certain that such motives were not present in
Governor Simpson's mind when he planned Black's expedition. In September,
1823, Simpson sent off a letter to the committee from York Factory informing
them of Mr. Black's proposed journey, to be undertaken the following summer.
He spoke of the unique prospects for extension of trade in the Mackenzie
district, and added that ample men and goods had been furnished for that
purpose.3 But in the fifth paregraph he spoke of another expedition which
he considered to be of greater geographical importance and of more interest
to the English public, planned for the west coast of Hudson's Bay north of
Chtmchill.}+ This seems to indicate that in the fall of 1823 Simpson did

not share Nicholas Garry's anticipation of a Russian coup on the Mackenzie,

lL. P. Kirwan, The White Road: A Survey of Polar Exploration,

(London: Hollis & Carter, 1959), p. 77. See below Chapter IV, part ii.

See also The Querterly Review, Vol. XVII, No. 35, (1818), p. 219. In this
article John Barrow stated that the Russians had been considering the value
of a north-west passsge for some time, and that it would be mortifying if
they were the first to discover one successfully. See also ibid., Vol.
VI, No. 52 (1822), p. 343. This article which may have again been the
work of John Barrow recounted the growth of Russian arctic exploration
with particular mention of the Vasilev expedition of 1818-21. Though the
article condemned Russia for an imperialistic attempt towards the Mackenzie
valley, it was not optimistic of Vasilev's chances of success in the expedi~
tion.

2Kirwan, op. cit., p. 78.

3H.B.A., Reel 195, A/12/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
September 8, 1823,

hTbid,
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However, Captain John Franklin was not one to let the Russian
menace pass unnoticed., At the end of November after scarcely three months
of marrisge to the poetess Eleanor Porden,l he wrote to John Barrow offering
himself as leader of an expedition by land to the mouth of the Mackenzie and
from thence westward around the Alasska coast.to Kotzebue's Sound. He stated
that such an expedition would in no way be replaced by the expedition Cap-
tain Parry proposed to lead the following spring to seek the north-~west
passage. To make his point he emphasized that his expedition would be
the most efficient way of preventing the encroachments of Russia into
the rich fur country of the Mackenzie. Like Garry more than four months
before, he made free use of the threat proposed by Kotzebue's expedition.

He referred as well, to letters to Barrow from Admirsl Krusenstern which
said freely to admit Russia's desires to increase her fur trade and empire
in north-western Am.erica.2

Rumours of Russian danger to the Mackenzie seem to have spread
rapidly, for three days after Franklin's letter to Barrow, John Henry
Pelly also wrote to him on that subject. He approved of the government's
intention to send a party along the north coast by land, and suggested
that 1t proceed down the Mackenzie and then to the west, as it might be
the means of preventing a claim to that part of the continent by Russia.

It is quite possible that Pelly sincerely desired a government party to

protect British claims to the region. The agreement of time and subject

lRichard J. Cyriax, Sir John Franklin's Last Arctic Fxpedition,
(London: Methuen, 1939), p. 33.

H.B.A., Reel 50, A8/1, Captein John Franklin to John Barrow,
November 26, 1823. Franklin also mentioned his pleasure that Krusenstern
himself recommended the course which he proposed!
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between Pelly's note and Franklin's, suggest that Franklin mey have re-—
cruited the former as a spokesmen. Pelly's anxiety mey be indicated in a
letter he wrote to Canning a few months later just before Britain began
negotiations with the Russians.l The boundary he proposed, deprived the
Russians of all mainland south of the Lynn ceanal, but thereupon proceeded
north till it met the great mountain range dividing the waters, and
followed its crests to the Arctic Ocean. A&s the range was known to ter-
minate not far from the Mackenzie's mouth, it would seem that Pelly feared
the company was being hard pressed by the Russians in that region.

This fear may have been transmitted to Governor Simpson; it would
at least account for an odd diécrepancy'which occurred in Samuel Black's
instructions between September, 1823, and July, 1824. In September, 1823,
Black merely was instructed to ascend the Finlay to its source and proceed
in a north or north-westerly direction as far as was practicable, and there-
upon to re-cross the mountains so as to fall back to the Mackenzie River.
On July 25th, 1824, of that month Simpson wrote and ordered Black to regard
the Frozen Ocean as the limit of his explorations. He stated that he ex~
pected Black to beat the Franklin expedition to the arctic regions.3

However, in the Governor's report to the committee the following

month he mentioned that the Franklin expedition would be of great political

and commercial advantage.h Though he dealt with Black's trip at considerable

lH.B.A., Reel 40, AS/1, J. H. Pelly to George Canning, January 8,
1824.

2
H.B.A., Reel 3M42, D4/86, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
September 8, 1823,

3H.B.A., Reel 3M43, DL/87, Minutes of Council, July, 1824. See
also H.B.S., XVIII, p. liii., It is to be noted that Black had departed
before receiving these instructions.

Z+H.B.A., Reel 195, Al12/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
August 10, 1824.
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length,'Simpson appeared only to be concerned with the potential value of
the furs.l The final authority on this confusing matter is Black's own
record of his trip. In it he revealed no interest in descending towards
the coastal regions, in the Russian sphere, and stated clearly that his
principal motive was to discover beq.ver.2 When Simpson was reporting the
outcome of the expedition to the committee, he made no mention of impor-
tant new geographical knowledge, or even of Black's failure to reach the
Arctic. He merely observed that the country had proved barren and unpro-
ductive, and’would not be employed further.3

With his lengthy report of August, 1824, the Governor forwarded
the Journal of John M. Mcleod's "Jaunt of Discovery", westward from the
Mackenzie into the Nshanni country in the summer of 1823. He mentioned
to the commitbtee that its purpose had been to ascertain the country's re-
sources and the feasibility of extending trade there. DMcleod's Journal
does not seem to have survived, though 4. 3, Morton gave a brief descrip-
tion of his progress.h Raymond Patterson, the modern voyageur through the
céuntry, calculated that MclLeod had successfully crossed the Mackenzie
Mbuntains.5 Simpson judged from the Journsl that the difficult terrain
would prevent the opening of an establishment in the area, though he hoped
relations with the more distant tribes could be profitably extended. Ob-

viously he saw nothing of international significance in the expedition.

14.8,5., XVIII, . liv.

2Tpid., August 17, 182k, p. 169.

34.B.A., Reel 195, Al2/3, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comm.,
August 31, 1825,

by, s. Morton, op. cib., pp. 705-6.

R, M. Patterson, "Land River Voyage", The Beaver, Outfit 285
(Soring, 1955), p. 26.
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It may well be as the intertribal Indian unrest that the Mackenzie district
had experienced in 1823-2), died down and the returns showed increasing
promise, the company's anxieties just evaporated naturally. The department
was certainly solidly established with posts down the lMackenzie nearly to
the Arctic Circle and increasing intercourse with the territory on its
flanks. Then too by the fall of 1824 all fear that Captain Kotzebue would
suddenly appear before Fort Good Hope in a gun boat, must have been relieved
by news of his detour.

Interest in the success of Captain Franklin's expedition remained
high. But this was because of personal friendships for a group of men
with which the company's officers had been closely connected along its
route. Peter Warren Dease accoﬁpaniéd Franklin as an experienced person
with natives, dependable in any difficult situation. Simpson, who judged
that Ceptain Black's ambition was such that he feared an attempt on Frank-
lin's life, begged Franklin to let Dease attend his person closely.l
However, as with the Russians on the Mackenzie, this threat fgiled to
materialize and the department continued to pursue quietly its determined
search for skins.

In assessing the effect on the Anglo-Russian negotiations of this
activity in north-western America, one cannot neglect the sequence of the
events. By the end of March, 182k, Charles Bagot, the British minister at
S5t. Petersburg, had become fully aware of the Russian determinstion to win

a territorial boundary settlement at 550 S. Latitude.2 The news of the

.3.4., Reel 34, D5, Governor Simpson to Captain Franklin,
July 10, 1825. Franklin's expedition was expected to remove the last
evidence of factiousness among the Mackenzie River tribes: possibly

another reason for the inclusion of Dease.

2Na.tional Archives of Canada, Bagot Papers, Vol. XXITI, Charles
Bagot to George Canning, March 29, 182,
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final Russian demands reached England by the middle of April, Almost
immediately the Hudson's Bay Company must have appraised of the fact that
Russia no longer advanced claims south of 550 N. Latitude. Such informa-~

tion should have been available to the council, meeting at York Factory

in July. Therefore it appears that the activities of the summer and fall

of 182l were the last that could have been planned under the threat of
Russian claims to 51° N. Latitude. By that time little expansion had

been undertaken. The preliminary examination of the coast by the William

and Anne was still a year off. William Brown had yet made no significant

advance down the Skeena. Samuel Black was only just setting off up the
Peace River for the upper Finlay country. Franklin's expedition along
the coast west of the Mackenzie, was still in the planning stage. The
only voyage that had been accomplished towards the Russian country was
John McLeod's; the only one that seems not to have been in the least
interested in Russian claims. Even then Simpson did not forward McLeod's
Journals to London until August, 1824.

The Hudson's Bay Company did not actively challenge the Russians
when their claims seemed to extend right down to Vancouver Island, and

there is no evidence that the company even contemplated efforts to counter

the Russian position north of 550 N, Latitude, despite their demands to
the foreign office.l
If it is asked whether the normal expansion of the company's trade

contributed to Britain's position in the Anglo-Russien negotiations, again

the answer is largely in the negative. The coastal trade was not begun

; 1y,8,A., Reel 4O, A8/1, J. H. Pelly to G. Canning, Jenuary 16 (24),
1821,
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until 1825, and then most timidly. After the establishment of Fort Kilmaurs
in 1822, New Caledonia did not expand to the north-west until 1826, In the
Mackenzie the only notable explorabioh‘was McLeod's, the results of which

were not known till the fall of 1824. They were in any case of little

significance compared to the travels he and Robert Campbell undertook in
the following decade. Of all the expeditions for fur trade or empire
Samuel Black's might have made the greatest impact on the Russian

negotiations. But Black had not been instructed to descend to the coast,

and what is more, news of his discoveriés could not have reached Europe

until months after the treaty had been signed.

While it cannot be denied that whatever claims Grest Britain had
in north-western America were due to the Hudson's Bay Company, it is
apparent that the company made no active attempt to keep the Russians
off the continent south of 60° N, Latitude. Though a much stronger
commercial enterprise than its Russian counterpart, the Hudson's Bay
Company was prepared like them, to rely on the strength of its lobby

and the skill of its government's negotiators!

lSee Appendix A.




CHAPTER THREE

THE RUSSIAN AMERICAN COMPANY: PATTERNS OF TRADE
AND RELATTIONS WITH THE RUSSIAN GOVERNMENT
The Alaskan headquarters of the Russian American Company were
sixty-five miles from the mainland on an island neerly one thousand miles
north of Fort George. Governor Simpson, who visited it in 1842, stated
that the establishment at Sitka possessed "an air or appearance of grandeur
and consequence which does not become, and is not at all suitable, to an

Tndisn Trading Post!.®

But Sitka had also to serve as the bastion of
Russia's American empire. The prime question of this chapter 1s whether
the Russian American Company was merely a monopolistic trading enterprise
or really a mask for imperial expansionist designs. 4 brief investigation
of the nature of the company's trade will give fuller perspective to the
problemn,

By 1819, after its first twenty years, the Russian Americen Company
had established seven permanent posts on the islands in the north Pacific
and ten permanent stations on the continental coast.2 These were strung
out along the.Aleutian and Pribilov Islands, on Kodiak Islend, and along
the shore of the Gulf of Alaska, with the headquarters at Sitka and with

the isolated Ross settlement thirty miles from San Francisco Bay on the

YGalbraith, op. cit., p. &0.

23, B, Okun, The Russien American Company, (Cambridge, Mass.:
Jarvard University Press, 1951), p. 55; see also, The Bancroft Library,
Russian America, reel p-K-3, Captain V. M. Golovnin, Review of the
Bussian Colonies in Russian America, Part II of material for the History
of the Russian Settlements on the shores of the Fastern Ocean, (1861), p. 5.
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coast of California. With the exception of Ross, a predominantly agricul-
tural operation, the other posts were bases for the hunting of furs.

Like the Hudson's Bay Company, the Russian company used natives
to do its hunting. The stoical Eskimos of the Aleutian Islands served
in a modified form of slavery; the women were utilized to pick berries,
to fish, and some to live with the Russian hunters, while the men were
herded to sea in fleets of kayaks to chase the sea otuer.l In theory
the Aleuts received a small sum for each of the precious skins, but in
practice this was uncertain, and they lived in acute scarcity.

When, in 1804, Governor Baranov was faced with diminishing numbers
of sea otters in the Gulf of Alaska, accompanied by a serious shortage of
supplies, he initiated the arrangement of lending the Aleuts to Yankee
traders to hunt otter off the Oregon and California coasts in return for
a share of the profits.3 Such manipulation of humen beings in the fur
trade was not far removed from the traditionsl practice in Siberis of
extorting an annusl tribute of fur from the native tribes. But the

Russian American Company inherited the Aleuts from the numerous private

1Okun, op. cit., pe 203. As a Marxist historian, Okun describes
the Russian Amerlcan Company's exploitation of natives in the harshest
light.

2Ib1d., p. 202; see also, Russian America, reel P-K-3, Captain
Golovnin, Review of the Russian Colonies in Russian America by Captain
Golowvnin, Part Il of material for the Hlstory of the Russian Settlements
on the shores of the Eastern Ocean, (St. Petersburg: Printing Office of
the Marine Ministry, 1861), pp. 139-143; and also, Russisn America,
reel P-K-3 Captain A. Lazareff, Extracts from the Description of a Voyage
around the World by Captain Lazareif on the sloop Ladoga l822—2h, "Part L,
Section 4 of materials for the Hlstorv of Russian Settlements on the
shores of the Eastern Ocean, (1861), pp. 98-99; and also Tompkins, "After
Behring: Mepping the Pacific!, pp. 4~5. Tompkins gives a vivid descrip-
tion of the system of using hostages to ensure total obedience.

SRussian America, reel P-K-1. Tikmenev, Historical Review of
the Origins of the Russian American Company and its Doings up to the
Present Time, Trans. Ivan Petrov, (1861), p. 101.
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concerns that preceded it, and thus it was natural that it would adopt
this most economical method of securing skins. The large establishments
of dependents in the colonies, both Russian Aleutian and Creole, were also
a source of profit for the company. Wages were paid in coupons redeemable
only at the company's stores, where the prices were raised to take advan-
tage of a captive demand. In 1824 the internal trade at Sitka amounted
to 155,000 rubles; by 1825 it reached 190,000 1"u.bles.:L

The Aleuts were not the only natives on the coast however, for in
the Alexander Archipelago were found the notorious Tlingit tribes, referred
to by the Russians as the "Koloshi. They were also a sea-going people,
skilléd at hunting the sea otter. The Koloshi were well armed through
trade with American trading vessels, and often pirated the timorous
Aleuts as they scoured the seas in their skin craft for the sea otters.
Governor Muraviev wrote in 1823 that the depredations of the Koloshi that
year had rendered all but the fur seal hunt a failure. He added that, as
the Koloshi cured the otter skins themselves, it would be more economical
for the company to buy the skins from them, rather than to hunt otter
themselves; but that this was impossible as they were unable to give the
Indians the goods for which they usually sold their furs.2

For this reason the company depended on its own 'employees' to
hunt its fur, though occasionally it attempted, for strategic reasons,

3

to out~price the American shippers for the trade of the Koloshi.

lRussian dmerica, reel P-K-3, K. Khlebnikov, Letters of K.
Knlebnikov on America, Part III of material for the History of the
Russian Settlement on the shores of the Eastern Ocean, (St. Petersburg:
Printing Office of the Navy, 1861), p. 141,

2Okun, op. cit., p. 208; see also Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 24L.

3Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 351.
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The sea otter for many years was the backbone of the Russisn trade,
because it fetched up to 124 rubles (approximately $25.00) in trade at
Kiakhta.l Second to it in importance was the fur seal which was also
hunted by £he Aleuts, either from their Bidarkas or on the rocky shores.
Though not one-tenth the value of the sea otter, several hundred thousand
were caught each year.

The company also obtained a number of land furs, though by primi-
tive methods. It employed Russian hunters, usually shanghaied from Okhotsk
for at least a seven—year term. Sables were trapped, land otter, lynx, fox,
wolverine, mink and beaver were shot or holed with dogs.2 The beaver were
procured mostly from Indiens in the Gulf of Kenai, who, it was said, pro-
ceeded inland in the autumn as far as 200 or 300 versts "to distant
prairies™ to trap them.3

Oncé caught, the furs had to undergo a lengthy Journey to be con-
verted into cash returns. The only immediate market, one whose legality
was periodically denied, was the trading of skins to foreign traders in
return for supplies, trading goods and sometimes the vessel itself. About
20% of the furs from the colonies were exchanged for goods and supplies
with foreign merchants.h ‘Often these transactions were arranged so that
the foreign traders assumed the company's transportation obligations by
delivering supplies and skins across the north Pacific to Okhotsk and

Kamchatka,

1Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 266,
2Tbid., p. 136.
3Ivid., p. 139.

h1pid., p. 246.
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The periodic round-the-world exploratory and supply expeditions
to the company's territories, often returned to Kronstadt laden with furs
for the Buropean, Russian, Constantinople and probably the Chinese markets.l
Russia's exclusion from the great trading centre of Canton, the most logical
emporium for Russian furs, compelled it to travel roundabout routes to reach
the Chinese market. Like the Hudson's Bay Company, it was forced to use
American intermediaries when possible. In 1806-7 Rezanov had attempted
and failed to win entry to Nagasaki, and in 1814 Baranov tried to estab-
lish a market for fur in Manila and also failed, due to lack of business
houses and facilities for the exchange of goods.

The route which bore more than half of the company's peltry was
the arduous one through Siberia.3 From Sitka and Kodisk the furs were
conveyed by ship to Okhotsk. From there they were carried largely by
pack train or sledge, to a mushrooming village on the Chinese border south
of Lake Baikal.A Kiskhta was the only place that the Chinese HEmperor
allowed the Russians to trade, and so while the Americans could ship their
furs swiftly to the China market, the Russians, forbidden access to Canton,

had to spend many months hauling the furs into the heart of Siberia, over

1y, m. Bencroft, History of Alaska 1730-1885, (San Francisco:
&, L. Bencroft & Co., 1886), p. 527. He states the "Kutusov" returned to
St. Petersburg in 1822 with a cargo valued at over 1,000,000 rubles; see
also Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 246. '

2Russian dnerica, reel P-K-L, K. Khlebnikoff, Biography of Alexan-
der Andrievitch Baranov, Governor of the Russian Colonies in &merica, (St.
Petersburg: Navy Printing Office, 1835), trans. Ivan Petroff, p. 138.

£

3Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 246,

by.B.A., reel 48, A7/1, Nicholas Garry to John Lock, N.D. (possibly
July, 1823). Garry describes the route: from Petropavlovsk 1,000 versts
across the sea to Okhotsk then 1,200 versts to Yakutsk then 2,800 versts
to Irkutsk and 498 versts to Kiakhta. From there the furs usually went
1,528 versts to Canton. The distance from Petrapavlovsk to Canton by
land was 8,280 versts.
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1,000 miles fromlCanton.l At Kiskhta during the peak season from November
to March, the furs were exchanged for teas, silks and other Chinese mer-—
chandise; but still no cash returns were secured by the Russian American
Company.2 The Chinese goods were then shipped 480 miles to Irkutsk, and
on 1,720 miles to Tobolsk, and from there 1,370 miles to the great August
fair at Nishney Novogorod, from which the remainder passed 750 miles to
St. Petersburg.3 Though the Chinese demand for furs at Kiakhta was great
enough te ensure a high evaluation of the skins, transportation costs were
staggering.,

The vast distances to be covered created a formidable problem for
the supply of goods as well as the marketing of produce. There were three
means by which the colonies were supplied. The traditional route was from
St. Petersburg overland to Okhotsk, 4,000 miles as the crow flies and on,
more than 2,500 miles, to Sitka. Tikmenev refers briefly to cannon for
fortifications and siips and anchors being hauled 1,000 versts on Yskout
pack horses from the Lena River to the ocean.h The time, effort and ex~
pense involved in this route are readily apparent. Its uncertainty was
heightened by the treachery of navigation between Okhotsk and Sitka, and

by the inadequacy of the company's seamen and their vessels. Thus the

1H.B.A., reel 195, A12/1, Governor Simpson to the Governor and
Committee, March 10, 1825, paragraph h4. George Simpson concluded that
with such a route it would be impossible for the Russians to compete
with the Hudson's Bay Company in the Chinese market.

The evidence of William Tate, Third Report of the Select Committee
Appointed to consider of the leans of Improving and Malntalnlng the Foreign
Trade of the Country, (1821), p. 363.

3Tbid., p. 363; see slso Tikuenev, op. cit., p. 266.

Alemenev, ope cit., p. 104; see also Mairin Mitchell, The Mari-
time History of Russia 8h8—l9L8 (London: Sidgwick and Jacxson, l9h95
p. 2378. ¥itchell quotes an officer of the Russian American Company that
14,000~15,000 pack horses were required to carry provisions to the Russien
settlements on the Pacific.




company seems to have welcomed the idea of regular voyages around the
world, which could bring cheap supplies to the colonies in less than a
year's time. This route, however, was subject to interference by foreign
powers in time of war, and demanded a heavy capital outlay with a large
element of risk, rendering impossible a regular annual expedition.l

The expense and the danger of such voyages were heightened by the
directors of the company who attempted to profit by outfitting the vessels
‘ﬁhemselves.2 The voyages were under the immediate control of the manage-
ment of the company, which could, as it did in 1823, state that the allow-
ance for supplies had been used in the previous year, and decide to send
no supplies the following year.

Tt was this kind of management that drove the colonial governor
to make use of the foreign trading vessels for supplies. They had séveral
advantages over the other two chamnels of supply: first, they were regu-
larly in the vicinity of the colonies, second, the diversity and quality
of their merchandise was not equalled by the goods sent from Russia, and
third their supplies of food were often a necessity. Lastly, the cost of
their merchandise was at least half that of the supplies sent out from

L

Russia.

1Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 183.

20kun, op. cit., p. 71. He cites the operations of V. Kramer in
regard to the outfitting of the "Yelizaveta" in 1822 or 1823,

3Bancroft, op. cit., p. 537; see also Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 370.

MRussian America, reel P-K~3, Captain V. M. Golovnin, Review of
the Russian Colonies in Russian America, Pert II of Materiasl for the
History of the Russian Settlements on the shores of the Zastern Ocean,
(St. Petersburg, 1861), p. 163.
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It was the unceasing ambition of the colonial governors that the
company become self-sufficient in the Pacific Ocean. This goal was
thwarted by the fact that the fertile Amur River valley had been lost to
the Chinese by the treaty of Nerchinsk in 1689.1 This river was the key
to Russian exploitation of the Pacific, as an access to the China market,
as an easler supply route to Burope and specifically as an sgricultural
base to supply the north Pacific colonies. There were only three alter-
natives to the Amur as bases of supply: the Columbia, Californis and the
Sandwich Islands. Lewis and Clarke had arrived at the Columbia shortly
before Rezanov was driven past the seething waters at its mouth in 1806.
Fort Ross was established on the California coast in 1811, and eventually
helped to supply Sitka for many years. But the shortage of trained per-
sommel, and the growing opposition of the Mexicans as well as the United
States, induced the Russian government to forbid the necessary expansion
there for largely diplomatic reasons.2 The attempt to establish a foot-
hold on the northern Hawaiilan Islands in 1816 feiled, initislly due to
thé over-exertions of the company's emissary Dr. Sheffer,'and thereafter
because of the govermment's fear of diplomatic embarrassment.

The traditional lack of initiative of Russia's marine, both
commnercial and military, gave the company no basis on which to establish
efficient sea transportation links. The quality of officers and ships

depended on rarely found foreign experience. &s a result the company

TRobert J. Kerner, Russian Expansion to America: Its biblio-
graphical foundations, Bibliographical Society of America Papers, Vol. 25,-
pp. 111-112,

20, A, Manning, Russisn Influence on Early America, (New York:
Publishers, 1953), p. 96.
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lost a great number of vessels on the sea between Okhotsk and Sitka, at
the cost of untold supplies, furs and promising personnel. In the end
Governor Baranov and Governor Muraviev were forced to depend cn the New
England traders. Even when the supplies were relatively plentiful, from
1818 to 1822, the company was forced to purchase more than 300,000 rubles
worth of goods from English or American ships.2

Possibly the most important determinant of the company's trading
pattern was the decimation of the sea otter. In the years preceding the
formation of the monopoly, the animals were hunted with abandon along the
Aleutians and around Kodiak TIsland and the Gulf of Kenai. A4s Governor of
the new concern, Baranov undertook to extend the hunting operations to

3 Peak returns were attained in 1805 and 1806 with the

L

virgin territory.
early exploitation of the Alexander Archipelago.  With the foreign com-

petition, by the 1820's, the archipelago produced only a few hundred skins

1 .
Tikmenev, op. cit., pp. 103 and 236. He states that voyages from
Qkhotsk to the colonies were unduly long and hazardous for want of better
sailors and navigation. See also Mitchell, op. cit., pp. 224~225, Mit-~

chell quotes several contemporary sources which testify to the poor quality

of the company's seamanship in the north Pacific. He states that there
were instances of a vessel taking more than three years to cross from
Kodiak to Okhotsk.

“Bancroft, op. cib., p. 538.

3Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 72. He records that in 1795 Baranov com-
plained of foreign competition and feared the establishment of foreign
ports between the Gulf of Kenai and Nootka, and resolved to form a settle-
ment on that coast at the first opportunity. See also, Russian America,
reel P-K-3, K. Khlebnikoff, Letters of K. Khlebnikoff on America, Part III
of HMaterial for the Hlstory of the Russian Settlements on the shores of
the Eastern Ocean, (1861), p. L.

hKhlebnikoff, op. cit., p. 70. He mentions that in 1805 the
Americans obtained 8,200 sea otter and the Russian American Company 4,628,
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a year.l As early as 1804, Baranov sent off his Aleuts on expeditions to

the California shore. There for awhile the sea obter were more plentiful,
2

though the southern waters did not produce so valuable a pelt., By the

time of the treaty negotiations the otter were no longer the mainstay of

the trade. The herds of fur seal had also diminished, though they replaced
the sea otter as the most important factor in trade. In 1808 the company
placed a hunting limit at 40,000 seal per year.3 During the years Russia
and the Euro?ean powers were occupied with the Napoleonic wars, American

vessels continued to exhaust the fur resources of the north-west coast.

By the 1820's it had become obvious that the trade in land furs should be
expanded to provide additional incentive for the Chinese to barter at
Kiakhta. In view of the plans to augment the fur trade with furs from
the interior of North America, it is necessary to study the relationship
between the trade of the Russian American Company and the aggressive de-
signs of the Russian government, as well as the administrative links be-
tween them,

Two Soviet works in this sphere which are available in English

translation have presented the company as the tool of the government.

M. A. Sergeyev in his introduction to Russian Voyages Round the World

stated that the government formed a strong monopoly in order to expand

1S, R. Tompkins, Alaska, p. 134; see also Bancroft, op. Cit.,
p. 540; and Khlebnikoff, op. cit., p. 12. He states that from 1815 to
1818 only 108 sea otter were purchased from the Koloshi.

2fhlebnikoff, op. cib., Pe TLl.

3Tikm.enev, op. cit., p. 244,
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its holdings in the north Pscific and to withstand the foreign competition
prefigured by Vancouver's voyage.l S. B. Okun stated in his well-documented
study of the Russian American Company that from its birth, the company was
"controlled and directed" by the government.2 It is not clear how Okun
reached this conclusion in the light of his description of the Shelikov's
eager courtship of Count P, A. Pahlen, one of the most influential courtiers
with the unstable Emperor Paul,3 in order to win for their company the
highest goal of capitalist enterprise - a state monopoly.

The formation of the company wes, in fact, a coup by a highly
organized business group. But Alexander I soon came to the throne, and
his personal interest in the concern coincided with its gradual absorp-
tion by the state. In Article 12 of the charter of 1799, the position
of "Protector" of the company was established and was filled by N. P,
Rezanov who was soon promoted to be Court Chancellor to Tsar Ale:»cander.l‘L
Initially the Tsar bestowed his favour on the operation by investing
10,000 rubles to create public confidence, and thereafter he approved
the granting of several large loans on the Imperial Bank.5 In 1804, a
provisional committee with powers equal to the General Assembly of Stock-
holders was established to consider matters of political delicacy in the

company!'s affairs.6 Its three members were to be stockholders; two chosen

: lN. Nozikov, Russian Voysges Round the World, ed. M, A. Sergeyev,
(London: Hutchinson & Co., 19LL), pp. viii-ix.

2Okun, op. cit., p. 9. JIbid., pp. A3-hi.
ATpbid., p. Y.

®Russian America, reel P-K-4, Historical Review of the Russian
American Company from 1799-1863, trans. Ivan Petrofr. Compiled by the
Department of Tmperial Domains, n.d., p. 5.

6

Oku.n, _QE. _C_j-_-_._t_lo, p- 95.
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by the company's directors and one appointed by the Minister of the In-
1

terior. The merchants on the board blindly esgreed to the formation of

this body, and its positions were duly given to the Minister of the Navy,

N. 8. Mordvinov, the Assistant Kinister of the Interior, Count P. H.

Stroganov and an important official in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs,
Privy Councillor I. A, Weidemeyer.2

The 'Provisional' Committee of 1804 was the beginning of what

Okun described as the "transformation of the company from a commercial

orgenization into a direct asgency of the Crown".3

In September, 1811, the Minister of the Interior suggested to the
Tsar that the government should meintein much closer supervision of the
company. The Tsar replied with a ukase (dated December 15, 1811) stating
that it should be the duty of the Minister of the Interior to keep in the
closest touch with the company's enterprises, and to demand of its adminis-
trator detailed information of all their transactions, since the company
was of great importance to the country at Zl.arge.LP

During the company's first decade the nobility in the governing

board began to eliminate those of merchant class from the important posts

1.
Ibid., p. 95.

“Russian America, reel P-K-6, Report of the Committee on Organiza-
tion of the Russian American Colonies, trans. Ivan Petroff, (S5t. Peters-
burg: Printing Office of the Department of Foreign Commerce, 1863), p. 39.

30kun, op. cit., pe 95.

hTikmenev, op. cit., p. 241; see also Okun, op. cit., p. 98.
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in the administration.l The directors were dominated by nobility of the
capital city, who thought first of their own profit, and knew or cared
little for the maintenance of the trade in the north Pacific colonies.2

This kind of leadership led to Kozodaviev's memorandum of September,

1811 and control by the Ministry of Interior. Shortly afterwards, in
October, 1813, the special committee on political matters was transformed
into a permanent council.3 Despite regulations that one of the three

members be changed each year, government appointees from related depart-—

N
ments always dominated the body. For a time the two pincers of govern-—

ment political and financial control did not apply sufficient pressure
to change the company's 'method! of operations.

In the north Pacific Barasnov was still more concerned with the
survival of the colonies than their profit. In the spring of 1807, only
the timely arrival of an American trader, Captain Winship, prevented a
major attack by the Koloshi on Sitka, which might well have destroyed the

establishment.5 Shortly after Rezanov's death the directors wrote Baranov

;Manning, op. cit., p. 86.

2This general condemmation is substantisted by Okun who devoted

part of a chapter to a detailed description of their incompetence and
venality. He stated that from 1808 to 1820 the directors approved the
expenditure of 2,312,318 rubles on supplying and maintaining the colonies
and 4,696,36L rubles on the upkeep of their own office in St. Petersburg!
Okun, op. cit., pp. 61-67., It must be admitted that as a Marxist his-
torian, Okun may have been unduly antagonistic to these aristocratic
capitalists, yet he was not so toward the merchant capitalists, and fully
documented most of the charges he made. Clarence Manning made use of his
Judgments frequently in his work Russian Influence on Early America.

thid., p. 97.

30kun, op. cit., p. 97.

SHector Chevigny, Lord of Alaska: Baranov and the Russian
Adventure, (New York: The Viking Press, 1942), p. 226.
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urging him to speedily implement Rezanov's plans of expansion to the
Columbia, California and the Sandwich Isiands.l However nothing was

done to provide the aging Governor with the means of realizing these
visions. After the Treaty of Tilsit between France and Russia, the
British Navy stood guard to prevent Russian vessels leaving the Baltic,
cutting off the most direct connection with the north Pacific. This
blockade also prevented the dispatch of a successor to Barano?. In
August, 1809, the Governor was forced to deal with a planned insurrection

at Sitka which further demoralized him.2

In the summer of 1810, he was
cheered by receiving news that General Koch had been appointed to replace
him, only to learn in 1811 that he had been killed on route to Sitkao3
Then in January, 1813, he received word that another replacement, Borno-
volokov, had been lost in the wreck of the Neva under Mt. Edgecumbe,
almost within sight of Sitka.h For six years his personal misfortunes,
neightened by the isolation and neglect of thé colonies, had driven the
Governor deeper into drink and lassitude.5

In the winter of 1814, he was further tried, by the presence of
Captain Lozarev in the frigate Suvarov. The Captain took a patronizing
attitude toward the Governor and disobeyed his orders; he finally sailed
away for Russia without warning and without dispatches or mail. It was
the charges and countercharges between these two men that finally goaded

the directors into preparing an expedition in 1817 under Captain Hagemeis-

ter, to report on the administration of the company's colonies, and to

lbid., p. 230. *Tpbid., pe 243.
3Ibid., p. 247. hrpid., p. 250.

SIbid., p. 243.
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replace Governor Baranov. The administration of the colonies was trans-—
ferred from merchants into the hands of naval officers,l so that the
government might obtain a more complete control of the company's activities.
Though the principal of profit remained the company's fundamental motiva-
tion, Hagemeister undertook to give its operations a more 'European’ fonn.2
Fixed wages (generally 20% lower) replaced the old system of "half shares",
but the system of inescapable debt to the company's stores seems only to
have grown worse.3 The change of administration replaced "boisterous
immorality and brutality" with "decorum and virtue", but the "vigor and
simplicity" were saérificed.h The influx of "near-sighted and precise
bureaucrats" seemed to spell the end of the company's vislons of a

Pacific trading empire.’

A temporary palliative was found when Captain Hagemeister decided
not to remain at Sitka for a term as governor, and.appointed as interim
administrator, Baranov's son-in-law Lieutenant Yanovsky., But the directors
did not wish to prolong the connection with the much maligned Baranov and
in 1821 replaced Yanovsky with Captain N. N. Muraviev who possessed the

necessary 'family' lineage.6

lokun, op. cit., p. 101.

?;9;@., p. 184,

31bid., p. 185,

k. B. Tompkins, Alaska, p. 150. “Manning, op. cit., p. 93.

6Bancroft, op. cit., p. 534. This is the interpretation which
Bancroft suggested on this matter. He also  implies on p. 539 that Mura-

viev was replaced by Christiakov in 1824 because he had been unjustly
blamed for the relatively low fur returns of 1822-23,

SRR
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It was under the aegis of Governor Bancroft that Kuskov, the
assistant mansger of the colonies began +o build Fort Ross on the Califor=
nian coast in 1811,l as were the efforts of Dr. Scheffer to establish a
base in the Sandwich Islands five years later.2 The government seems to
have had no hand in either of these expansionist projects. Indeed in
February, 1818, the Tsar instructed Nesselrode to refuse an offer by King
Tomari to place himself under the protection of Tsar Alexander because of
the difficulties it would involve.3 In 1824, Dimitri Zavalishin returmed
to St. Petersburg from g visit to California, and submitted to the Tsar a
memorandum proposing Russian acquisitions in northern California.
Alexander turned the matter over to Nesselrode of the forelgn office and
Mordvinov for the company. The latter supported Zavalishin's plen com-
pletely; the former felt that though Russian pretensions in the area were
legitimate, they would be inconvenient. After the Russian~American and
Anglo-Russian treaties of 1824 and 1825, the company undertook on 1ts own,
to send Zavalishen to Fort Ross to develop and expand it., A farewell ban-
quet was given the adventurer, at which Speransky spoke enthusiastically

of the plan and Pierre de Poletica became convinced of its value.5 Despite

lOkun, op. cit., p. 122,

20pid., pp. 156-7; see also 4. G. Mazour, "Dr. Yegen Scheffer:
Dreamer of a Russien Bmpire in the Pacific", The Pacific Historical Review,
Vol. VI, (1937), pp. 16-19.

3Ibid., pp. 160-161.

by, a. Mazour, "Dimitri Zavalishin: Dreamer of a Russian American
Empire", The Pacific Historical Review, Vol. ¥V, (1936), p. 30.

5Ibid., p. 32; see also Manning, op. cit., p. 96. Manning states
that Krusenstern, the elder statesmen of Russian navigators, wanted the
Tsar to give active support to Spain in her South American colonies in
return for recognition to the Russian claim to San Francisco and Fort Ross.
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such support, the Tsar did not give permission for Zavalishin's departure.
As in the past, concern over Russia's relations with Americs and Britain
prevented colonial expansion.

Governmental influence was apparent, however, in the round-the-~
D 3 >

world voyage of Captain V. M. Golovnin who was sent to investigate the
company's north.Pacific settlements in the years 1817 to 1819. While
Captain Hagemeister seems to have been under instructions from the
Governing Board of the company, it is probable that Golovnih was in

closer touch with the small permanent council, which was controlled by

the government departments. Golovnin was very critical of the old regime

under Baranov and seems to have indicated that the changes instituted
after his retirement were not sufficient. However, the main emphasis of
his report was on the necessity for governmental action to defend the g:m
Russian settlements iﬁ the north Pacific from foreign penetration.l In |
a later work he stated that the government's interest was due to three
factors: desire to extend their possessiohs in the Pacific, desire to
extend trade with China and Japan, and desire to obtain an outlet for the
potentisl resources of Siberia.2

It may be wondered why the government did not at this juncture

take over the company outright. The Tsar was said to have been asked this
question, and to have replied "No, no. It costs me now 300,000 rubles to
look after Kamchatka., If I should attempt to take America under my care

it would require s million."3 He pursued instead less direct methods of

guidance and restraint.

1Okun,>gg. cit., p. 78.

®Russian America, reel P-K-3, Captain V. M. Golovnin, Review of the
Russian Colonies in Russian America, (St. Petersburg, 1861), p. 5.

3F. A. Golder, "The Attitude of the Russian Government toward
Alaska', The Pacific Ocean in History, ed. H. M. Stephens and H. E. Bolton,
(New York: Macmillan Co., 1917), p. 273.
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As the government and the Navy started to exert their control over

the company, forces within the directorate began to apply pressure in the

opposite direction. Simultaneously the concern of the stockholders at the
plight of the company began to change to irritation with its management.
After the Napoleonic war, commerce in Russia was depressed. The
'recession' was aided by the Russo-Prussian convention of 1818 which gave
foreign goods access to the domestic market and allowed goods free transit
to the Asiatic market.2 This treaty lasted until 1823 and resulted in
loss of confidence of foreign capital, and a drop in exchange rate ﬁhich
caused considersble discontentment in business circles.3 In 1822 a new
high tariff policy was initiated which handicapped merchants who had ad-
Justed to the previous system. The Decemberists were aware of their
feelings and sympathized with them. In their efforts to make further
contacts within the merchant class they infiltrated the management and
directorate of the Russian American Company,h The profit-seeking urban
aristocracy, which seems actually to have comprised the governing board,
shared the Decemberists anti-government feelings.5 The government's de-
sire for administrative reforms when added to its conciliatory foreign
policy in the Far East, endangered the security of these parasites and

aroused their opposition.

lOkun, op. cit., pp. 101-2, He states that in 1819 only eighteen
people were present at the shareholders' meeting: ten were high govern-
ment officials and only eight were of the merchant class. Yet on p. 69
he affirms that these meetings were unruly and the stockholders were
angry at the directors.

“Ibid., p. 103. 3Tbid., p. 10k4.

hTpid., p. 108. SIbid., p. 106.
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The stockholders! complaints of the company's direction were legi-
timate. In the year 1818-19, the company paid dividends of 155 rubles on
a 500 ruble share, but in 1820-21, the dividends fell to 82 rubles and

1 The round-the-~-world

from 1822 to 1826 payment of dividends was withheld.
expeditions, fitted out between 1819-21 to the immense profit of some of
the individual directors, cost the company a ruinous 2,400,000 rubles.2
The temporary prohibition of foreign trade in the north Pacific also
added to the loss., The stockholders' meetings became tempestuous, and
the company resorted to censorship of all information on the Russian
colonies to quiet the reports of irregularities.3 Eventually a two-men
committee of investigation into the company's affairs was appointed, but
by intensive lobbying and pressure, the directors avoided open condemna~
tion or the attachment of financial responsibility for their misdeeds.’
In the midst of this travail the directors seem to have bribed Alexander's
favourite General Abskcheyev with 100,000 rubles,5 and given each one of
themselves a bonus of 100,000 rubles!6

Ironically, the criticisms made by the stockholders were opposed
by the Decemberist martyr Ryleyev, who also led the attempt to cover the
company's transgressions by imposing censorship of all information on the

7

Pacific colonies printed in the press.’ With him were assoclated such

1Tvid., po. 68-69; see also Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 425. He states
that the company paid no dividend in 1822-23 but did pay $33.60 a share in
1824-25 and $27.66 in 1826-27. The writer has no means at hand of ascer—
taining which source is accurate,

20kun, op. cit., p. 68. 3Ibid., p. 69.
hpid., p. 70. ’Toid., p. 106.

T

61pid., p. 71 Tbid., pp. 70-TL.
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Decemberist sympathizers as V. I. Prokofyev, manager of the company's

8

Moscow o:x.’fice,l N. I. Kusov, Mayor of S5t, Petersburg, elected a company

3

., R . ;
director in 1824, the aforementioned D. I. Zavelishin” and G. S5, Batenkov

. . . . . L
who almost succeeded Muraviev as Governor of the north Pacific settlements.

Upon the death of Tsar Alexander there occurred the abortive revolution of
December 14 (30),1825. Tsar Nicholas carefully questioned all the partici-
pants and found strong evidence that the company headquarters at 72 Moika

Street had been a centre of revolutionary planning and agitation for the

5

Northern Society.” He is said to have remarked acidly to one unfortunate

employee, Orest Somov, "You've collected some fine company there.™

However, the Russian American Company was a more fitting target
for mirth than scorn: with its collection of capitalist revolutionaries,
its inspired feather-bedding grafters and improbable routes of trade., Yet
the wasted skill and courage of some of its employees and the forbidding
climate of the north-west coast quickly conjure up a grimmer prospect.

The Pacific colonies never recovered from the failure of their
early attempts to become sélf—supporting. Thereafter they were at the
mercy of fur cycles and foreign traders. The government's reforms of

the company's management could not prevent the consequences of its

impossible logistics.

Ibid., p. 105. Ryleyev became headquarters' manager of the
company in 1824,

®Tpid., p. 107. 31pid., p. 111, (see above p. 67.)

brpid., p. 112.
Ibid., p. 112; see also Tompkins, Alaska, p. 149.

60kun, op. cit., p. 113.
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The ukase of 1821 and the negotiations proceeding from it, appear
to have produced ill will between the company's revolutionary directorate
and the government: first because of the economic hardships the colonies
underwent due to the prohibition of foreign trade at Sitka, and second
because of the government's territorial and commercial concessions to
Great Britain and the United States. The former will be described below
in relation to the ukase,l while the latter is rightly part of the negotia-
tions themselves.2 But first it is necessary to consider in more detaill

the circumstances behind the promulgation of the ukese.

lsee below Chepter IV, part iii.

2See below Chapter VI.




CHAPTER FOUR

THE RUSSIAN AMERICAN COMPANY: PROBLEMS OF TRADE
AND THE INCREASE OF ACTIVITY IN THE NORTH PACIFIC
Hav1nc dealt with the growing link between the Russian American

Company and the government, it is necessary to investigate the effect of
the trade problems of the company on Russian activity in the north Pacific.
The company's problems were legion. Its maribime fur resources had
dwindled rapidly, its method of processing skins was terribly wasteful,
. the supply of goods uncertain and expensive, the officers unzealous,
foreign competition relentless, and the fierce Koleshi implacably hostile.
Instead of declining, however, Russian activity in the north Pacific
scemed to increase. Though this increase was more apparent than real,
it drew exaggerated respect from various contemporary writers in England
and dmerica; some warned fearfully of the Russian menace, others preferred
Tsarist imperialism to American expansionism.2 Though it was not possible
for the Russian empire to achieve the tasks envisaged for it by its critics,
it is none the less valueble to study the exact extent of their 'commitument'

in the area.

i. There are three prime reasons for this apparent increase in acti-

vity, of which the disappearance of the sea otter is possibly the most

Lrikmenev, op. cit., p. 208, From 18041812 over a million fur
seal pelts were spoiled. ’

2The Quarterly Review, Vol. XIX, No. 38, (1818), p. 177. 4 re-
viewer of Sir Robert Wilson's sketch of Russia's power, fairly gloated
at the prospect of the !Yankees' awakening to find "bearded men with
green jackets and bayonets" entrenched along the Pacific coast from
California to the Arctic.
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important.l As early as 1806, Rezanov wrote to St. Petersburg that the
company could not subsist on the fur trade alone, and must cultivate a
general trade in the Pacii"ic.2 But by 1818, the situation was much more
serious. From 1812 to 1817 only 1,000 sea otter were caught by the
hunters stationed in California and Fort Ross, and shortly thereafter all
hunting from that station was sbandoned in favour of agriculture.3 The
general trade which Rezanov had encouraged could not be achieved due to
the impossibility of obtaining access to a major Oriental port. Both
Nagasaki and Canton remained closed to Russian vessels. As a resubt the
company could not use sandalwood or South American metals to barter for
Chinese goods, but was forced to continue to deal at Kiakhta in fur: the

4

only easily transportable produce,  and one that was rapidly diminishing.
One must consider whether the company seriously attempted to find an
alternate source of fur in the interior of North America, and whether

this was the key to the ukase of 1821, the subsequent treaties, and

possibly other ambitions, less publicly expressed.

lNorth American Review, Vol. XV, New Series, Vol. VI, {(October,
1822), pe 372. The scarcity of sea otter on the north-west coast was
‘remarked upon, and it was stated that the sea otter would probably be-
come as rare there as they were in the Kamchatka and the Aleutians, due
to the Russians indiscriminate slaughter of the old and cubs alike.

2Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 153.
3knlembikoff, Baranev’, p. 147.

hFyvidence of William Tate, Third Report from the Select Committee
on Foreign Trade (1821), p. 362. Tate said that along with furs Russians
bartered half tanned leather, some coarse Russian cottons and an in-
creasing supply of manufactured British cotton and wool.
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As mentioned above, Nicholas Garry tried to convince John Leck that
the Russian American Company was indeed attempting to tap the fur resources
of the interior of Ame:l:'ica..:L Vasili Berg, the contemporary Russié.n hige
torian and critic of the company affairs, asserted the necessity for em-

barking on such an en'l:.er}:n:':i.se".2 But the success of such an undertaking

depended on two general considerations: the market for land furs in China,
and the feasibility of operatioms in North America.

The material for a market study of land furs in northern Chimm in

the second decade of the nineteenth century is strictly limited, yet some

clues can be found, The Russians from 1817 to 1822 imported, on the
average, 5,200 beaver and 7,400 otter a year, all of which according to the
Hudson's Bay Company, found their way to Kiakht.a.3 Then in 1822 Russia
imposeé a prohibitive tariff en t.hé import of British furs; according

to Nicholas Garry, this was an effort to encéurage the Russian American
Company to supply' ‘the China marl;et on its own by hunting in North Amer:i.c:za..lF
At this time it was reported that there was a severe shortage of sable in
Siberia which had disrupted the ‘market at Kiakh‘ba.5

But though the Russian supply of fur was cbviously short, it is

not certain that the Chinese demand for it remained high or, if it did,

whether it was not filled by American firms at Canton. William Tate

]'H;B.A'., Reel 48, A7/1, Nicholas Garry to John leck, July 15, 1823,

2Galbraith, opsCitos Pe 12e

34.B.A., Reel 4O, A6/20, William Smith to T, H. Perkins and Sons,
April 19, 1823,

“H.B.A., Reel 48, A7/1, Nicholas Garry to John Lock, July 15, 1823.

5 Evidence of William Tate, Third Report from the Select Committee
en Foreign Trade, (1821), p. 302,
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testified that the Chinese of the northern provinces regarded both coarse
cloth and furs as necessities of life‘l In the fall of 1822, Perkins &
Sons reported to the Hudson's Bay Company that the average yearly demand
for beaver skins was 12,000-15,000 skins of which the American traders
obteined 3,000-~5,000 from the north-west coast.2 The Hudson's Bay Company
made a determined attempt to capture the Chinese land fur market from the-
Russians, and in April, 1823, William Smith reported that they had sold
16,650 beaver pelts at $@?OO each.3 Smith deduced that since the Hudson's
Bay Company obtained 73 rubles for a prime beaver in St. Petersburg, the‘
Rﬁssians must recelve much more than that to pay transportation expenses
to China and clear a profit.Z+ None the less, at that very time in Canton,
James Goddard reported that beaver and otter were still selling for oniy
EA.OO a skin (roughly 20 rubles scrip) due to an over-abundant supply.
Three years later William Smith indicated that the prices of the land

furs were still unsatisfactory, and suggested that the cost of transporta-
tion to the centre of demand in the northern provinces might be preventing

the Chinese from paying more.

Tmpide, p. 363.

2H.B.A., Reel 48, A7/1, Perkins & Sons to Hudson's Bay Company,
September 10, 1822,

BH.B.A., Reel 28, A5/7, William Smith to John Haldane, April A4,

S

1823.

M1.B.A., Reel 40, A6/20, William Smith to T. T. H. Perkins & Sons,
April 9, 1823.

5H.B.A., Reel 48, A7/1, James Goddard to Colville Sutting,
April 9, 1823, Goddard's statement may have referred to market conditions
at the time of the arrival of the Hudson's Bay Company's one large shipment
of 16,650 pelts. ,

6H.B.A., Reel 40, A6/21, W. Smith to Messrs. A. S. Johnstone,

e,

March 31, 1826,
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If the Hudson's Bay Company expressed dissatisfaction at receiving

20 rubles for its prime beaver and otter, one can only imagine what the
Russian American Company thought at having to accept eight rubles worth
of tea for its otter skins at Kiakhta.l At such prices it must be con-
cluded that the Russian company would keep her share of the market., It
is probeble that the competitive market for teas at the fair of Nizhni
Novgorod and in St. Petersburg would have made the venture orofitable
for the company. The company imported 30% of 21l the Chinese tea that
entered Russia in the final years of its existence, deriving an income
from it amounting to twice that of its furs.2 Okun mentions in his
comments on the decline of the company's fur trade in Chins in the 1840's
and 50's, that pfeviously only the expensive furs such as the sea otter,
had failed to find a large market., It would appear, therefore, that
the company did indeed establish a steady trade in iand furs at Kiakhta.
The second consideration involved in harvesting land fur for the
Chinese market, the feasibility of operating in the interior of North
America, was less favourable. The two factors which acted +o prevént
Russian penetration of the continent were those which at the same time
prevented the Hudson's Bay Company from reaching out to the Pacific coast:

the terrain, and the natives.

lTikmenev, op. cit., p. 266,
“Okun, op. cit., p. 232.

3Ibid., p. 226.
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One important element which is easily overlooked, was the climate
which was unremittingly depressing. Captain Golovnin commented that "not
a week passes here without at least four or five rainy days, and generally
it pours down like a flood." He observed that Sitka was situated at the
locus of the hunting areas but added "in 21l other respects the place is
almost insupportable".l Ceaseless rain all along the coast, luxuriant
impenetrable undergrowth, and a coastal fringe of ice fields and mountain
masses falling steeply into deep fiord-like arms, all served to prohibit
penetration to the interior.

Something has already been said of the company's relations with

the Koloshi. Golovnin commented in his Review of the Russian Colonies

published in 1861 that '"not so very long ago no single Russian dared to

go fifty steps outside Fort Nova Archkangelski unarmed".2 On a voyage

to Russian America from 1822 to 1824 Captain Lazarov told of a Captain
Young employed by the company as master of a brig, who became so frightened
over four cannon shots from the fort on a jaunt for firewood, that the

3

ship's boat had to return with him.” From these reports one could be
Justified in setting Russian America's continental boundary at either
fifty steps or four cannon shots east of the Sitka bastion. Governor

Muraviev had the wisdom to allow Koloshi to settle on their old grounds

under the walls of the Russian fortifications and in range of their cannon,

1Russian America, reel P-K-3, V. M. Golovnin, Extracts from a Des-
cription of a Voyage around the World by Captain Golovnin of the Sloop
Kamchatka 1817-19, Part IV, Section 3 of Material . . . (1861), p. 57.

“Russian America, reel P-K-3, V. Ii. Golovnin, Review of the
- Bussian Colonies in Russian America by Ceptain Golovnin, (1861), p. Lb.

3Russian dmerica, reel P-K-3, Capt. A. Lazarev, Extracts from
the Voyage around the World by Capt. A. Lazarov on the Sloop Ladoga
1822-2L, p. 96,
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in order to maintain closer surveillance over them.l The settlement was
none the less in a constant atmosphere of siege. The colony could not
afford to send out any significant number of men to explore the interior

or even sail into the sounds to trade, for fear of weakening the head-

5 :
quarters or of being attacked themselves. These were the factors that
effectively prevented any Russian penetration of the continent, and made
groundless the statements of those people on both sides of the Atlantic

who hoped to profit from a Russian 'scare!.

ii, The second main factor for the apparent increase in Russian acti

vity on the coast was a more legitimate cause for western anxiety: this
was the exploratory activity that seems to have sprung in part from the
expiration of the company's 20-year charter on July 8, 1819. Golovnin's
expedition of 1817-18 wasvundertaken, on the Tsar's orders, to investigate
the company's operations with a view to the renewal of the charter.3 On
Juiy 31, 1819, the company's privileges were extended for a year to enable
the Minister of Interior to gather information on the company and to make

recommendations to the Tsar,LP and a committee was formed for that purpose.

lLazarav, op. cit., p. 97.

2Ca,ptain Lutke, IExtracts from the writing of Capt. Lutke during
his Jjourney on the sloop Seniavin 1826-29, Part L, Sec., 5. of materials
for the History . . . (1861), p. 132; see alsoKhlebnikoff, Baranov, p. 157.
He too stated that the danger of exploration necessitated the weakening of
the forts or vessels on the coast.

3Tikm.enev, op. cit., p. 251; see also The Quarterly Review,
Vol. XVIII, No. XXXV, (October, 1817), p. 219. The Quarterly Review was
sure that Golovnin was attempting to anticipate England in discovering
the north-west passage.

hs. m. Tompkins, "Drawing the Alaska Boundary", Canadian
Historical Review, Vol. XXVI, No. 1, (March, 1945), p. L.
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Captain Golovnin's report was one of the key factors. According to a
letter of Alexander Kashevarov to Ceptain Etholen, a final paragraph of
the report which stated that recently under Ceptain Hagemeister condi-
tions in the colonies had improved, was only added after the most urgent
solicltations of the company's governing board.l Equally'important mist
have been a shrewd distribution of company money as in the bribery of the
2
influential Arakcheyev.

As the issue grew critical the directors began to initiate a spate
of exploratory activity to enhance the prestige of the company in the eyes
of the government.3 Golovnin records that the expense of fitting out the
round-the-world hydrographic expeditions in 1803, 1806, 1813 and 1816 was
shared equally by the company and the Russian government.h This was con-
venient for the government and gave the company assurance of continued
government support; it was in fact a similar device to Shelikov's pro=-
motion of missionary work emong the Aleuts in the founding years of the

company.

lBancfoft, Alaska, p. 531; see also Correspondence of the Hussian
Ministers in Washington 1818—1825, American Historical Rev1er, Vol. XVIIT,
No. 2, (January, 1913), p. 341, Nesselrode to Tuyll, July 13, 1822 (0.S.)
In thls letter nearly a year after the renewal of the charter, Nesselrode
implied that the company's treatment of the natives was currently being
investigated, and requested that if Tuyll discovered any information on
the subject he was to inform the government so the Tsar could use "L!
autorite toujours benveillante!", to stop any inhumane treatment.

Okun, op. cit., pp. 105-6.

3Bancroft Alaska, p. 525; see also Russian dmerica, reel P-K-6,
Report of the Commlttee on Organizations of the Russian dmerican uolonles,
{St. Petersburg, 1861), p. Lh. This also mentioned the increased atten-—
tion paid to exploration in the north of the company's territories at this
time.

AGolovnin, Review of the Russian Colonies, p. 132.
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The explorations around the time of the charter renewsl and the
ukase were merely an intensification of this. The country north of Cook's
Inlet was explored by Malakhof who claimed to have reached a river similar

in description to the Yukon.l The Vasilev expedition to the East Cape

from 1818 to 1821, attempted unsuccessfully to find open seas north of

the Behring straits.2

In 1821 Captain Khromchenka and Lieutenant Elotin
were sent out in the Golowvnin and the Baranoy” with instructions to

-explore the east side of the Behring Sea between Bristol Bay and Norton

Sound.3 By this date, however, the govermment had decided to renew the

company's charter for a further twenty-year period. After the granting
of the charter, the exploration of the north Pacific continued. In 1826,
Captain Lutke left Russia on an expedition to explore the north coast of
the Alaskan Peninsula, and in 1828, Hagemeister led an expedition into

the Behring Sea, while H.M4.S. Blossom under Captain Beechey was still in

that l’egion.LP

The most interesting Russian 'designs' on the American continent
took pléce behind closed doors in St.'Petersbﬁrg. In 1823, a Decemberist,
Lieutenant V. P. Romanov, presented two plans of strategic expansion to

the Chief of the Navy Staff.5 The first envisaged a voyage up the Mednaya

lBancroft, op. cit., p. 525. Bancroft minimized his achievement
and said the account of the river was probably due merely to Indian report.

“The Quarterly Review, Vol. XXVI, Io. LII, (1822), p. 343. The
review indicated that though the expedition was very poorly equipped, it

harboured dangerous imperial designs. See also, L. P. Kirwin, op. cit.,
p. 108,

3Tikmenev, op. cit., pp. 292-293; also Bancroft, op. cit., p. 546.

“Bancroft, op. cit., p. 547. SOkun, op. cit., p. 111.
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or Copper River, whose mouth is near the present town of Cordova, across
the interior to the Arctic and Hudson's Bay. The project was referred to
the Russian American Company and apparently won its support, only to be
turned down by the gqvernment.l The second, more practical plan, was for
an expedition along the north-east cape of Alaska to Join up with the
proposed Franklin expedition. BRyleyev was most enthusiastic ebout this
endeavour, not only because it might add to the company's prestige, but
also because contacts might be developed with the Hudson's Bay Company
and a new branch of the business developed.2 In 1824, the Imperial
Chancellor Count Rumyantsev, proposed to finance such an expedition, and
wrote to Governor Muraviev of his ideas. He said the instructions would
be similar to those of Kotzebue's in 1815 and Vasiliev's in 1818, to go
through Behring straits and follow the coastline to the east. He felt
the voyage should continue along the coast east of the mouth of the
Mackenzie River. He considered that since Captain Franklin would not
start west from that river before 1826 or 1827, their expedition should
not start before that time, "If it should happen that both expeditions
meet, the glory of the success of the enterprise will belong tovboth
Russia and England." From the Chancellor's letter, one must conclude
that he had no ambitions to establish a pfior claim of discovery to the
country west of the Mackenzie, but simply to maintain Russia's honour by

being in the forefront of exploration of territory at her own back door.3

lIbid., p. 111; see also Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 295.
20kun, op. cit., p. 112,

3Tikmenev, op. Cib., pp. 296+7.
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Unfortunately when the beneficient Rumyantsev died shortly afterwards, his
heir refused to sanction the bequest of 20,000 rubles. As the goverrment
failed to assist the venture, it came to naught.

Russian voyages of exploration to the north Pacific seem to have
been undertaken for many reasons: Zfor the glory of the company, empire
or Tsar, for the practical value of improving navigation, for contributions
to scientific understanding; indeed for every conceivable motive apart from

the much talked of imperial expansion towards the heart of the continent.

iii. The third reason for Russian activity on the north Pacific was the
decline of trade due to foreign competition. Baranov estimated that six
to ten foreign traders plied the coast each year, often getting 2,000
skins or more each in return for weapons and liquor.2 As has been des—
cribed above, the unlimited trading on the coast encouraged relentless
hunting which resulted in the disappearance of the most valuable furs
from the Alexander Archipelago. Furthermore, what fur there was, went to
the foreigners who had accustomed the Koloshi to varieties and quantities
of goods which the Russian company could not offer. This in turn served
to maintain, if not heighten, the animosity between Russians and the
Indians., On May 17, 1808, Count Runyantsev, then foreign minister,
lodged a formal protest concerning American depredations on the north-

3

west coast, to Mr. Levett Harris, American Coumsul in St. Petersburg.

1pid., p. 298.
Knlebnikoff, Baranov, p. 37.

3Tompkins, Alaska, p. 126,
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In 1810, the matter was raised unsuccessiully with the State Department by
the Russisan Consul General to the United States, Dashkov; in St. Petersburg
the young John Quincy Adams fended off similar protests at about the same

.1
time.” The mission of John Jacob Astor's son-in-law, Adrian B. Benton, to

St. Petersburg in 1811, concerned an agreement between Astor and the Russian

American Company which the Russians hoped would discourage the independent

2
Yankee traders.

The Buropean war forced Baranov to depend even more upon what

supplies he could muster in the Pacific. This did not spare him, at

war's end, an order ffom the company directors to cease most dealings
with foreign traders.3 He complied as far as was possible, and in 1816
only bought supplies from one of the fifteen vessels which anchored at
Sitka.l‘L At the same time in St. Petersburg, the company appealed un-
successfﬁlly'to the government to prohibit the foreign vessels from
trading, not with the company, but with the natives along the coast.
Colovnin returned to Russia in 1819 with a keen sense of the devastating
impact of the "contrebandists", and wrote in his report that if the Tsar
had known the situation hevwould surely have acted, since "a far seeing

and careful government could not have refused to comply with the request

(for the prohibition of foreign trade)".

Lrpid., p. 126. “mpid., p. 127.
3Tikmenev, op. ¢it., p. 190. hrpid., p. 191.

5Ipbid., . 242. b1pid., p. 262.
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In August, 1820, the company itself issued an order forbidding all
trade with foreigners in the colonies. Increased representations from the

1

company resulted in the Tsar's ukese of September 4-16, 18217 which pro-

hibited foreign vessels from approaching nearer than 100 Italian miles from
the coast, and redefined the company's territories to extend L° further
south to include the coast almost to Vencouver Island. It was this ukase
which brought the matter of a territorial division in the north Pacific
to the capitalé of Europe.‘ Russian activity in the region of course be-
came more highly suspect.

Activity did increase, for the Tsar dispatched the frigate Apollo
to patrol the forbidden zone. In 1822; the frigate intercepted and im-
pounded the brig Pearl from Boston, and thereby created considerable ill
will for Russia around the Pearl's home port, though completely failing
to stamp out the illegitimate trade with the natives.2 The following
vear the frigate Cruiser and.the‘sloop of war Ladoga were dispatched to
guard the coast, though by then their instructions were to restrict their
operations to the latitude in which the company enjoyed the exclusive

3

right of trade.

1"Correspondence of the Russian Ministers in Washington 1818-25",
Americen Historical Review, Vol. XVIII, No. 2, (January, 1913), p. 337.
Nesselrode to Tuyll, July 13, 1822 (0.S.) In the same letter the foreign
minister stabted that the government had initially asked the company to
prepare a report on the measures that could be taken to preserve peace in
the colonies on the north-west coast, and that the ukése was the result
of this submission. See also, S. F. Bemis, John Quincy Adams and the
Foundations of American Foreien Policy, (New York: Alfred Knoff, 1949),
P. L494. Bemis implied that the ukese was the product of Russian anxiety
at the movement in the U.S. congress to establish settlements on the
Columbia River., He did not give his suthorities for this.

2Manning, op. cit., p. 98. BTikmenev, op. cit., p. 373.
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At this point the government's plans began to crumble. They had
apparently foreseen that if foreign pressure was acute, compromises might
have to be made, but little did they expect the heated criticism the ukase
soon received from the Russian American Company! The company's trading
problems were not simple, for while foreign traders exhausted the furs and
reduced the profit, only these traders could keep the colonies adequately
supplied. Muraviev was‘forced to send ships to California, where in 1823
he obtained goods from two foreign captains, and to the Sandwich Islands,
where in 1824 he obtained supplies in addition to further purchasing in
California.l His position, however, was desperate, and he bombarded the
directors with requests for supplies, and warned of the danger of an up-
rising of the dreaded Koloshi, who bitterly resented the Russians for
cutting off their lucrative trade with forelgn vessels.

Tn 1822, consideration began to be given to abandoning Sitka in
favour of re-establishing a headquarters at Kodiak.3 Lieutenant Yanovsky,
Muraviev's predecessor stated that all the furs caught by the company in
the vicinity of Sitka did not amount to one quarter of its upkeep.
Governor Muraviev supported this plan and in 1825 the general shareholders
unanimously resolved to remove the company's main establishment to St.

Paulls harbour on Kod:’LaLk.l‘L

Ikhiebnikofs, op. cit., p. 118.
Alanning, op. cit., p. 109.
3Tompkins, "Drawing the Alaska Boundary", p. 23.

hTikmenev, op. cit., pp. 2869-290. The construction at Kodiak
progressed only slowly and in 1832 the original order was finally revoked.
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Tn the mesntime the directors finally grasped the seriousness of
the colqnies' position and petitioned the Tsar to amend the ukass to per-
mit foreign vessels to enter Sitka.l it the end of 1823 one of the company's
directors, I. V. Prokofyev (the Decemberist) attributed the decline of the

company's business entirely to the prohibition of foreign trade in the

colonies and the unremitting efforts of a few directors to economize the
company's operations.2 Such representations must have aided the efforts
of the American negotiator, Middleton, to win commercial access to the
port of Sitka. On March 27 (0.8.), 1824, the Tsar finally altered his

policy, allowing free entrance to Sitka and freeing the company from the

obligation to supply Okhotsk and Kamtchatka.B Whether the victory be-

longed to Henry Middleton or to the Russian American Company it is

impossible to say. DBut as Captain Golowvnin later reflected in the long
. . . . L

run the vital trade with foreigners was ruinous to the company.

Tt would appear despite menifestations to the contrary that Russian
activity in the north Pacific was no serious threat to the western hemis-
?here. The Russian American Company was the only body strong enough to
atbtempt to realize the dream of a Russian America. The decline of the
company's trade due primarily to mismanagement, foreign competitlon and

exhaustion of fur resources, was in fact the death knell of the Russian

Manning, op. cit., p. 109. Manning stabed that the high minded
Decemberist Ryleyev at first firmly demended that no concessions be made
to the company's officers in the colonies.

2 . 0 s ‘o

Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 374. This latter day opposition to the
ukaze did not prevent the company from vehemently attacking the treaties
of 182L and 1825 which retracted its provisions.

Manning, op. cit., p. 110; see also Tikmenev, op. cit., p. 4l4.

ACaptain Golovnin, Review of the Russian Colonies, p. 163.
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Pacific empire. The vociferous appesls it was to make to the Tsar on be-
half of its interests during the course of the negotiations with Britain
and the United States, was not a sign of its influence, rather a symptoi

of its decay.




CHAPTER FIVE

DIPLOMATIC NEGOTTIATIONS ON THE RUSSIAN UKASE
SEPTEMBER, 1821 TO JANUARY, 182L

The Rsssien minister in Washington, Pierre de Poletica transmitted
a copy of the ukase to John Quincy Adams in mid-February, 1822, accompanied
by a wérning that vessels sailing from United States ports after July lst
could not lawfully pretend ignorance of the regulations.l Two weeks later
the Secretary of State responded to these pretensions with a message of
polite surprise.2 This formal exchange began a course of complex nego-
_tiations which lasted for more than three years (ranging between Washing-
ton, London, Verona and St. Petersburg) until England finally resolved to
meet Russia's amended territorial demands.

Before investigating thévnegotiations further, the attitude of
the United States towards the north-west coast must be described. Ameri-
can interest in the Paciiic north-west was focussed on the maritime fur
trade referred to above. New England vessels dealing in furs, sandalwood
and Chinese goods dominated commerce on the west coast of the continent.

The Uniﬂed States was also gradually extending itself across the
continent. Though there remained more than one thousand miles between
the fringe of American settlement and the FPacific coast, many individuals

like John Quincy Adams and John Floyd foresaw American dominion over the

14.5.P.F.R., Vol. V, p. 856, Poletica to Adams, Jenuary 30

(February 11), 1822.

“Tbid., p. 861, Adams to Poletica, February 25, 1822.

&9
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shores of the western ocean. Some like President Monroe and Thomas Hart
Benton believed that a separate fraternal republic would emerge there.l
While the North West Company and later the Hudson's Bay Company were
claiming the fur resources of the land south of the Columbia, in Congress
John Floyd led a group of mid-western politicians in an attack upon the
policy of the Monroe administration towards the north-west coast. In
January, 1821, Floyd tabled the alarming conclusions of his committee

on the expediency of occupying the Columbia, which even the aggressive
Adams described as a "tissue of errors . . . nothing but the fire can
purify [it].”g On Februéry 26th, 1822, Floyd succeeded in getting the
House to carry a resolution asking about the recent foreign claims on

the Pacific coast. In December, 1822, his bill on the Oregon territory
was introduced. Throughout these debates Floyd and Benton implied that
Adams had been weak in handling Britain's pretensions in the west.3 The
Russian ukase merely supplied them with another tail to pin on Adams.
Adams viewed this as one manifestation of an organized attack upon his
public reputation by supporters of Henry Clay.h Adams' presidentisl
prospects for 182L demanded that he answer this challenge for the support
of the mid-west., The Secretary of State was inclined to look upon politi-

cal competition as conspiritorial, and upon its agents with contempt. His

S. . Bemis, John Quincy Adams and the Foundations of American
Foreign Policy, (New York: Alfred Knoff, 1946), pp. 529-530.

2Ibid., p. 488; see also L. B. Shipee, "The Federal Relations of
Oregon®, Oregon Historical Quarterly, Vol. XIX, No. 2, (June, 1918),
pp. 115-116.

3Bemis, op. cit., p. 496.

“F. Merk, Abert Gallatin and the Oregon Problem. A Study in
Anglo-American Diplomacy, (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press,

1950), p. 33.
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ire was roused by Jonathon Russel's resurrection of the charges that Adams
had been willing to give Britain access to the Mississippi. From February
to August, 1822, this controversy raged with Adams diligently composing
weighty refutations of this unprincipled attack. In the end he triumphed
in what appeared to him another phase of Clay's campaign to weaken his
western support.l

In the fall of 1822, pressure upon the Secretary of State was
applied from another source. The New England merchants appear to have
received the ukase of 1821 with nonchslance, but twelve months later
when the order was still being enforced and negotiations not yet underway
for a settlement, they began to stir. In October, 1818, William Sturgis,
their doughty spokesman, published a detailed refutation of the.Russian

claims in the North American Review.2 During the winter of 1823 rumours

began to be received that Russian naval vessels had ordered the Boston
trader Pearl off the north-west coast. New England newspapers loudly
protested the indignity of this action. In lay, 1823, Senator James Lloyd
of Boston addressed a note to the President calling for the protection of
American rights on the Pacific coast.3 Monroe gave it to his Secretafy of
State to answer. Adams seems ﬁo have taken the opportunity to release his
pent up frustration on the matter in a strong assertion of his convictions.

He had initially tried to pursue a policy of marked moderation toward the

TBemis, op. cit., pp. 498-499.

Zilliam Sturgis, The GQuarterly Review, Vol, XXVI, October, 1822,

3Bemis, op. cit., p. 51k,
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Russian pretensions, for he valued the traditional Russian-American friend-
ship, particularly as the Tsar was sitting in Jjudgment on the Anglo-American
dispute over slaves removed in the late war.l However, the loss of politi-
cal support in the mid-west and New England, and the continued attacks in
Congress from Clay's supporters, forced Adams to postpons no longer and to
make his colours known.2 The platform the administration adopted was that
of the western politicians,3 but it was not alien to John Quincy Adams.
Only a few years before he had successfully obtained a renunciation of all
Spanish claims on the Pacific coast north of 42° N, Latitude. In January,
1821, in two heated interviews with Stratford Canning he had expressed his
ignorance of any justifiable British claim to the north-west coast.l‘L So

it was with personal conviction as well as for political expediency that
in his reply to Senator James Lloyd, Adams stressed the need for a prompt
settlement of Russia's pretensions, a firm stand with Britain for the
watershed of the Columbia River, the early establishment of a government
station on the Columbia, and a statement that colonization by HEuropean
powers on the continent was no longer to be tolerated.5 Within the limits

of peaceful diplomacy this was the policy that the American governwent con-

tinued to follow throughout the negotiations on the Russian ukese.

lT. A, Bailey, America Faces Russia, (Ithaca: Cornell University
Press, 1950), p. 34. Adams' pstience was rewarded for on April 22, 1822,
the Tsar rendered a decision wholly in favour of the United States. Russia
had also brought pressure to bear upon Spain to finslly ratify the Adams
Onis convention of 1819.

*Bemis, op. cit., pp. 496, 498, 512, 516. 3pid., p. 516.

Mtemoirs of John Quincy Adams, ed. C., F. Adams, (Philadelphia:
J. B. Lippincott, 1875), Vol. V, pp. 2489,

5Bemis, op. cit., p. 515.




Fellowing the initial exchange of notes Pierre de Poletica sent
Adams an elaborate explanation of the Russian cleims, based on Russian
discoveries, the failure of interested cabinsts to protest the Emperor
Paul's original ‘charter of 1799, and the recent depredations of the
Russian American Company's territories.l When Adams proved unreceptive
to these arguments Poletica referred to the "authentic fact! that in
1789 the Spanish packet St. Charles under Captain Haro found in latitude
L8 and 49 eight Russian establishments of twenty families or 462 inhabi-

tants in all.2 William Sturgis soon pointed out in the North American

Review, that Poletica had misread Haro's account, which had reported
Russian settlements in 58° end 59° N. Latitude.® In the same lebier
Poletice threatened that American commerce north of 51° would run into
trouble for which it would have only itself to blame. Two weeks later
Poletica ammounced that he was returning to Russia on a leave of absence
which he expected to become permanent. He had apparently been well liked
in Washington and made a pvarticularly favourable impression on the Fresi-
dent.h With Poleticé, Adams sent g note to Tsar Alexander stating his
desire to maintain their friendly relations but firmly asserting .the

American position.5

1
A.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 32-36, Poletica to Adams, February 28, 1822,

4,8.P.F.R., Tol. IV, p. 863, Poletica ‘o Adems, March 21
(Bpril 2), 1822,

SNorth American Review, Vol. (October, 1822), p. 384.

“4.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 39-40, Adams to ifiddleton, May 13, 1622; see
also John C. Hildt, Early Diplomatic Negotiations of the United States
with Russia, (Baltimore: John Hopkins Press, 1906), p. 163.

55. C. Hild%t, op. cit., p. 163; see also A.B.T. (U.8.), pp. 39-40,
Adams to Middleton, May 13, 1822.
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In St., Petersburg, before receiving his instructions from Adams,
Middleton had privately protested against the ukase.l On July 24, 1822,
hearing that the Tsar was leaving soon for Vienna, Middleton urged Capo-
distrias to reach a decision on amending the uksse, and threatened to
present a formal note on the subject. Capodistrias replied that such a
course was neither politic nor necessary as the Tsar "a déjé eu le bon
esprit de vqir que cette. affalre ne devrait pas Stre poussée plus loin.”2
Adams! note had apparently made its impact along with Castlereagh's mild
note of protest to Count Lieven the preceeding January, for three days
later at a meeting with Nesselrode and Capodistrias, the American minister
was assured that the objections of the United States would be considered,
and Baron Tuyll was dispatched with full powers to deal with all relevant
matters.3 Orders were sent to the Russian patrol vessels on the north-
west coast not to prosecute the regulations more than a few leagues from
the shore and to remsin in the latitudes in which the Russian American
Company actually exercised its rights.ZL In effect the ukase was suspended.

Russia was in an awkward position. Tsar Alexander was the leader
of the reaction against the wave of revolutions, and he was a firm believer

in the right of intervention to maintain international order.5 In the fall

lyildt, op. cit., p. 164.

24,B.T. (U.S.), pp. h2-43, Middleton to Adams, August &, 1822.
3Ivid., p. 43; see also A.B.T. (British), p. 21.

by ,B.T. (U.S.), pp. 122-123, Nesselrode to Lieven, June 26 (July 8),
1822,

5Some Official Correspondence of George Camning, ed. L. Stapleton,
Vol. I, George Canning to Viscount Cranville, January 10, 1825. He quoted
Stratford Canning, "The Emperor would have no objection to help us in Ire-
land, so general and purely philanthropic are his principles of occasional
intervention with unruly subjects, whether of his friends or neighbors."




95

of 1822 Europe was to meet at Verona to consider the problem of restoring -
the monarchy in Spain, a project which Alexander was determined to see
accomplished. The Tsar was also opposed to the budding republics in South
America, though he appears to have been uncertain of the chances of inter-
vention there,

The Greek revolution was perhaps the most difficult question of
all, for though the Greeks were revolutionary they were of the Orthodox
Church and were revolting against the despised Turkish empire. Russian
influence in Greece, coupled with her recent occupation of Bessarabia
would leave her in a strong position to make a move on Constantinople and
the Dardanelles and Bosphorus. In the spring of 1822 Russisa had urged the
Holy Alliance to entrust her with the festoration of order in the Balkans.2

In each of these three areas of unrest Russia was faced with the
likelihood of British opposition, and the possibility of war. Alexander
had a difficult game to play and was anxious to maintain friendly relations
with the United States, which had become an important maritime power, He
could not afford to unduly antagonize either the United States or Britain
over the relatively minor question of jurisdiction on the north-west coast
of America.

Russia was not, however, considering a capitulation. The foreign
ministry reguested the Russian American Company to prepare a statement of

the measures which Baron Tuyll could provose to the United States government

lDexter Perkins, ”Lurope, Spanish America and the Monroe Doctrine”,
Amerlcan Historical Rev1ew, Vol. XXVII, No. 2, (January, 1922), pp. 214-6.

~Oku.n, op. cit., p. 83.
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to protect the company's source of revenue and to ensure peace on the coast.

The Russian government considered that such an agreement would enable them

to withdraw the ukase. The company was also asked to specify its areas of

hunting and fishing, the latitude judged to be the furthest limit of Russian

territory, and all the information available on the Hudson's Bay Company
stations on the coast.l Nesselrode also ordered Lieven to find out the
extent of the British claims and the influence of the Hudsoﬁ's Bay Company
on the British government.2 Tuyll was ordered to proceed without delay to
Washington, to makeknown the suspension of the ukesse, to declde which of
the two parties it would be wiser to approach first and then to concert

on measures to prevent further disputes.3 Capodistrias wrote to Tuyll
stating that in recent talks with Middleton he received the impression
that the Americans would accept the boundary deemed suitable by the
company, and, in their desire to keep commerce open, would grant the
guarantees reguested by the company.h For some reason, however, Tuyll
did not proceed on his mission to America but dallied in England, there-
by incurring the wrath of his government.5 When in mid-April, 1823, he
did take over in Washington, talks with the Duke of Wellington at the
Congress of Verona had altered Russia's plans, and he had merely to en-

guire whether Adams would allow Middleton to negotiate in St. Petersburg.

4.8, (U.8.), op. LO-41, Guriev to Muraviev, July 18 (30), 1822.

2).H.R., pp. 336-42, Nesselrode to Tuyll, July 13 (25), 1822,
31bid., pp. 336-42.

hG,R.M., op. 344~5, Capodistrias to Tuyll, July 13 (25), 1822.
5C.R.M., p. 345, footnote 66.

63.5.p.7,8., Vol. V, p. 435, Tuyll to Adems, April 12 (24), 1823.
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The British government had reacted with deliberation. On receiving
a précis of the ukase from Bagot at the end of October, 1821, Castlereagh
had asked the King's Advocate to offer Jjudgment on the Russian claims.l
Shortly thereafter the whaling firm of Enderby and Mellish wrote to the
Board of Trade protesting the Russian negotiations. Their note stated
that it had recently been discovered that the east coast of the Behring
Ses around 47° N. Latitude sbounded in sperm whales and that if protection
was received, a great number of British whalers planned to set sail for
these regions shortly after January lst, 1822.2 On January 7th, the
Board of Trade forwarded this note to the foreign office. A few days
later Londonderry sent Lieven an official note of provisional protest
concerning the ukase. It was not till the end of March, six months after
the ukase, that the foreign office received notice from the Hudson's Bay
Company protesting the Tsar's order; and likewise the claims for Aﬁerican
territory up to 53° N. Latitude put forward by John Floyd's commit‘bee.3
Apparently neither the British nor Russian governments believed the matter
to be pressing. Bagot is reported to have confided to Middleton "I sup-
pose we must let the matter die away, provided they will consent to leave
the uksge a dead letter, we need not insist that this men [Alexander] shall

"1‘1'

eat his words.

lA.B.T. (U.S.), p. 102, Christian Robinson to Londonderry,
Noverber 20, 1822,

2A.B.T. (U.8.), p. 104, Hessrs. 5. Enderby & Son and lr. Mellish
to the Board of Trade, November 27, 1821,

30.8.7. (U.S.), pp. 106=7, J. H. Pelly to Londonderry, March 27,

1822; see also H.B.A., Reel 50, A8/1, J. H. Pelly to Bathurst, March 22,
1822,

hBemisz op. cit., p. 498, Middleton to Adams, August 8 (20), 1822.
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In July, Sir James Mackintosh, philosopher and a member of parlia-
ment from the city, ralsed the question in the House of Commons, by asking
if the forelgn secrebtary had recelved a copy of the ukase and whether he
was prepared to protest it. Londonderry replied that the terms of the
document were not acceptable, and that they had offered "to enter into
an amicable explanation with a view to a friendly arrangemenﬁﬁl Mackin-
tosh's questioning may have‘induced the government to take the matter fur-
ther, for before his death Londonderry wrote out instructions that at
Verona the Duke of Wellington should obtain a distinct explanation from
the Russian government as to a means of settling their differences on
the north-west coast.2 In mid-September, Lieven met with Wellington to
give him a verbal explanation of the ukase and notify him that it was
not intended to carry it out "in its extended sense"., The Duke noted
that this was a far from satisfactory solution and determined to pursue
a written alteration at Vienna later in the autumn. He desired to be
informed whether Britain had any claims to territory on the north-west
coast and also the opinions of 'civilians' on Russia's maritime pretensions.
A few days later he recorded that Lieven had told him confidentially that
Hussia and the United States were going to treat on this matter so if
Britain had any claim she should bring it forward lest she be shut out

3

by a Russian-American agreement.

Lareat Britein, Debates of the House of Commons, Series 2, Vol. VI,
(July 5, 1822), col. 1511-1512.

2A.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 107-8, Bathurst to Wellington, September 1k,
1822,

34.B,T. (U.S.), pp. 108-9, Hemorandum by Hellington, September 11,
and September 16, 1822,
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Possibly in response to the Duke's request at the end of the month,
Jd. H. Pelly sent the new foreign secretary, George Canning, a brief history
of the progress of the British fur trade on the north-west coast with the
positions of company posts in the region. The observations given showed

an approximately constant error of one degree too far north and two degrees

too far to the west. One would be inclined to attribute the error to in-
sufficient accuracy of instruments or sightings if Pelly had not included

the following broad if not dishonest statement.

An extensive trade is carried on with all those
Indian tribes which inhabit the country from
 about 60° N. Latitude as far south as the mouth
of Fraser's River, which is in about 49° N. Lati-
tude, and between the Rocky Mountains and the sea.

1

This was speedily forwarded to Wellington, and with such ammuni-

tion in his pocket it is no wonder the Duke chose to base his argument

~

<
more on occupation than on the disputable claim of first discovery. At

the end of November, Lieven gave Wellington a memorandum in reply. He
passed polite judgment on Pelly's claims to occupy fromvh9o to 60° N.

Latitude between the Rockies and the coast.

Russia will not speak of the settlements which
may exist between the forty-ninth and fifty-

first parallels, but as to the others she does
not hesitate to admit that she is still in ig~
norance of their existence, at least so far as
their touching the Pacific Ocean is concerned.

14.B.1. (U.5.), pp. 109-110, J. H. Pelly to George Canning,
September 25, 1822; see also H.B.A., Reel 50, 48/1, J. H. Pelly to George
Canning, September 25, 1822, In a private note of the same date Pelly en-
closed a map of North America, and a memorandum on the Russlan claims,

based on the correspondence between Adams and Poletica in April and March,
1822, Tt pubs forward the nine points the Russians used to Justify their
positions and refuted each in order.

23,B.T. (U.S.), pp. 113-4, Wellington to George Canning, November
28, 1822, This meeting occurred on October 17, 1822,
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He proposed that the limits of their respective territories.be settled by
friendly negotiation but did not admit in the least that Russia's maritime
cleims were unjustified. Wellington was forced to reply that this did not
consbitute proper grounds for discussion, suggesting in turn that Russia
admit readiness to negotiate on the whole subject, Later that same day
it was agreed that negotiations would be initiated on that basis.l This
being decided, Nesselrode wrote to Tuyll from Verona in mid-December in-
forming him that Bagot would be empowered to confer in St. Petersburg and
since proposals should not be made to one country in ignorance of those
made to another, he asked that Middleton be similarly empowered so that
the talks could be co—ordinated.2 Finally on January 31, 1823, a year
after Londonderry's initial gesture towards discussions, Lieven sent
Canning a formal invitation to treat upon the ukase in St. Petersburg.
Because of Tuyll's delay a similar approach to the United States was not
made until mid-April, 1823.

In St. Petersburg meanwhile Bagot remained largely uninformed
on the north-west coast affair. On January 19th he received copies of
Wellington's instructions and dispatches on the ukase.3 A month later
his authorization to enter discussions on the ukase arrived, but no men-
tion was made of the territorial dispute.h At the beginning of March,

Bagot wrote to the foreign office to enguire whether he was to seek a

14.B.T. (U.s.), pp. 115-6, Lieven to Wellington, November 11 (23),

1822; see also Ibid., pp. 116-7, Wellington to Lieven, November 28, 1822;
and Ibid., p. 117, Wellington to George Canning, November 29, 1822,

2 . . o
C.R.M., pp. 539-541, Nesselrode to Tuyll, December 2 (1L), 1822,
llesselrode seems to have favoured the prospect of negotiating jointly with
Awerica and Britain.

BF.O. Sup. George Canning to Bagot, December 31, 1822.

ks.R. Tompkins, "Drawing the Alaska Boundary”, Canadian Historical
Review, Vol. XXVI, No. 1, (Merch, 1945), p. 6.
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line of demarcation or common occupancy, and whether Russia's claims for
' . . s r oo . . 1, i .
& 'mare clausum' were subjects for discussion. 4 few weeks later he ob-

tained his full powers to negotiate on the ukase but with no further
& &

)

instructions enclosed.

British shipping interests had not forgotten the question. On
May 21st, Sir James Mackintosh questioned Canning about the matter, and
recelved the reply that, '"negotiations were still vending, and in

3

activity at the court of St. Petersbufg". The Shipowners' Society itself
appealed to the foreign secretary to alleviate their fears for the safety
of their shipping.z+ At this time Charles Bagot wrote a note to Canning
stating again that he only delayed in brigging the matter up with Nessel-
rode for lack of information on the subject. He added that Nesselrode
desired to wailt to have the assistance in the negotiations of Poletica,
wno was expected in the capital immediately.5 Not till mid-July did the
: 6
apologetic Canning dispatch further instructions toc Bagot. He offered
a series of reasons for the delay: he was constantly occupied in parlia-
ment, he had received news from Lieven of instructions to suspend the
ukase, news of events in Spain must undoubtedly have been reaching Bagot
via Paris, for six weeks their own direct communication with the British
ambassador in Madrid had been broken, and finally information that the

United States desired to negotiate on the ukese jointly with Britain

lRﬂL,p.7.

%4.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 119-120, George Cenning to Bagob, February 25,
1823,

Great Britain, Debates of the House of Commons, Series 2, Vol. IX,
(May 21, 1823), col. 387-388,

4y B.T. (U.S.), p. 121, George Lyall to George Camning, June 11,
1623,
“Bagot Pepers, Vol. XXII, Bagot to George Cenning, June 2 (1k),

1823,
6Georg:e Canning and his Friends, ed. Joscelyn Bagot, (London:
John Murray, 1909), Vol. III, p. 178,
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necessitated a delay while Rush recelved instructions.

This news had reached Canning on June 12th in a letter from his
cousin Stratford, at that time British minister to'washington.2 Strat-
ford's note stated that Adams offered the suggestion of joint negotiations
to the British on approval, and added that Adams had denied any American
territorisl claims on the north-west coast as high as 51° W. Latitude.3

Much time and good will was lost over the question of Anglo-
American joint negotiations with Russla, and possibly considerable
territory as well., In this side issue, Straﬁford Canning's note played
a large role. He actually described Adams' offer as being "to act in the
proposed negotiations on a common understahding”. If this was intended
to convey that an understanding be reached with the United States before-
hand, George Canning did not read it thus. In relaying the news to Bagot
he referred to the proposal as "to join . . . in bringing forward some
proposition for the definitive settlement of this question with Russia”.h
Canning seems to ﬁave believed that Russia's territorial pretensions could
have no interest for the United States and thus would be solved by Britain
and Russia separately while Britain and America, being in total agreement
on Russia's maritime pretensions, could act together in St. Petersburg to

guietly effect an alteration of the ukase.

1
F.0. Sup., George Canning to Bagot, July 12, 1823.

S e AU owiaed

) .B.T. (U.S.), pp. 120-121, Stratford Cenning to George Canning,

Moy 3rd, 1823.
3Tvid., p. 120.

by B.7. (U.S.), p. 123, George Canning to Bagot, July 12, 1823.
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A more blatant error was committed when Stratford recorded that
Adams! claims did not extend to 51° W. Latitude. The full revelation of
American pretensions was thus delayed until December. This was so because
the foreign secretary remained unaware that Richard Rush was empowered to
discuss these pretensions with him, despite his cousin's intimations that
such was the case.

The effect of these miscomprehensions was that Britain made no
effort to reach agbeement with the United States on their respective
limits on the north-west coast, before confronting the Russians. At the
end of December, 1823, Canning warned his cousin against dealing with
Russia without a prior understanding with the United States, and also
stated the impracticability of a tripartite a.greement.2 Stratford also
observed that the wealth of the Columbia was a much more important goal
than a few degrees of coastline far to the north. When J. H. Pelly com-
plained to Bathurst of the Russian ukase and Floyd's bill on settling
the Columbia, he gave considerably more emphasis to the danger of the
latter.3 However, the foreign office's sudden appraisal of the extensive
American claims and the non—colonization principle in President Monroe's
message of December 2nd, prevented hope of amicable settlement. The way
was left open for the United States to weaken Britain's position by an

early agreement embodying Russian territorial claims.

lF.O. Su%., Stratford Canning to George Canning, June 6, 1823;

see also A.B.T. (U.S.), p. 144, George Canning to Bagot, January 15, 1823.
Here Canning stated his ignorance of Rush's powers on the north~west coast,
and concluded that Rush must not have been instructed to invite such nego-
tiation in London if Britain would have preferred it to be conducted in St.
Petersburg.

*Tompkins, loc. cit., p. 1h.

o .
“H.B.A., Reel 50, A8/1, J. H. Pelly to Bathurst,larch 22, 1822.
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It is probable that Anglo-American concord on territorial delimi-
tation would have been difficult to obtain and there exdsts, in any case,
some evidence that the American government was primarily concerned about
Russia's claims of maritime jurisdiction.l At the end of June, 1823, the
cabinet ordered Adams to suggest to Russia a tripartite joint occupation
based on Article III of the convention of 181802 Upon finishing his in-
structione to Middleton a few days later, Adams observed that, "I find
proof enough to put down the Rpssiah argument, but how shall we answer
the Russian cannon?“3

However, aefew weeks later the secretary of state revealed hie
territorial aspirations in an interview with Tuyll in which he emphasized
that the continent was not to be the subject of European colonization.
The following week Adams sent off full instructions to both Rush and
Middleton. To both, the secretary of state inveigled against European
colonies on the continent. Middleton he empowered to pfopose Joint
trading rights for ten years in exchange for a separate tefritorial de-
limitation at 55° M. Latitude.s Rush was instructed to try and reach an
understanding with Britain on their respective claims and to propose a

continuation of their joint access agreement. With a view to a permanent

line of demarcation Rush was to put forward the plan that the United States

lB. P. Thomas, Russiasn-Americen Relations, 1815-1867, (Baltimore:
John Hopkins Press, 1930), p. A3.

2Adams, Memoirs, Vol. VI, (June 28, 1823), p. 158,
3Tvid., (July 1, 1823), p. 159.
hrpid,, (July 17, 1823), p. 163.

e ———— +

5A.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 47-51, Adems to Middleton, July 22, 1623.
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would agree to limit its settlements to south of 51° N. Latitude, if Britain
would limit herself to north of that line and to the south of a Russian
boundary of 559 N, Latitude.l Whether maritime or territorial considerations
had precedence in Adams' judgment is ultimately of little significance.
Paramount was the fact that unlike the harassed British foreign secretary,
Adams considered the issues on the north-west coast of great importance.
He began his instructions to Rush by declaring that:

This interest is connected, in a manner becoming

from day to dey more important, with our terri-

torial rights; with the whole system of our in-

tercourse with the Indian tribes; with the boun-

dary relations between us and the British American

dominions; with the fur trade; the fisheries in the

Pacific Ocean; the commerce with the Sandwich Is-

lands and China; with our boundary upon Mexico;

and, lastly, with our political standing and

intercourse with the Russian empire.

George Canning was increasingly worried at the prospect of foreign
intervention in the Spanish colonies., Possibly he deliberately refrained
from bringing up the north-west coastline issue, as he realized that the
1818 convention had five years till its expiration and did not wish to
antagonize a potentisl ally against Eu:f’ope.ir On August 22nd, he proposed

to Rush that the two countries make a joint declaration and a common stand

against foreign intervention in the Spanish colonies.5 Four days later

T4.B.T. (U.5.), pp. 52-56, Adems to Rush, July 22, 1823. Rush was

allowed if necessary to accept 49° N. Letitude as a boundary limit.

2Adams, Memoirs, Vol. VI, (July 31st, 1823), p. 166. Here he re-
marked that the most important labour of the month has been the preparation
of instructions for lMiddleton to Rush.

3A.B.T. (U.8.), pp. 46-52, Adams to Rush, July 22, 1823.
ha.B.T. (U.S.), p. 146, George Cenning to Bagot, January 15, 1824,

SRichard Rush, Memoranda of a Residence at the Court of London,
(Philadelphia: Lea and Blanchard, 1845), p. 412,
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Rush received a note pressing more urgently for & common stand on the
Spanish colonies, in the light of intelligence that France planned o
convene a congress to consider intervention in the colonies as soon as
the monarchy was restored in Spain.l Throughout September, Canning
continued to discuss the matter with Rush almost until the very day in
early October on which he delivered the "Polignac memorandun, At no
time was the north-west coast raised, though on October 8th, Canning
apologized for the delay in the Anglo-American discussions on a number
of matters outstanding between the countries.2 He suggested that they
could begin between Rush and Stratford Canning and Huskisson at the end
of November, but did not then apparently realize that the Americens in-

tended to discuss the north-west coast boundaries. On December 12,

Canning announced that these talks could not be undertaken till after the

Christmas holidays.3 When on January 2lst, 1824, oreliminary talks were

held to plan the order of discussions, Canning had already discovered thelr

differences of opinion and withdrawn his proposal of joint negotiations.
Rush did not present the American claims on this mabtter until April lst

and 2nd, two weeks before the Russian American convention was signed,

while the British argument was not given until June 29th long after Bagot's

negotiations had ground to a halt; Rush observed that for the first time

L

he realized the "surprising extent! of the British claim.

Lrpid., p. 418.
2Tbid., pp. Lb46~T.
3Ipid., p. k67.

éi§i§~: pp. 593 and 599.
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In the autumn of 1823 the Russian capital was preoccupied with
affeirs in the Balkans. In October, when Anglo-Turkish talks on Greece
broke down completely, Tsar Alexander set out for a secret meeting with
Eaperor Francis of Austria to confer on the Greek crisis. There he pro-
posed a general European conference on the Greek question in St. Peters-
burg for the following year.l

At the end of August, Bagot hearing of the imminent departure of
the Emperor and his entourage, questioned Nesselrode_to find out if this
would delay negotiations on the ukase, and at the same time informed him
of the intention of Americs.and Britain to act Jointly when Middleton's
instructions arrived. Nesselrode welcomed this intelligence, as it
appeared to offer the most dignified manner of achleving a modification
of the original claims, Bagot was in turn pleased to report that Nessel-
rode much preferred a definite territorial settlement to Joint occupancy,
and agreed that this was a matter for Britain and Russia to settle
separately since it did not concern the United Sta,tes,2 In a private
note to Camning in the same post, Bagot reported gleefully that Nessel~

rode "hates Middleton and Jonathon comme de raison, and he has fairly

acknowledged to me that he is delighted to have us to protect him against
them and to keep them in ordert,> Indeed in Middleton's dispatch to Adams

of mid~November he betrayed more than a trace of antagonism towards Fole-

L

tica.” As it turned out, however, Bagot was closer to the truth of the

1 :
A. Lobanov-Rostovsky, Russia and Burope 1769-1625, (Durham,
N.C.: Duke University Press, 1947), p. 423.

. %)\.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 126-7, Bagot to George Canning, August 19 (31),
1623,
3Tompkins, loc. cit., p. &,

“4,B.T. (U.5.), p. 58, Middleton to Adams, November 1 (13), 1823.
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metter when he observed that Middleton did "not seem at all desirous of

pressing hardly upon the subject", and would be largely satisfied with any
. . - . e s I«

public disavowal of the pretensions in the ukase.

After three months Middleton finally received Adams' instructions
of July 22 on October 16 (28). They were so much more extreme than Bagot
had expected that he in turn refused to negotiste without new instructions
Lo P y 2 k. i I ] U 1 - 3
from Cenning.  lMiddleton asserted none of the three powers had an absolute
claim to the coast south of 61° N. Latitude but that as heirs to the
Spenish title, the American claim was the best. He therefore assumed the
right to share in the territorial division and proposed that this be
followed by a joint agreement on free access for trading and fishing
purposes. Yet Middleton appears to have got along well with Bagot and
comnented cheerfully in mid-December "Neither he nor I foresee any diffi-
culty in reconciling and adjusting the interests of our respective countries

i13

upon this question. Bagot was not sure whether to side with America or
Russia or neither, and stated that he would be unable to decide until he
discovered whether Britain's principal object was "to secure the fur trade
on the continent for the Hudson's Bay Company or té secure to ourselves a
share in the sea otter trade with Chinas-—or to secure both!" He feared that

given free access to British territory American traders would speedily out

the British out of the sea otter trade.Z+

14.8.7. (U.S8.), p. 126, Begot to George Canning, August 19 (31),

1823,
“A.B.T. (U.8.), p. 130, Bagot to George Camning, October 17 (29),
1823, '
34.8.P.F.R., Vol. V, p. 449, Middleton to Adams, December 1 (13),
1823,

4Bacot Papers, Vol. XXITI, Bagot to George Canning, October 11 (29),

1823.
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Poletica, though not empowered to conclude agreements with Bagot
or Middleton, continued actively to collect information from them of their
governments' position.l He prepared himself for these talks in several
conversations with Count de Lambert, a government appointed representative
for the interests of the Russian American Company. From these interviews
he emerged satisfied that the company would be entirely protected with a
boundary at 5&9 N. Latitude and an eastern boundary of longitude leaving
the Mackenzie River outside Russian territory. He recorded that Lambert
was eager for a fixed degree of longitude to be mettled upon as a legal
barrier to incursions of the Hudson's Bay Company. The company of course
firmmly rejected any concessions to foreign trade or navigation within
Russia's boundaries.2

By coincidence at approximately the same time, Bagol seems to
have turned to the idea of a meridian of longitude as the most efficient
boundary to limit Russia's esstward pretensions. He felt 139° Longitude
would be a practical choice as it would meke the latitude of the boundary
59 1/2° N., and preserve the entire archipelago for Britain.3 At the end
of October Bagot proposed to Poletica a line through Cross Sound in approxi-
mately 57 1/2o ¥, Latitude [sic], up the Lynn canal, and northward along
135th meridian.h He discovered at that time Russia's extreme reluctance

to accept any latitude north of 55°, but he was none the less convinced

1r.0, Sup., Bagot to George Canning, October 5, 1823, Bagot com-
plained of Poletica's lack of powers. He said that it ensbled him to ex-
tract informetion without having to make definite statements on Russia's
position.

2 X . .
A.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 137-8, Poletica to Nesselrode, November 3 (15),

3

1823. .
F.0. Sup., Bagot to George Canning, October 5, 1823.

_ AA.B.T. (U.5.), p. 131, Bagot to George Canning, October 17 (29),
1823, Bagot apparently did not realize that 135° W. Longitude would de~
prive Britain of part of the Mackenzie delta.
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that it was the 'new' American pretensions that were liable to create
difficulties in the negotiations with Russia.l

Canning recelved this warning on November 17 but did not inter-
rogate Rush on the American pretensions until December 12th, when he
apparently began to consider new instructions for Bagot. On December
17th, Rush appeared at Canning's country estate, Gloucester Lodge, to
inform the foreign secretary of his country's position. The fact that
Canning was in bed with a severe attack of gout must have done nothing
to lessen the bite of Rush's words. A map was spread on the bed covers
and the American minister made his case and left a brief memorandum,
with Canning only remarking that the claim was beyond anything England

had anticipated.2 The next day Canning sent a familiar note to Rush

asking what the United States intended by limiting Britsin south of 55°
N. Latitude; did they intend to stipulate in favour of Russia against’
Britein? Rush could only reply "it was even so".3 A few days later,
news of Monroe's presidential meésage burst on Westminster.

The origin of the statement in this message declaring against
Buropean colonies on the American continents has been much debated by

scholars. Dexter Perkins stated it originated in fear of Russia's ex-

pansion in the north-west and Europesn intervention to the south and
Adams' concern to protest American commercial not territorial interests,

because colonial systems meant commercial e:;cclusion.LF His critic, Edward

Impid., p. 130. 2Rush, op. cit., p. 468.

3Ipid., p. 469.

Lpexter Perkins, The Monroe Doctrine 1823-26, (Cambridge:
Harvard University Press, 1932), o. 17.
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Tatum, asserted that like Adams' famous Independence Day address of July Lth,
1621, the President's message was largely a justifiable attack on Britain.l
Frederick Merk judged that the non-colonization principle had emerged as
much in response to Britain as to the Russian ukage. He observed that by
the fall of 1823 the suspension of the ukase was knowm and that Adams'
dictun was an unrealistic attempt at territorial containment of British
North America.z On the other hand, Richard Rush, who had no instructions
on the messgge, told Canning that he was convinced it could not be directed
against Britein and implied it was a counter balance to Russia's maritime
pretensions of the ukaze of 1821;3 Canning obviously felt as Bagot did,
that whether or not it was a reaction to Russian claim, it was as extreme
and objectionable as the ukaze itself.h‘

On January 2, 1824, Rush met Canning once more at Gloucester Lodge.
When confronted with Rush's staunch support of the non-colonization prin-—
ciple and American claims to 51°, he stated that he mist either send him
a Tormal note on the President's message or decline joint negotiations on
the Russian ukase. They both tentatively agreed the latter would be the
better course - Cenning presumsbly because he desired to avoid a dispute,
Rush largely to avoid challenge to the principle.5 On January 5th, it

was definitely agreed to proceed separately at St. Petersoburg.

lE. H. Tatum, The United States and Europe 1815-23, (Berkeley:
University of California Press, 1936), pp. 204 and 249.

27, Merk, Gallatin, p. 28.

34.3.T7. (U.S.), p. 147, George Canning to Bagot, January 15, 1823.

_ hGeorgg Canning and his Friends, ed. Joscelyn Bagot, pp. 209-210,
Bagot to George Canning, January 9, 1824 ; see also F.0. Sup., George
Canning to Sir Charles Stuart, Januery 9, 1824.

5Rush, op. cit., pp. A471-3.
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Thus after infinite delay and vacillation due to other foreign
pressures, politics and slow communications the ukase was about to be
confronted, Britain was preparing to negotiate without having first

come to terms with its major rival, and was to pay the conseguences.




CHAPTER SIX

DIPLOMATIC NEGOTIATIONS ON THE RUSSIAN UKAZE,
JANUARY, 1824 TO THE CONCLUSION OF AN ANGLO-RUSSIAN
CONVENTION
" As the new year brought increased hope for the consummnation of
talks on the issue, the two great companies involved exerted increasing
pressure on their governments.

At the end of 1823 director Prokofiev wrote to the council of the
Russian American Company, claiming that the government's prohibition of
foreign trade was injurious to the business of the company.l Later in
the winter the directors petitioned the Tsar to amend the ukase to per-
mit the entrance of foreign vessels to Sitka.2 On January 8 (20), 1824,
Count N. S. Mordvinov wrote privately to Nesselrode stabing that the delay
in reaching a settlement worked great economic hardship on the Russian
American Company and also provoked the ire of the natives.

In Fnglend at the end of November, J. H. Pelly had written to
John Barrow of the Admiralty taking note of the proposed voyage of ex-
ploration along America's arctic coastline, and proposing that it be
directed down the Mackenzie River to protect the Hudson's Bay Company

from Russian encroachmc—znt.LL In the same month the Shipowners' Society

lTikmenev, op. cit., p. 374,

Afanning, op. cit., p. 109. | 3Ok.un, op. cit., p. 86,

by 5,4., Reel 50, 48/1, J. H. Pelly to John Barrow, November 29,
1823,

13
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, - . . o . 1
wrote to the foreign secretary hoping for an early settlement of the issue,
In mid=Januery John Barrow warned Canning to object strenuously to any

Russian claim that would make Behring Straits a 'mere clausum'. This would

be particularly important if Parry's voyage was successful in finding a
north-west passage, for then the Hudson's Bay Company's furs could be
shipped to Canton via the Mackenzie River.2 On January 8th, Pelly addressed
a note to Canning describing the company's establishments on the Mackenzie,
and stating that company traders were extending their posts farther north
in New Caledonia that season. Pelly rejected Russia's claim to any part
of the continental coastline, but suggested a southern boundary at the
north end of Chatham Straits in 580 N, Latitude, with an interior boundary
located between the coastline and 100 miles inland. The territory between
the Rocky lountains and that boundary was to remain open to the traders of
both nations.3 Should the foreign office find it desirable to estsblish
a definite inland limit, he suggested a line due north of Chatham Straits,
though he observed that the meridian north of Mount St. Elias would be
more successful in preventing collisions between the traders of the two
countries!

The above was forwarded to Bagot along with his instructions-for

negotiation separately from the United States, and a copy of Faden's map

1a.3.T. (U.S8.), p. 142, Shipowners' Society to George Canning,
November 19, 1823. .

2F.O. Sup., John Barrow to George Canning, January 14, 1824.

38.B.T. (U.S.), p. 149-50, J. H, Pelly to George Canning,
January &, 1824. Pelly's exact boundary proposals are poorly expressed
but from Cenning's letter to Bagot of January 15th, one learns that he
was prepared to accept abboundsry from 56° N, Latitude up Chatham Stralts.

ky.B.T. (U.5.), pp. 149-50, J. H. Pelly to George Canning,
January 8, 1824, ”
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on which were merked the Hudson's Bay Company posts and the boundaries
favoured by the company.l Canning commanded that the maritime claims

be disavowed, and proposed on the territorial guestion a boundary gi&ing
Russia Baranov Island and extending from 56° N, Latitude up Chatham
Straits and the Lynn Canal to longitude 1350.2 He recognized the fact

that the United States was willing to grant Russia's claim to 55° N.

Latitude, but felt that her demends for Jjoint occupancy would prevent

J.3

such an agreement. In a private note to Bagot, Canning said that while
he hoped Bagot would be grateful for not having to work with the Americans,
none the less their countries remained on the "amicablest of terms". On

the subject of Henry Middleton he warned, in a whimsical menner,

Be kind and courteous to that gentleman.
Hop in his walks and gambol in his eyes
Feed him with apricots and dewberries.

Stratford Canning, fresh from several years in Washington, wrote the day

after in a less playful mood,

I see that you are about to plunge into
your north~west negotiations, and congra-
tulate you most heartily on having at
least to swim in that element without an
attendant Yankee offering a cork-jacket
and watching his opportunity to put your
head under wster.

4.8, (Brit.), p. 65, Hudson's Bay House to George Canning,

January 16, 1820, Pelly considered this the most accurate map of the region.

4,B.T. (U.S.), pp. 147-8, George Canming to Bagob, Janusry 15,

————————

1824; see also F.O. Sup., George Canning to Bagot, January 13, 1824.
34.8,1. (U.S.), p. 46, George Canning to Bagot, January 15, 1824.

4George Canning and his Friends, ed. Joscelyn Bagot, p. 215,
George Canning to Bagot, January 22, 1824.

5Ibid., p. 221, Stratford Canning to Bagot, Jenuary 23, 1824.
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Middleton's rapid settlement with the Bussians did succeed in putting
. . , 1
Bagot's head under water despite Bagot's own expectations to the contrary.
When on January 28 (February 9), Kiddleton received the surprising
news that Anglo-American unanimity was lost, he concluded that Russia

would be considerably more adament in their pretensions in the north

cos 2 co . . . .
Pacific.,  He had waited for Bagot to receive new instructions since
November and so was determined to proceed forthwith. His first act was,
however, to inform both Bagot and Nesselrode that he would vociferously

protest any attempt to reach a territorial settlement without American

participation, since the United States and Britain had concurrent rights

and claims.3 He reported that Nesselrode had at first seemed to regard
the territorial question as the concern of Britain and Russia alone, but
that a few days later on February 6 (18), he had willingly agreed to

separate discussions.h On Saturday evening February 9 (21) negotiations
began at Nesselrode's house., Middleton submitted a project offering, in ? ; 
effect, a territorial boundary at 55° N. Latitude in return for free trade ’

on the coast outside occupied areas.5

Bagot had had his first conference with Nesselrode on the preceding

6 - . . -
londay, February 4 (16).  He was certain that American attempts to divide

lBagot Papers, Vol. XXIIT, Bagot to George Canning, February 17,
1824, Bagot reflected that the original invitation to negotiate jointly
had been a "pase plot". He continued "but the trick has failed . . . I
shall conclude certainly speedily, and.I think satisfactorily, our separate
arrangements and Adams may bellow as much as he pleases,!

2\.B.T. (U.S.), p. 68, Middleton to Adams, February 25 (Merch 8), 1824.

34.B.T. (U.S.), pp. 70-1, liddleton to Adams, April 7 (19), 182i.

hipid., p. 71. 5Ibid., pp. 82-3.

6There exists considerable doubt as to whether this date February 16,
was in the Julian or Gregorian calendar. From available sources the author,
unlike the A.B.T. has concluded that it was Gregorian. This would mean that
Bagot met with the Russians before lMiddleton, not afterward.
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the coast between Russia and themselves could not succeed. Bagot relished
the thought of the failure of the United States, not because of Hiddleton
with whom he was on good terms, "but on account of the perfidious Adams!.
He concluded that "there now does appear to me to have been a business in
this-business on the part of Adams which nobody but Adams was capable of".l
He informed Nesselrode of Middleton's protest against a separate agreement,
but they decided to continue since the United States would still be free to
bring forward its own pretensions in a separate treaty. Nesselrode agreed
that it was to Russia's adventage only to discuss American claims after
settling on a boundary with Britain, therefore he desired a quick settle~
ment with Bagot.

Bagot initiated discussions by remarking that he understood Russia's
principal object was to protect her "fisheries!" and establishments on the
coast. British aims he said were to>protect the posts of the Hudson's Bay
Compeny, to guard the Mackenzie River valley, and to secure the mouths of
rivers serving as an opening for the fur trade on the Pacific. To this
end he closed the first meeting by proposing the boundary Canning had
suggested, up the Chatham Straits and the Lynn Canal, but with the northward
projection moved west to 140° W, Longitude from 1350.2 0ddly enough no
mention was made of a retraction of Russia's maritime claims.

A week later the Russians countered with a proposed boundary at

54° LO° N. Latitude and along the Portland Canal to "the chain of moun-—

tains parallel to the sinuosities of the coast [sic]" to 139° Longitude.3

lBagot Papers, Vol. XXITI, Bagot to George Canning, February 17, 182L.

2 . N .
A.B.T. (U.5.), p. 154. Bagot to George Canning, March 17 (29), 182%4.

3This chain of mountains was ourely imeginary. Ceptain Vancouver while
crulsing the coast mistook the mountainous coastline before him for a chain of
mountains rumming parallel to the shore. In reality the entire Lisiére is a
large mass of mountains and icefields projecting often fifty miles or more in-
lend. The later dispute over this boundary originated in Vancouver's concept
of a definite coastline and a single mountain chain.
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They offered in return free navigation of the rivers entering the sea and
free access to Sitka.T Bagot found this boundary entirely unsatisfactory
on two counts: first, because in ceding the coast from 54°40' to 56° his
maps showed that he would probably deprive the Hudson's Bay Company of
free access to the Bebine country via Simpson's River; and second, because
Russia had no settlements on the coast south of 56° W. Latitude. He ex—
ceeded his instructions to propose instead a line around the north end of
the Prince of Wales Island to the mainland and north along the coast ten
marine leagues from the shore as far as 140° Longitude.2 However, the
Russians refused to modify their position from a boundary up the Portland
Canal and along the chain of mountains to 139° Longitude.3

Their resistance may have been stiffened somewhat by a letter from
Count Mordvinov offering strong opposition to the idea of "a little strip
of no consequence, thirty or forty versts in width". He argued that the
Russian American Company needed an expanse of forests, plains and mountains
on which to support itself, and then reminded Nesselrode of the thoughtless
cession of the Amur valley to Cl’xina.hr Mordvinov likewlse argued against
conceding to foreigners the right to trade with the.natives, though he
appealed to have the port of Sitka opened forthwith.

Determined to make one further attemplt to reach agreement Bagot

offered Russia Prince of Wales Island and a border of 54°L0O' offshore and

4.B.T. (U.s.), p. 158, February 12 (24), 1824. The concession of

access to Sitka may have been influenced by the Russian American Company's
pressure to have the port opened.

?A.B.T. (U.5.), p. 159. 3mpid., p. 161.

by .B.T. (U.S.), pp. 152-3, Nordvinov to Nesselrode, February 20
(Merch 3), 1824,
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56930' on the coastline with the lisiere to be formed as belore.l On

Harch 17 (29) the Tsar's plenipotentiaries gave him the Tsar's decision.
They claimed that Prince of Wales Island was useless without a portion
of the coast behind it, and hoped that the cabinet in London would instruct
Begot to accept Russia's proposals.l Bagot was forced to refer the whole
matter back to London for new instructions. He suggested to Hesselrode
that the British government might leave the territorial question unsettled
for the time being, and that attention be devoted instead to the more
urgent matter of the maritime pretensions. Bagot was taken by surprise
when Nesselrode failed to see the necessity of agreement on the maritime
questions. He was forced to explain again that this was Britain's primary
concern, and she understood that Russia had already undertaken to withdraw
her pretensions.3 It would appear to an observer that Bagot had rather
siighted this 'urgent' question by omitting to raise it in the body of
his discussions.”

In a private note to Canning, Bagot gave vent to his frustration

at failing to bring home this treaty by accusing the Russian government

108,17, (U.5.), p. 163.
?4.B.T. (U.5.), p. 165.

34,8.7. (U.S.), pp. 156=7, Bagot to George Canning, March 17 (29),
1824,

by B.T. (U.S.),pp. 75 and 77, Middleton to Adams, April 7 (19),
1824, 1Indeed if one is to believe a remark by Henry Middleton, Bagot's
attitudé to maritime rights on the north-west coast was quite at odds
with the reassurances of the foreign office to the Board of Trade and
Shipovmers! Society. IMiddleton reported that at his fourth meeting
with the Russian delegates, he was assured that England was willing
to give up the right of trading to Russia's coasts and was later assured
by Bagot that this was so. Middleton concluded that England's aims were
to obtain abandomment of the maritime pretensions, and to win a favourable
territorial settlement, but not free trading rights. He suspected they
would rather be able to close their own shores than win access to others.
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of a "huckstering and pedlarlike character" and by ridiculing their claims.
He was confident that Nesselrode by himself would have been more tractable,
for Poletica was consistently uncompromising in the matter. Both men he
felt, were under the domination of the Russian American Company and Admiral
Mbrdvinov.l

It is apparent that Bagot did not reslize the cause of the Russians'
unyielding position. He firmly believed that they had failed in their
attempt to play off Middleton and himself against each othef, and he
stubbornly refused to admit that Middleton was engaged in fixing a boundary
with Russia.2 Nesselrode explained the Russian stand in a note composed on
the same day. He regarded the Anglo-American joint occupation agreement of
1818 to be clear evidence that Britain was unsure of her own rights. Beyond
this was the paramount fact that the United States had agreed to 54° LO' N,
Latitude, and hence Russia would accept no other line from Britain.o

Middleton was considerably more interested than Bagot in the mari-
time question. At his second meeting with the Russian plenipotentiaries,
he was forced to state plainly that his offer of 55° N. Letitude was fully
dependent on the disavowal of the maritime clause of the ukese and the
adoption of free commercial 1’*3’.ghtrs.l’L At the next meeting three days later,

Middleton conceeded to the'Russians the whole of the Prince of Wales Island

lBagot Papers, Vol. XXIII, Bagot to George Canning, March 29, 1824,

2Tpid,
3a.8.7. (U.8.), p. 174, Nesselrode to Lieven, April 5 (17), 1824.

MIbid., p. 73, Middleton to Adems, April 7 (19), 1824.
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and a boundery st 54°40'.T

With this exception the entire negotiations
from Februsry 20 (March 3) onwards, were concerned with rights of trade.

The discussions of February 23 (March 8), revealed Russia's dis-

like of any plan of Joint occupancy such as Middleton had been instructed

2 . s . .
to propose. The American minister decided to suggest free trading access

for a period of ten years, and at the fourth conference on March & (20),
Nesselrode indicated this might be accepted if a prohibition of the trade
(o) iy -

in weapons and spirits could be agreed to. There followed a delay of two

weeks due,to the illness of Tsar Alexander, and Middleton supposed, to

give time for consultations with the Russian American Company.3 On Harch
27 (April 8), the Tsar issued a ukase restoring the right of foreign

L

vessels to trade with the Russian American Company at Sitka.” The re~-
mainder of the meetings from March 24 (April 5) to the formal signature
of the Russian American convention on April 5 (17), were occupied by de- ;
tailed discussion on the scope of the clause prohibiting the trade of
liguour and firearms.

Middleton's treaty was not an unqualified victory, for though he ;

prevented the free access clause from being definitely limited to ten

yvears, the lack of unanimity forecast that in ten years* time Aunerican

rights on the coast would be cancelled. None the less Middleton used his
position vis é vis Britain most skilfully, being clearly aware of the need

to reach settlement first.5 He thereby enabled the United States to come

Imid., p. 73, © 24.B.T. (U.5.), p. The
Smid., v. 77. hokun, op. cit., p. 87.
54.8.7. (U.S.), p. 78, Middleton to Adams, April 7 (19), 1824.
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home a clear winner in the three horse race, and for it received the com~
. - . w . .o 1
mendation of President Monroe and his cabinet.
In Tondon Bagot's unhappy news had been received at the foreign

office on April 13, and forwarded immediately to Hudson's Bay House. On

April 19, Pelly wrote to Cenning that the Russian proposal for a boundary
along 54° LOY N, Latitude, the Portland Canal and the range of mountains
parallel to the coast (contradictory to Bagot's opinion) secured the
necessary objects of the company. He recommended that the lisiére not

extend more than a stipulated number of leagues from the coast. In

conclusion he affirmed the committee's desire to promote a good under-
standing between British and Russian subjects in those regions.2 The
next day Canning wrote to Bagot that he‘had obtained the fur company's
consent "to close with the Russian proposal, but would not give final
instructions to sign until he had heard from Lieven.3 From the Russian
minister he expected to find out whether it would be more expedient to
send the negotiations back to St. Petersburg or to conclude them in Lon-
don.h |
With the dispatch of this note a curtain of parliamentary activity

descended over the foreign secretary, temporarily excluding consideration

of the north-west coast. This largely concerned the recognition of the

Spanish colonies as well as Irish affairs and the Catholic emancipation

Ladams, Memoirs, Vol. VI, (July 31, 1824), p. 4O3.

2A.B.T. (Brit.), pp. 78-9, J. H. Pelly to George Canning, April 19,

1824, The company was not unaware of the profitable business that lay in
supplying the Russian settlements.

3George Canning and his Friends, ed. Joscelyn Bagot, p. 233.
George Canning to Bagot, April 20, 1824.

44.8.T. (Brit.), p. 79, George Cemning to Bagot, April 2k, 182L.
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question. At the end of lay, Canning sent a note to Bagot apologizing that
he had not been able to get "two days together! to prepare his instructions.
He promised to send them the following week, but then hesitated and admitted
he might have to use the Whitsun holidays;l In fact it was not until July
12th that the instructions and a draft convention were dispatched to St.
Petersburg.

The attention of both the foreign office and the Hudson's Bay
Company was held by the continuing Angld—Amerioan talks., On Maj 26th
shortly before Middleton stated the American case on the Columbia question,
Pelly wrote to Canning to suggest that the lisiere granted Russia should
be limited to ten leagues from the coast. The body of his letter, however,
expressed anxiety over the effect of these negotiations on the Columbia
problem, He implied that (like Stratford Canning) he had originally
counselled the foreign secretary to placate the United States by agreeing
to a 55° N. Latitude boundary with Russia, in the hope of a more favourable
agreement on the Columbia. However, the situation had been altered by the
Russian American convention whose territorial settlement perpetuated the
wnwarranted American claims on the coast. Pelly now advised that Britain
cling to her rights on the coast until a favourable agreement be obtained
with the United States as well as Russia.2

A week later the Governor and Committee of the company sent a

private dispatch to George Simpson informing him that negotiations were

1George Canning end his Friends, ed. Joscelyn Bagot, p. 239,
George Canning to Bagot, May 29, 1824,

2A.B.T. (Brit.), pp. 80-1, J. H. Pelly to George Canning, May 26,
1824,
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underway between Russia and the United States and Britain and Russia.
They stated that it was "extremely desirable" thet the most full and
.correct information on the country west of the Rockies be transmitted
for the information of the foreign secretary. They also inguired as
‘to whether there were any navigable rivers which fell into the sea north
of the Columbia,l possibly foreseeing stubborn opposition to a Columbia
boundary.

Camning found that the American position on a boundary with
Britain was intransigent. Rush again proposed that Britain limit her-
self to the coast between 51° and 55° N. Latitude.2 The foreign
secretary commented to the British commissioners that though both sides
realized that there was no immediate necessity for teking up this problem,
Britain had been ready to receive the United States' suggestions cordially,
but had been met with territorial claims as extravegant as maritime pre-
tensions of Russia's ukase.3

To prevent the Russian govermment becoming too restless at the de-

lay in the final settlement of this nagging issue, Canning wrote a placa-

C)

Lo .

tory note to Lieven at the end of Hay. In it he announced that Britain

would shortly instruct Bagot to agree to Russia's final offer, with the

1y.3 H.B.4., Reel 40, A6/20, Gov. & Comm. to George Simpson, June 2,

1824,

Rusn, op. cit., pp. 592~7, Rush to Adams, August 12, 1824, Rush
mentioned that 90551bly through some accident, he had not heafd from
liiddleton during the course of negotiations in St. Petersburg and only
learned of the treaty recently through the kindness of Lieven,

3Some OfllClal Correspondence of George Canning, ed. B, Stapleton,
(London: Longmens, 1887), Vol. II, p. 77, George Canning to Stratford
Canning and Huskisson, May 31, 1824.

by, A.B.T. (U.S.), p. 179, Lieven to Nesselrode, lay 21 (June 2),
1824, Lieven stated he would have been Minconsolable! about the long
delay 1f he could not now report Britain's desire to come to terms.
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a2 - 13 0 . . N 9 i .
provision that the extent of the lisiere be accurately defined, a more
westerly degree of longitude north of Mount St, Tlias be obtained, along
with precise terms of access to coastal rivers and trading orivileges
_ . . . 1 .. e 4 ara o son .
equal to those given other nations. Lieven transmitted this information
to St, Petersburg and commented that Canning had M"exerted himself very

faithfully to satisfy us completely, but that Yhe had to struggle

OO

~

2
against a violent opposition on the part of the companies interested!.
Canning was apparently Jjust as successful in maintaining an image of

diplomgtic impartiality as was Nesselrode, who had appeared to Bagot

3

a5 similarly well-intentioned but beleagured by special interests.,

gur
The delay in the preparation of the actual instruction continued,
due possibly to the preparstion of Britain's counter argument against the
United States! claims in the north-west boﬁndary discussions. At the end
of June, Cenning notified Bagot that he had put the drawing of the conven-
tion into "good hanc’ts".br This was a reference to Lord St. Helens whose
hand Canning judged, "has not lost its cunning altogether though thirty-

5

five years have passed since it settled the dispute at Nootka!.

14.B.T. (Brit.), p. 61, George Canning to Lieven, May 29, 182J.

24.B.T. (U.S.), p. 180, Lieven to Hesselrode, May 21 (June 2),

See above, page 119,

hGeorge Canning and his Friends, ed. Joscelyn Bagot, Vol. II,
p. 246, George Canning to Bagot, Jume 29, 1824,

&

5Tbid., Vol. II, p. 265, George Canning to Bagot, July 29, 1824.
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Finally on July 12th, the instructions and convention were finished.
Canning stated that only two points remained to be settled by Bagot: the
N . .\ By . e . k]
specific limitation of the lisiere and the extent of time for which the
reciprocal right of free trade would operate,
Canning now regarded success in the matter as almost a foregone
conclusion. He commented to Bagot that,
It has been submitted to both the furry and the
finny tribes~-the Enderby's, the Pelly's and
the Barrow's . . . It is of immense importance
to have this convention signed and to bring the
ratifications home with you. We shall have a
squabble with the Yankees yet in and about those
regions. Bubt Russia will be out of it, which_is
as well for herself as for us-~indeed better,
His expectations of agreement were heightened by the fact that
the Russian ambassador himself was consulted in the preparstion of the
. [} . - - - * Fxd . "‘
instructions. Lieven's observations on the width of the lisiere and the
British demand to assure safe access to the Arctic Ocean through the
Behring Straits, did not dispel the aura of success.3 The Hudson's Bzy
Company wrote to J. D. Cameron on the Columbia and informed him that they
soon expected to have the coast exclusively as far as the Portland Canal,

and the right to ship goods from any place between there and Mount St.

Elias.h It was with high expectations therefore, that the negotialtions

10.5.T. (U.5.), pp. 181-2, George Canning to Bagot, July 12, 1624.

2George Canning to his Friends, ed. Joscelyn Begot, p. 265, George
Canning to Bagot, July 29, 1824.

34,B.T. (Brit.), p. 91, George Canning to Bagot, July 2k, 1824.

M1.8.A., Reel 4O, A6/21, Gov. & Comm. to J. D. Cameron, July 22,
1824,
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returned to St. Petersburg.

During the interval in Russia strong opposition to the Russian-
American treaty had been expressed by representatives of the Russian com-
pany. A week after the convention was signed, Nesselrode wrote an expla-—
natory letter to Mordvinov to try and forestall their criticism. He
pointed out that the Russian claims from the Polar Sea to 5L° LO' had
been given formal recognition, and Fort Ross not compromised. The
Americans had bound themselves to ask permission before landing at
Russian settlements and had agreed to prohibit the trading of arms
and liquour to natives. Though it had been necessary to allow the
Americans free rights of trade on the coast it was only for ten years.
Nesselrode observed that it was better to grant formal permission than
to be forced to accede to a practice that Russia could not prevent.

On the current negotiations with Britain the foreign minister
took a somewhat sterner position. He reminded Mordvinov, that dedicated
though the government was to the company's welfare, "it must not be for-
gotten that there may exist other most important necessities and interests
of state which may impose very grave duties on the government".l Nessel~
rode stressed that the boundary agreed upon would be drawn to'prevent
collisions, and would entail some sacrifice on both sides, He stated
plainly that Russia had no justifiable claims to extend her territory

to the midst of the Rockies.

L4.B.1. (U.S.), pp. 166-9, Nesselrode to Hordvinov, April 11 (23),

182L4; see also Okun, op. cit., p. 93. Okun implies that these other
interests were Russia's concern over Greece and her desire to maintain
good relations with England on that account. See also, A. G. Mazour,
"The Russian-Americen and Anglo-Russian Conventions 1824-25; An Inter-
pretation", The Pacific Historical Review, Vol. XIV, (1945), p. 303.
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Despite Nesselrode's arguments, the period from April 5 (17) to
May 10 (22), between the signature snd ratification to the convention with
America, was full of appeals from the company. Ryleyev wrote to Finance
Minister Kankrin to warn of intensified foreign competition and the probable
aliensation of the na.tives.l D. I. Zavalishin prepared a memorandum which
foresaw the convention leading to the end of Russian rule on the north-
west coast.2 A month later the board of directors of the company presented
a statement to Finance Minister Kankrin on the probable consequences of the
ratification of the convention with the United States, which Kankrin in turn
forwarded to the foreign miniéter.3 During the suwmmer the Tsar responded
to the company's appeals by establishing a special commission to consider

L

their complaints of the Russian-American convention.  The conclusions
of this body were favourable to the company. Its report stated that the
United States could claim no trading rights to eastern Siberia, the
Aleutians or Kuriles, and furthermore that thelr privileges eitended only
to the disputed territory on the north-west coast between 51° LO! and 57°
N. Latitude.5 It was apparently on the suggestion of this body that Baron
Tuyll made an approach to Adams before the American ratification of the
treaty. The secretary of state advised the embarrassed minister that no
public declaration be made of the proposed modificstions, bub he seems to

have cuietly ensured their implémentation.

Lokun, op. cit., p. 90. “Did., p. 9.

SK;B,T;*éU.S.), pp. 92-3, Kankrin to the Directors of the Russian
Mmerican Company, September 4 (16), 1824.

hosvmeney, ov. cit., p. 271 5Tbid., p. 27L.

6Adams, liemoirs, Vol. VI, (December 16, 182L), pp. 435-7; see

LW

also S. R. Tompkins, "Drawing the Alaskas Boundary", p. <l.
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The Russian government was of course most concerned with the Greek
cuestion end the European conference which met in St. Petersburz in June
to congider it. The assembly made no progress and recessed until the
- . . 1 e o P -
following winter. The Russian foreign minister looked forward confidently
to having settled their difference with Bngland on the north-west coast be-
fore that time., It was therefore a considerable shock to both sides when
after two meetings the talks again collapsed.

wWith the advantage of hindsight it is not difficult to see why
each sides' hopeful expectations were misplaced. In Canning's draft
convention Britain acceded to the major Russian demands on a territorial
boundary, but stipulated three sizable concessions in rights of trade:
perpetual access of British commerce to Sitka, perpetual right of navi-

s s 1. ] A
ation to trade along the coast of the lisiere to 60° N. Latitude and

g

~

finally recliprocel rights to visit for a number of years all the other
parts of their respective holdings on the coast of the continent.2 On

the first two points the Russlans absolutely refused to consider per-
petual rights. They proposed instead a limit of ten years though admitting,
particularly in the case of access to Sitka, that they would support a re-
newal. Russia argued successfully that the United States had just as much
right as Britain to obtain privileges equal to other foreign nabions. As
Russia had only granted ten year terms to America she could not grant more

3

to Britain.

lLobanov-Rostovsky, op. ¢it., p. 423,
24 .B.T. (U.S.), p. 190, Bagot to George Canning, August 12, 1824,

3I‘oid., p. 201, Nesselrode to Lieven, August 31 (September 12),
1824,
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Russia rejected firmly the third point by which Britain strove to
gain certain access to the Behring Straits, stating that the negotiations
were not concerned with territory north of 60° 1. Latitude.l 1] these
objections were embodied in a Russian counter oroject which Bagbt found
clearly in conflict with his instructions. In a private note to his
foreign secretary he expressed the opinion that "You have as much chance
of getting Moscow ceded to Great Britain as of inducing this country to

. . 2 .
yield upon the three points.! Indeed, Bagot wondered whether Russian
opposition to Britain's demand for perpetual rights of trade to 60° N.
Latitude, was not justified. Nevertheless, Bagot attributed the intran—
sigence shown by Nesselrode snd Foletica to the clamour of protest raised
by the Russian American Company against the convention with the United
States.3 Bagot concluded his letter by declering how much he regretted
his failure to obtain a settlement of the issue both on public and personal
grounds, as he would have ended his stay in St. Petersburg "handsomely" by
concluding a treaty of such magnitude and importance.

Canning's immediate reaction to Bagot's information was to request
that Lieven write hastily for powers to conclﬁde the treaty in Londom.br
He stated that he was anxiocus to reach a settlement before parliament met

for he feared to confront them without an agreement, so often had false

 1pid., p. 191.

2Ba,got Papers, Vol. XXIII, Bagot to George Canning, August 24, 1824,
31pid.

AA.B.T. (U.S.), po. R06~7, George Canning to Lieven, September 12,
82L. The following day Canning wrote with similar instructions to lir,

Ward the new British minister 16 St. Petersburg.
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promises of hope been held out to them. Once more Canning begen to re-
draft the proposed treaty with the venerable Lord St. Helens. On October
19, the foreign office sent some papers received from Lieven on the north-
west coast issue, to John Henry Pelly for the company's observations.
The following day a reply was received stating that the company felt that
the difference between the Russian and the British project was not sufii-
clent to warrant rejection. Pelly did make it clear, however, that the
company would have much preferred a boundary between the islands of the
archipelago and the mainland, and that even now, they would gladly forego
the ten year trading rights to the coast to attain it. If such a boundary
was not possible, the company desired that British privileges be equal to
those granted the United States and that the lisiére be limited to ten
leagues in depth.2

Canning's plans to settle the north-west coast problem quickly in
London, were alﬁered by increasing controversy on the Greek revolution.
As mentioned above, Russia planned to reconvene a conference of the major
nations on'the matter. Britain had agreed to send Stratford Canning for
the discussions. Then the Greeks themselves learned of the project, and
in fear appealed to Britsin for protection. The cabinet thereupon decided
that Britain could not rightfully éttend the conference.3 This created a

a situation Canning described as "full of peril and plague", for England

lSome Official Correspondence of George Canning, ed, E. Stapleton,
pe 177, George Canning to Liverpool, October 17, 1824.

“H.B.A., Reel 50, A8/1, J. H. Pelly to George Cenning, October 20,
16824, '

33. Lane FPoole, The Life of the Right Honourable Stratford Canning,
(London: Longmans Green, 1888), Vol. I, pp. 341~-2.

5




M e B R T S T o S PR o

132

had placed herself in the centre of a maelstrom, France and Russia sup-
ported the Tsar's conference completely, Austria appeared to, but expected
it to fall. Lieven had the strongest instructions to solicit England's
cooperation, while the powers of Europe were prepared to blame England
for any failure of the conference.l The Tsar accused George Canning of
. . sy R .

longstanding sympathy for the revolutionary spirit. It was to remove
these misconceptions and to clarify her position, that the cabinet decided
not to cancel Stratford Canning's plenned visit to St. Petersburg that
winter, While there, though boycotting the conference, he could discuss
the matter privately, and also settle the dispute arising ffom.the ukase
of 1821.3

By December 8th, Stratford Cenning's instructions were prepared
for him.iL His cousin stressed that the quéstion of a territorial settle-
ment on the north-west coast had only been proposed to facilitate the
withdrawal of the offensive pretensions of the ukase with less appearance
of concession by Russia. Therefore though the territorial limits could be
postponed indefinitely, the maritime pretensions must continue no longer.
The foreign secretary appears finally to have realized the importance of

the Russian-American convention. He felt it best to use its first two

articles to define their required rights of navigetion, for as he remarked,

lSome OCfficial Correspondence of George Canning, ed, K. Stapleton,
p. 177, George Cenning to Liverpool, October 17, 1824,

2Lane—Poole, ope cit., Vol. I, p. 342. The Tsar conceived a more
favourable opinion of Canning in 1825 from the reports of Countess Lieven;
see also Lobanov Rostovsky, op. cit., p. 425.

3Lane—Poole, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 342.

haB.T. (U.S.), pp. 208-212, George Canning to Stratford Canning,
December 8, 1824,
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"Russia cannot mean to giﬁe to the United States of America what she with-
holds from us; nor to witnhhold from us anything thet she has consented o
give to the United States." 1In fact by this date George Canning seems to
have been quite content with the hope of obtaining what the Americans had
gained. His only limiting stricture to Stratford was that he reject
Russian arguments that the boundary of the lisiere be described solely

by a distance of ten leagues from the coast., He stipulated that where

the mountains ran closer than ten leagues to the shore they should form
, 1
the boundary.

On January 7th, 1825, Stratford left Viemna for St. Petersburg,
apprehensive that he would receive an unpleasant reception in Russia on
both.the Greek and north-west issues unless he was suddenly authorized
to Join the conference.2 He proceeded via Warsaw and Riga because a
specially warm season had made the more direct routes hazardous. Only

when two hundred versts from his destination was he able to exchange his

)

gh. In a letter to his mother, possibly reflecting

carriage for a sleig

upon Napoleon's fate in Russia, Stratford stated "to the wayfarer's eye

3

the whole scene was sepulchral,. blenk,motionless and silent'".” He

arrived in St. Petersburg at the end of January, and soon afterwards had
his first interview with Nesselrode.

The foreign minister stated that he was prepared only to discuss

the north~west coast not Greece, to which Stratford was forced to accede.

14.B.7. (U.8.), vp. 210-211.

ZLane—Poole, op. cit., Vol. I, p. 352, Stratford Cenning to George

&

Canning, December 30, 1824; see also ibid., p. 35.L.

Ibid., pe. 355, Stratford Canning to his mother, February &, 1825,
L‘”T_?

F.0. Sup., Stratford Canning to George Canning, January 28
(February 9), 1825.
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However, a scant two weeks after the British envoy presented his project
at the initial meeting on January 31 (February 12), he was able to sign
the final agreement on February 16 (28). In this space of time Stratford
was able to convince the Russians reluctantly to :abandon an unrestricted
~

boundary of the lisiere along the mountain crests in favour of one along
the mountain tops not exceeding ten lesgues from the coast. He managed
to extend the northward boundary from Mount St. Elias two degrees to the
west to 141° Longitude, and to extract from the Russians a denial of any
exclusive claims to the navigation of the Behring Straits.l Stratford
was pleased with his work and commented benignly that the Russians had
been disposed to deal with "fairness and liberality”.2 Indeed he seems
to have formed an affection for the Russian people generally, and in turn
to have been well received in both St. Petersburg and Moscow.3

The Russian negotiators were also pleased to reach agreement,

though they were considerably aggraveted by Stratford's refusal to con-

, . . . . . . .
cede a boundary simply following the mountain chain.” Their satisfaction
arose partly from the fact that in the main their original demands had
been accepted but also because it was in the midst of the conference on

the Greeks' war of independence.5 This was a matter of vital interest

1y.5.1. (U.S.),pps 223-k4, Stratford Canning to George Canning,
February 17 (March 1), 1825.

2A.B.T. (Brit.), p. 130, Stratford Canning to George Canning,
February 17 (March 1), 1825,

3Lene-Poole, op. cit., Vol. I, pp. 373-380; see also E. F, Malcolm-
Swith, The Life of Stratford Canning, (London: Ernest Benn, 1933), p. 93.

bA.B.T. (U.S.), D. 227, Nesselrose to Lieven, Larch 13, 1825.
Nesselrode went so far as to prepare a formal note to draw attention to
Stratford's unconciliatory stand on the issue.

5Okun, op. cit., pp. 85 and 93. Okun indicates that_ the pressures
of this conference added to England's position of influence in the Mediter-
renean, made Russia extremely vulnerable to British claims on the north-west
coast. It must be remembered, however, that Russia in fact made few con-

cessions to Great Britain.
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. . . s 1 .
to Russia demanding the most rigorous negotiations,” particularly because
Russian spirits were becoming increasingly inflamed against the Turks.
Tsar Alexander gave evidence of desiring an immediate end to the

north-west coast controversy. On February 17th the directors of the

Russian American Company sent a memorandum to Finance Minister Kankrin

dealing with a project to build fortresses along the Mednaya River far
inland to the Rockyi‘-i’ountains.3 S. B. Okun noted that these were intended
L

to delimit the territorial concessions made to Britain in the negotiations.

The directors demanded that as both the Hudson's Bay Company and themselves

were attempting to expand to the Rockies, the government should protect the
company by stipulating a boundary along the Rocky Mountains. On February .
15 (27), Kankrin forwarded this to Nesselrode with the comment that he
found this representation "worthy of consideration'. On February 20

(March L), four days after the signing of the convention, Kankrin made a
notation on the memorandum that his judgment had been too hasty. A strong
message had been received from the Tsar himself ordering the construction

of the fortresses to be ceased immediately, and stating that the company's

lLobanov—Rostovsky, op. cit., pp. 424-5. On March 13, 1825 a com—
promise protocol was drawn up which failed to include the necessary articles
to compel Turkey to negotiate a settlement in Greece.

2Ibid., p. 420,

4 3Okun, op. c¢it., pp. 114-5. Okun gives the date of this letter as
February 17th but fails to indicate the calendar. It is his habit to use
the Julian calendar end only supply its Gregorian equivalent when the event
involves 'Buropean' countries. However, if February 17 is in the Julian
calendar, it means that the company wrote their demands the day following
the conclusion of the treaty. Then the finance minister agreed with their
demands neerly two weeks after the treaty had been signed. As this is
highly improbable, the author has assumed the correct date of the letter
to be February 5 (17).

bTpid., p. 11k.
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boundary demands were not conformable either to their rights or to the
circumstances of the region. Kankrin was ordered to reprimand them for
the Impropriety of the proposal itself and its form of expression, "so
that they should henceforth submit unguestiloningly to the orders and
views of the government without overstepping the bounds of the merchant
class“.1

This Jjudgment, whiéh would not have been out of place on the lips
of Stalin in the last years of the N.E.P., clearly marked the difference
between the Russian compaﬁy's relationship to its government, and the
Hudson's Bay Company's to its government. The Russian Americsan Company
had received much economic and political assistance from the govermment
according to its current usefulness and the influence of its directors,
but the government was fundamentally an autocracy so when circumstances
so demended, it did not hesitate to assume dictatorial control over its
'private! Enterprise.4

The company, particularly as it was constitubted on the verge of
the Decemberist revolution, did not willingly accept such dictation. The
Decemberist, D. I. Zavalishin stated the company's case in a bitter attack

on the Anglo-Russian convention. The concession of two degrees of longi-

‘tude, and free navigation of the inland waters, appeared to Zavalishin to

leave Britain the real masters of the land. To make the best of the
situation he suggested that the company should immediately expand the

number of its settlements and to undercut the prices of English merchandise

Impid., p. 115.
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by aggressive trading south of 5L LO' . Latitude.l These were the mili-
tant visions of a revolutionary; impossible to implement with the inadequate
resources remaining to the company after twenty wasted years.

The Hudson's Bay Company, whose governors had played such a large
part in the formulation of the British position, displayed remarkaoly
little interest in the outcome of the negotiations. In early June, they
forwarded its contents to George Simpson without comm.ent.3 Simpson merely
observed that its terms "appear favourable", and expressed the hope that
His Majesty's ministers would be equally watchful of the British interests
against the unwarranted claims of the United States.i

The company was fortunate that its territorial claims were under
the supervision of George Canning. He was fully aware of the potential
of the trade of the Pacific lMorth West, once the East Indié Company's
monopoly at Canton expired.ﬁ He went so far as to expréss shame at being
a member of the cabinet that had approved the restoration of Fort Astoria
in 18185. Above oll, as was proved by Britain's negotistions with America

on the Columbis River, he was determined not to yield British advantage on

the Pacific coast.

lIbid., Pe. 92,
Aianning , QE. cit., p. 114,

34,3, H.B.A., Reel 40, 46/21, Gov. & Comm, to George Simpson, June 3,
1825, ‘

Z‘LSom.e Official Correspondence of George Canning, ed. E, Stapleton,
Vol. II, p. 62, George Canning to Liverpool, June 24, 1826,

5Ipid., Vol. II, pp. 72-L, George Canning to Liverpool, July 7, 1826.
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Despite Canning's intentions, however, ﬁhe Anglo-Russian convention
cannot be considered to have been a triumph of British diplomacy.l The
treaty did eliminate the threat of Russian expansion to the interior of
the continent, and the possibility of the Behring Straits being closed.

It did ensure the Hudson's Bay Company access to the coast, open the
archipelago to coastal trade for ten years and safeguard the Mackenzie
valley from Russian expansion.2 But the fact remains that the Russian
position in the Pacific was extremely weak while British military and
commercial power was ascendant. With this fundamental advantage the
foreign office should have been able to obtain a boundary that limited
Russia to the islands of the Alexander Archipelago. There were two prime
reasons for its failure to achieve this. The foreign office failed to
realize that the Russians could obtain a favourable territorial settle-
ment from the Americans who eagerly granted it at the expense of Great
Britain in exchange for maritime rights thet Russia could hardly deny.
Hore important possibly was the fact that the Hudson's Bay Company did not
penetrate the area sufficiently to give Great Britain an insurmountable
cleim to the coastline of the lisiére. This wgs partly due to the ex~
haustive reorganization that preoccupied the company following the union
of 1821. Nor should one overlook the seiies of frustrations that thwarted
Chief Trader Willimn Brownfs explorations to the Pacific coast in 1823,

1824 and 1825,

lArchibald McDonald, Peace Hiver, A Cance Voyage from Hudson's Bay
to Pacific by the Late Sir George Simpson in 1828, ed. Malcolm kcLeod,
(Ottawa: J. Durie & Sons, 1872), p. 112. DMcLeod offered the most original
judgment on the convention discovered by the suthor. "It was a single ine-
telligent mind, Lord Loughborough, that in 1824-5 when the Russian claim . '
was advanced, saved us any Pacific coast at all, so the story runs." Lough-
borough was an old Tory general who at that time served as Lord Lieutenant
of Fifeshirel

AMalcolm-Smith, op. cit., p. 9l.




APPENDIX A

THE HUDSQON'S BAY COMPANY AS A SOURCE OF
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATICN ON THE KORTH-WEST COAST

If the company had little success in expanding their operations to
meet the Russian claims between 1822 and 1825, there was one ares in which
the wintering partners were of the greatest use to the British negotiations.
In January, 1822, Nicholas Garry sent a map of North America to John Barrow
at the Admiralty, and enclosed the journsl of Deniel Harmon with its des-
cription of the country west of the Rockies.l When the Governor and
Committee wrote to inform the officers of the Columbia of the Russian
claims, they mentioned that the matter was being considered by His
Majesty's ministers, and ordered them to ascertain the number and size
of all Russian vessels seen on the coast and whether they had any fixed
establishments thereon.2 Obviously this information was intended even-
tually for the foreign office,

In the same month Pelly wrote to Canning and in setting forth the
company claims, described the. locations of the company establishments
west of the Rockies, With a private note he sent a map of North America
and a memorandum citing the authorities from which his observations were

3

taken., In January, 1824, Pelly sent a copy of Faden's map to Canning

1H.B.A., Reel 28, 45/16, Nicholas Garry to John Barrow, January 18,

1822,
5 .
H.B.A., Reel 40, A6/20, Gov. & Comn., Babine Post Journals,

January 5, 1822,

BH.B.A., Reel 40, A8/1, J. H. Pelly to George Canning, September 25,
1822,
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remarking that it was probably the most accurate availlable.

In the meanwhile information began to sift out of New Caledonia.
William Brown having just returned from a journey to the Atnah Indians,
noted in his journal on Jenuery 5, 1823, that though the Indians wished
to make it appear there was a European establishment at the forks of the
Skeena, he ascertained thet there were no Buropean settlements either
there or at the mouth; there being only a trading vessel plying the
coast.2 As this journal was forwarded to Simpson in the spring, its
information could well have been in London by the autumn.

However, Brown's opinions were not shared by his superior, the
venerable John Stuart. In a letter to Brown in December, 1822, he took
it as proven that a chain of mountains extended along the whole of the
north-west coast close to the sea. He also stated that it was a well
established fact that there were permanent Hussian establishments on the
coast, as well as meny American adventurers.3 As mentioned above, Gover—

. . . ' L
nor Simpson appears to have shared this belief as late as August, 18625,

In Brown's report on the Babine district, written not later than
the spring of 1823, he reiterated his belief that there were no European
posts on the Simpson's river, inland or at the sea. But he did state

that there was a trading establishment, probsbly Russian, further to the

lSee Chapter VI; and also end pocket.

ZH.B.A., Reel TM15, B/11/a/l, William Brown, Babine Post Journals,

J anuary

o

-
k
N
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5
31.3.A., Reel TH223, B/188/b/1l, J. S. Stuart to William Brown,
Decenber 2, 1822,

Lsee sbove, page 38.
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north at the mouth of a large river descending from an extensive lake.
It is impossible to say, with the confused state of geographical know-
ledge in that quarter in those years, whether these tales related to the

Nass or to the Stikine River. The estuaries of both seem to have been

centres of trade for coastal vessels, though at nelther were there per-
manent posts.

London's demands for more geographical knowledge continued. In
November, 1823, William Smith, secretery to the committee, added a note

to a dispatch to the Columbia, asking how far the map attached to Har-

mon's journals could be considered correct. He asked for all additionsl”
information they possessed, saying that it was desired to fill in on the

map the posiltions of the rivers and establishments on the west side of

.2

the mountains as quickly as possible.” Yet a year later Governor Simpson

o

complained to Hclillan that they still had obtained no knowledge of the
country or its inhabitants north of Puget's Sound from their own observa-
tions, despite the fact that the establishment was fourteen yesrs old and

3

three-fourths of the returns came from the quarter. Four months later
he announced in a letter to the Governor and Committee, that as he still

had not seen a map of the country even approximately accurate, he was

enclosing a sketch of the territory west of the Rockies, and apologized

for not having been able to get it to them sconer.

1. N s e Vs
H.B.A., Reel TM776, B/11/e/i, William Brown, Babine Report on

———————

District, 1823,

ZH.B.A., Reel 40, A6/20, William Smith to Officers of the Columbia
Department, Novewmber 1k, 1823.

3H.B.A., Reel 3i3, D4/5, Governor Simpson to kciillan, November 17,

L

H.B8.A., Reel 195, A12/1, Governor Simpson to Gov. & Comu.,
March 10, 1825.
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This ignorance is all the more surprising in the light of the

articles which appeared in the Horth American Review and the Quarterly

Review in 1822, mentioned above. Both accurately describe the confluence
of both the Nass and Skeena rivers while the American periodicel gives a
o gs e . . . 1 :

Judicious estimste of navigation on the Skeena. The Yankee traders

sailing out of Boston (where the North American Review was published)

were obviously the most informed sources on the nature of the coast
north of Vencouver Island. Nevertheless, the company, with its hold on
the lower Columbia, the Babine country and the Mackenzie basin, was the
major source of the foreign office's information on that corner of the

globe,

1The North Americen Review, 1822, p. 396,
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| TREATIES AND Couvaxvnons RELATIVE TO THE NORTH-WEST

"1 serve in future a perfect harmony and goed understanding, between the !
“] two contracting parties, it is agreed that their respective subjects shall not

1{ eries, in the Pacific Ocean or in the South Seas, or in landing on the

i measures o prevent the navigation and the fishery of his subjects in the |-
4 Pacific Ocean or in the South Seas from being made a pretext for illicit |
] trade with the Spanish settlements; and, with this vxew, it is moreover | -
.} expressly stipulated that British subjects shall not navigate, or carry on |,
i their fishery, in the said seas, within the space of ten sea lcagues from ;-

i any part of the coasts already occupied by Spain,

. APPENDIX B’

©

TerriTories oF NoRTH AMERICA. <

(1)

| Convention between Great Britain and Spain, (commonly called tkc

Noorka . TreATY,) signed at the Escurial, October 28th, 1790.

ArTicte 1. The buildings and tracts of land situated on the north-: F

J west coast of the continent of North America, or on the islands adjacent :

"} to that continent, of which the subjects of his Britannic majesty were dis- !
1 possessed about the month of April, 1789, by a Spanish officer, shall be A
~| restored to the said British subjects. :

Arr. 2. A just reparation shall be made, accordmg to the nature of L

'j the case, for all acts of violence or hostility which may have been com- i :
1 mitted subsOquont to the month of April, 1789, by the subjects of either | i
o of the contracting partics against the subjects of the other; and, in case ':-

4 auy of the said respective unb_)u't‘x shall, since the same period, have been‘ :
i foreibly dispossessed of their lands, bm]dmgﬁ vessels, merchandise, and !

1 other property, whatever, on the saxd continent, or on the seas and xslands,»

: adjacent, they shall be recstablished in the possession thereof, or a just com-

i pensation shall be made to them for the Josses which they hive sustained.

Art. 3. In order to strengthen the bonds of friendship, and to pre-}:

be disturbed or molested, either in navigating, or carrymg on their fish-'

coasts of those seas in places not already occup\ed for the purpose of [
carrying on their commerce with the natives of the country, or of making |.
settlements there; the whole subject, nevertheless, to the restrictions !
specified in the three following articles.

Axr. 4. His Rritannic majesty engages to take the most effectual |

ArT. 5. As well in the places which are to be restored to the British |

subjects, by virtue of the first article, s in all other parts of the north-i

T
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‘western coasts of North America, or of the islands adjacent, situate to the

¢ north of the parts of the said coast alveady occupied by Spain, wherever ;

the subjects of either of the two powers shall have made settlements since ;-

tke month of April, 1789, or shall hereafter make any, the subjects of the
othor shall have free access, and shall carry on their trade without any |

-disturbance or molestation.

Arr. 6. With respect to the eastern and western coasts of South .

+ America, and to the islands adjacent, no settlément shall be formed here-
1 efter by the respective subjects in such part of those coasts as are situated
| to the south of those parts of the same coasts, and of the islands adjacent,
| which are already occupied by Spain: provided, that the said respective '
| subjects shall retain the liberty of landing on the coasts and islands so |
. situated for the purpose of their fishery, and of erecting thereon huts and |

other temporary buildings serving only for those purposes.
“"Arr. 7. In all cases of complaint or infraction of the articles of the

(2)

signed a¢ London, October 20tk, 1818.

Anriciz 2. Tt is agreed that a line drawn from the most north-western

Arr. 3, It is agreed that any country that may be claimed by either

. i party or the north-west coast of America, westward of the Stony Moun-

i teims, shall, together with its harbors, bays, and creeks, and the naviga- |
Ition of all rivers within the same, be free and open for the term of |
i tpr-yenrs from the date of the signature of the present convention, to the !
- vessels, citizens, and sabjects, of the two powers; it being well understood
| that thiyagreement is not to be construed to the prejudice of any claim i
| whioh either of the two high contracting parties may have to any part of |
- | theseid comatry, nor sball it be taken to affect the claims. of any other |
wer Or -state to any pert of the said country; the only object of the ¢
igh contracting parties, in that respect, being to prevent disputes and |

| diforonces among themselves.

| préssat convention, the officers of either party, without permitting them-  *

“i eedves to commit any violence or act of force, shall be bound to make |
| &’ exavt réport of the affair and of its circumstances to their respective '
4 e, who will terminate such diffetences in an amicable manner.

| Cemvention bétween the United States of America and Great Britain, |

-1 point of the Lake of the Woods, along the 49¢th perallel of north latitude, |
{ or, if the said point shall not be in the 49th parallel of north latitude, then .
-1 that a line drawn from the said point dueé north or south, zs the case may |
| be, until the said line shall intersect the said parallel of north latitude, |
‘| end from the point of such intersection due west along and with the said |
arallel, shall be the line of demarkation between the territories of the !
4 United States and those of his Britannic majesty ; and that the said line |
1 ghall form the northern boundary of the said territories of the United |
. Btates, end the southern boundary of the territories of his Britannic

-1 mujesty, from the Lake of the Woods to the Stony Mountains.




.4 of latitude, to the South Sea; the whole being as laid down in Melish’s |
4 map of the United States, published at Philadelphia, improved to the Ist |-

1 throughout the course thus described, to belong to the United States; but foE e
-3 the usc of the waters and the navigation of the Sabine to the sea, and of |
"4 the said Rivers Roxo and Arkansas, throughout the extent of the said ; '

4 boundary, on their respective banks, shall be.common to the respective |

-] tories lying west and south of the above-described line; and, in like man |
1 ner, his Catholic majesty cedes to the said United States all his rights,
" claims, and pretensions, to any territories east and north of the said line 1

Convention between the United States and Russia, signed at St. Peters-

~j purpose of trading with the natives; saving always the restrictions and i

% to the 32d degree of latitude; thence, by aline due north, to the degree :
| of latitude where it strikes the Rio Roxo of Natchitoches, or Red River; !
+4 then, following the course of the Rio Roxo westward, to the degree of

1 territories forever.

i called the Pacific Ocean, or South Sea, the respective citizens or subjects |
. .| of .the high contracting powers shall be neither disturbed nor restrained, |
{ either in navigation or in fishing, or in the power of resorting to the

145

H
.

Treaty of Amity) Settlement, and Limits, between the United States and
Spain, (commonly called the FLoripa TrEATY,) signed at Washing-
torn, February 22d, 1819.

" ArTicLe 3. The boundary line between the two countries west of the !

Mississippi shall begin on the Gulf of Mexico, at the mouth of the River | *

Sabine, in the sea, continuing north, along the western bank of that river

longitude 100 west from London and 23 from Washington; then crossing .

I the said Red River, and running thence, by a line duc noith, to the
i River Arkansas; thence following the course of the southern bank of the

Arkansas, to its source in latitude 42 north; and thence, by that parallel

i
;
i
)
!

of January, 1818, But, if the source of the Arkansas River shall be found v

to fall north or south of latitude 42, then the line shall Tun from the said e
7 source due south or north, as the case. may be, till it meets the said par- |
| allel of latitude 42, and thence, along the said parallel, to the South Sea;:

all the islands in the Sabine, and the said Red and Arkansas Rivers, i -

inhabitants of both nations.
The two high contracting parties agree to cede and renounce all their
rights, claims, and pretensions, to the territories described by the said
line; that is to say, the United States hereby cede to his Catholic majesty, -
and renounce forever, all their rights, claims, and pretensions, to the terri- | -

{ and for himself, his heirs, and successors, renounces all claim to the said :

(4)

burg, on the 5 of April, 1824,

ArticLr 1. It is agreed that, in any part of the great ocean, commonly !

coasts, upon points which may not already have been occupied, for the:

conditions determined by the following articles.




- iformed by Russian subjects, or under the authority of Russia, south of

" any measures of constraint whatever, towards the merchants or the crews
~ically reserving to themselves to determine upon the penalties to be ©.

: i this article by their respective citizens or subjects,

Convention between Great Britain and Russia, stgned at St. Peters-

Art. 2. With the view of preventing the rights of navigation and of |
| fishing, exercised upon the great ocean by the citizens and subjects of
.1 the hugh contracting powers, from becoming the pretext for an illicit|
* trade, 1t is agreed that the citizens of the United States shall not resort to |
; any point where there is a Russian establishment, without the permission |
: of the governor or commander; and that, reciprocally, the subjects of |
' Russia shall not resort, without permission, to any establishment of the ;

-4 United States upon the north-west coast.

.{ Art. 3. It is, moreover, agreed that hereafier there shall not be; -
{ formed by the citizens of the United States, or under the authority of the
{ said States, any establishment upon the north-west coast of America, nor
{in any of the islands adjacent, o the north of 54 degrees and 40 minutes

+of north latitude ; and that, in the same manner, there shall be none

ithe same parallel.

“.q4  Arr. 4. It is, nevertheless, understood that, during a term of ten |
- I years, counting from the signature of the present convention, the ships of !

. iboth powers, or which belong to their citizens or subjects, respectively, | ..
! may reciprocally frequent, without any hinderance whatever, the interior |
jseas, gulfs, harbors, and creeks, upon the coast mentioned in the pre- |
jeeding article, for the purpose of fishing and trading with the natives |

of the conatry. : v i

Art. §. All spirituous liquors, fire-arms, other arms, powder, and |-
i munitions of war of every kind, are always excepted from this same com-
‘merce permitted: by the preceding article; and the two powers engage, i,
‘ireciprocally, neither to sell, nor suffer them to be sold, to the natives, by |
" their respective citizens and subjects, nor by any person who may be |
junder their authority, It is likewise stipulated, that this restriction shall |~
inever afford a pretext, nor be advanced, in any case, to authorize either i-
 search or detention of the vessels, seizure of the merchandise, or, in fine, |-

/who may carry on this commerce; the high contracting powers recipro-

+incurred, and to inflict the punishments in case of the contravention of

(5

burg, February 3§, 1625,

ArticLe 1. It is agreed that the respective subjects of the high con- :°.
i tracting parties shall not be troubled or molested in any part of the ocean |-
commonly called the Pacific Ocean, either in navigating the same, in :
i fishing therein, or in landing at such parts of the coast as shall not have i
been already occupied, in order to trade with the natives, under the 3
‘| restrictions and conditions specified in the following articles.
Art. 2. Inorder to prevent the right of navigating and fishing, exer~ |
{cised upon the ocean by the subjects of the high contracting parties, from
{ becoming the pretext for an illicit commerce, it is agreed that the subjects |

.
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* of his Britannic majesty shall not land at any place where there may be a{
Russian establishment, without the permission of the governor or com- -
{'mandant; and, on the other hand, that Russian subjects shall not land, ,
without permission, at any British establishment on the north-west coast. @
4 Arr. 3. The line of demarkation between the possessions of the high ¢
| contracting parties, upon the coast of the continent, and the islands of |
America to the north-west, shall be drawn in the manner following: Com- |~
mencing from the southernmost point of the island called Prince of Wales's
i Island, which point lies in the parallel of 54 degrees 40 minutes north |
1 latitude, and between the 13lst and the 133d degree of west longitude, |
(meridian of Greenwich,) the said line shall ascend to the north along |
4 the channel called Portland Channel, as far as the point of the continent {*
-j where it strikes the 56th degree of north latitude. From this last-men- |
tioned point, the line of demarkation shall follow the summit of the moun- | L L T
. tains situated parallel to the coast, as far as the point of intersection of the | B ' T
;1 141t degree of west longitude, (of the same meridian.) And, finally, g
1 from the said point of intersection, the said meridian line of the 141st ¢
1 degree, in its prolongation as far as the Frozen Ocean, shall form the |
1 limit between the Russian and British possessions on the continent of ¢
jAmerica to the north-west. -
1 Arr. 4. With reference to the line of demarkation laid down in the |
“Ipreceding article, it is understood — : .
4 1st. That the island called Prince of Wales's Island shall belong i
"t wholly to Russia. '
4 2d. That whenever the summit of the mountains which extend in a | .
i -1 direction parallel to the coast, from the 56th degree of north latitude to -~ .
4 the point of intersection of the 141st degree of west longitude, shall prove . v -
‘1 to be at the distance of more than ten marine leagues from the ocean, the |, e
"1limit between the British possessions and the line of coast which is to |
1 belong to Russia, as above mentioned, shall be formed by a line parallel to |
-4 the windings of the coast, and which shall never exceed the distance of |
_ .4 ten marine leagues therefrom. - f
1 Arr. 5. Tt is, moreover, agreed that no establishment shall be formed |-
i by either of the two parties within the limits assigned by the two preced- | ' o
ing articles to the possessions of the other; consequently, British subjeots |
I shall not form any establishment either upon the coast, or upon the border .
‘| of the continent comprised within the limits of the Russian possessions, as {
. designated in the two preceding articles; and, in like manner, no estab- |
| lishment shall be formed by Russian subjects beyond the said limits. &
1 Arr. 6. It is understood that the subjects of his Britannic majesty,
| from whatever quarter they may arrive, whether from the ocean or from | :
the interior of the continent, shall forever enjoy the right of navigating : ’
i freely, and without any hinderance whatever, all the rivers and streams
{1 whick, in their course towards the Pacific Ocean, may cross the line of
.1 demarkation upon the line of coast described in article 3 of the presemt |
i conveation. , ;-
Arr. 7. It is also understood that, for the space of ten years from the |-
| signature of the present convention, the vessels of the two powers, or | -
i those belonging to their respective subjects, shall mutually be at liberty |
1to frequent, without any hinderance whatever, all the inland seas, the |
.1 gulfs, havens, and creeks, on the coast, mentioned in article 3, for the ¢
j purposes of fishing and of trading with the natives.

i
I
{
i
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"4 lations and tariffs of the place where he may have landed. i
Arr. 11. In every case of complaint on account of an infraction of "

"I concluded between the United States of America and his majesty the king
1 of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland, on the 20th of :

" Arr. 8. The pbrt of Sitka, or Novo Aréhan.gelskv,”shall‘ be of

1 vessel should be under the necessity of disposing of a part of his merchan-!

“ and continued in force, in the same manner as if all the provisions of the .
| said article were herein specifically recited. !

.| ward of the Stony or Rocky Mountains. S .

en to the?
commerce and vessels of British subjects for the space of ten years from'
the date of the exchange of the ratifications of the present convention. In;
the event of an extension of this term of ten years being granted to any |
other power, the like extension shall be granted also to Great Britain. :
ArT. 9. The above-mentioned liberty of commerce shall not apply to |
the trade in spirituous liquors, in fire-arms, or other arms, gunpowder, or :
other warlike stores; the high contracting parties reciprocally engaging |
not to permit the above-mentioned articles to be sold or delivered, in any "
manner whatever, to the natives of the country. v

Art. 10. Every British or Russian vessel navigating the Pacific!

Ocean, which may be compelled by storms or by accident to take shelter I
in the ports of the respective partics, shall be at liberty to refit therein, ;-
to provide itself with all necessary stores, and to put to sea again, without
paying any other than port and lighthouse dues, which shall be the same -
as those paid by national vessels. In case, however, the master of such

dise in order to defray his expenses, he shall conform himself to the regu-

the articles of the present convention, the civil and military authorities !
of the high contracting parties, without previously acting, or taking any:

1 forcible measure, shall make an exact and circumstantial report of the .
| matter to their respective courts, who engage to settle the same in a;
1 friendly manner, and according to the principles of justice. b

i

i

(6) .

Convention between the United States and Great Britain, signed at

London, August 6th, 1827,

Articre 1. “All the provisions of the third article of the convention

October, 1818, shall be, and they are hereby, further indefinitely extended :

ArT. 2. It shall be competent, however, to either of the contracting

I parties, in case either should think fit, at any time after the 20th of Octo- ;. E

ber, 1828, on giving due notice of twelve months to the other contracting

| party, to annul and abrogate this convention; and it shall, in such case, L
1 be accordingly entirely annulled and abrogated, after the expiration of the
i said term of notice. !

Arr. 3. Nothing contained in this convention, or in the third article :

1 of the convention of the 20th October, 1818, hereby continued in force, :
I shall be construed to impair, or in any manner affect, the claims which |

either of the contracting parties may have to any part of the country west-
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This note gives the main sources which have been consulted and is
intended to serve as a guide for reading on the subject.

The material found in the Bancroft library on eight reels of micro-
film under the title "Russian America', was collected from archives in St.
Petersburg and Sitka by Ivan Petrov, éne of H. H. Bancroft's many assistants.
Petrov extracted portions of relevant materisl and translated them, it is
sald, with abandon.

The microfilmed archives of the Hudson's Bay Company in Ottawa
are a vast mine of well organized source material both on the Pacific
North West, and the company's relations with the British government.

The official correspondence of the negotiations leading to the
convention of 1824 and 1825 is reproduced in extenso in the appendices
to the dmerican and British Cases of the Alaska Boundary Tribunal.

While one cannot be ungrateful for such acts of providence 1t is a great
pleasure to turn to the Bagot Papers held in the National Archives of
Canada. This is the private correspondence to and from Charles Bagot,
full of useful information interspersed with pithy barbs at the nefarious
'Squinty Adams' and other members of the contemporary diplomatic circle.
Unfortunately few letters beltween the Russian ministers and the British
embassy are preserved therein. Stapleton's collection of George Canning's

official letters adds to the body of the correspondence between George
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Canning and his minister in St. Petersburg. Captain Bagot's George Canning

and his Friends and Stanley Lane-Poole's Life of the Right Honourable Strab-

ford Canning both add a considerable number of relevant private letters to

the diplomatic correspondence.

% The American position in the negotiations is clearly revealed by

three works: John Quincy Adam's Memoirs, Richard Rush's lemorands of 2

ne o

Residence at the Court of London, and the fourth and fifth volumes of the

i American State Papers for Foreign Relations. 4 valuable critique is

offered by J. C. Hildt's study of Russia-American relations in this period.

Fortunately the record of Russian opinion is available in the
y e

American Historical Review which published the "Correspondence of the

Russian Ministers in Washington 1818-1825%", This is partly offset by the
failure of Nesselrode's published papers fo include anything at all on
the subject.

The distance over which the negotiations occurred necessitated
the exchange of written instructions and reports. However, all the
important exchanges between the fur companies and their governments
occurred within their capital cities, usually person to person. This
may explain the comparative shortage of written communications betireen

them. As mentioned above, the subsequent involvement of the Russian

American Company in the Decemberist plot probably led to the destruction
of many records.

The trade of the Hudson's Bay Company to the west of the Rocky

Hountains is illustrated in Frederick Merk's fur Trade and Empire as well

as by numerous published journals of fur traders of that regilon.
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The maritime fur trade of the north-west coast is described in
several articles listed in the bibliography. K. W. Porter's biography
of John Jacob Astor and lichael Greenburg's study of the opening of the

China trade describe the Pscific trade in the broader pattern of world

markets,

Tn conclusion it must be stated that the author's greatest dis-
ability has been his lack of knowledge of the material avallable in

Russimowing to his ignorance of that language.
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